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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report contains forward-looking stateteghat involve risks and uncertainties. Where famyard-looking statement
includes a statement about the assumptions or baskeslying the forward-looking statement, we cawithat, while we believe these
assumptions or bases to be reasonable and madedrfajth, assumed facts or bases almost alwaysfr@n the actual results, and the
differences between assumed facts or bases aral eesults can be material, depending upon theigistances. Where, in any forwdabking
statement, our management expresses an expediatietief as to future results, such expectatiohatief is expressed in good faith and is
believed to have a reasonable basis. We cannatagsu, however, that the statement of expectatidrelief will result or be achieved or
accomplished. These statements relate to analpsesther information that are based on forecaststafe results and estimates of amounts
not yet determinable. These statements also relater future prospects, developments and busstestegies. Forwartboking statements ce
be identified by their use of terms and phraseb ssc'anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimateiéxpect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “plan,”
“predict,” “project,” “will” and similar terms anghrases, including references to assumptions. Fdreaking statements involve risks and
uncertainties that may cause actual future activitind results of operations to be materially gifiefrom those suggested or described in this
annual report. These risks include the risks thaidentified in Item 3, “Risk Factors” of this amd report, and also include, among others,
risks associated with the following:

” w ” o ” ” o

. the oil and gas market and its impact on denmfandur services, including supply and demand fbaind gas, general global
economic conditions and expectations regarding éudmergy prices;

. reduced expenditures by oil and natural gas exfiorand production compani

. our ability to enter into and negotiate favorateiens for future client contracts or extensi

. competition within our industry, including oversuppf rigs competing with our rig

. our limited number of assets and small numberiehts

. our substantial level of indebtedne

. our ability to pay dividends or make distributicsand when and in the amount foreca

. our ability to incur additional indebtedness anthpbance with restrictions and covenants in ourt dgveement

. termination of our client contrac

. delays and cost overruns in construction projectsray deliveries

. operating hazards in the oilfield services indu

. unplanned downtime or repairs of our drillsh

. our levels of operating and maintenance ¢

. the volatility of the price of our common sha

. non-compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practiéet or any other antiribery laws

. noncompliance with governmental, tax, permitting, @amimental and safety regulatic

. restrictions on offshore drillin

. strikes and work stoppag

. timely access to spare parts equipment or persaaqgelred to maintain and service our fl

. corruption, militant activities, political indtdity, public health threats, ethnic unrest angioaalism in Nigeria and other
countries where we may operate;

. changes in tax laws, treaties or regulati

. our ability to attract and retain skilled workers @ommercially reasonable tert

. our dependence on key person

. adequacy of insurance coverage in the event ofestraphic ever

. our relatively limited operating histol

. our ability to obtain indemnity from clien

. effects of new products and new technology in odustry



our incorporation under the laws of Luxemboungd ¢he limited rights to relief for shareholderattimay be available compared
to other countries, including the United States an

potential conflicts of interest between our coringl shareholder and our public shareholc
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Any forward-looking statements contained in thiswaal report should not be relied upon as predistimifuture events. No assurance
can be given that the expectations expressed ificaward-looking statements will prove to be cotréctual results could differ materially
from expectations expressed in the forward-loolstajements if one or more of the underlying assiomgtor expectations proves to be
inaccurate or is not realized. You should thoroyghhd this annual report with the understandirg tlur actual future results may be
materially different from and worse than what weect. Other sections of this annual report incladditional factors that could adversely
impact our business and financial performance. oge we operate in an evolving environment. Somgoirtant factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those lie forward-looking statements are, in certain ims¢s, included with such forward-looking
statements and Item 3, “Risk Factors” in this ahnegaort. Additionally, new risk factors and uneenties emerge from time to time and it is
not possible for our management to predict all fésitors and uncertainties, nor can we assessnacit of all factors on our business or the
extent to which any factor, or combination of fastanay cause actual results to differ materialiyrf those contained in any forward-looking
statements. We qualify all of the forward-lookingtements by these cautionary statements.

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliamtiesoforward-looking statements contained in #msual report, which represent the
best judgment of our management. Such statemestitsiades and projections reflect various assumgptinade by us concerning anticipated
results, which are subject to business, econondacampetitive uncertainties and contingencies, nmafrwhich are beyond our control and
which may or may not prove to be correct. We urakerino obligation to update or revise any forwlaaking statements, whether as a rest
new information, future events or otherwise.

PART |

As used in this annual report, unless the contidravise requires, references to “Pacific Drillihthe “Company,” “we,” “us,” “our
and words of similar import refer to Pacific Dnilg S.A. and its subsidiaries. Unless otherwisecaugid, all references to “$” in this report are
to, and amounts are represented in, United StateS.() dollars.

ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISE RS
Not applicable.
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ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Not applicable.

ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION
A. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

You should read the following selected consoliddileancial data in conjunction with ltem 5, “Openat Results” and our historical
consolidated financial statements and related nbteto included elsewhere in this annual refdré financial information included in this
annual report may not be indicative of our futurmancial position, results of operations or cashvi.

Pacific Drilling S.A. was formed as a Luxembourgrmgany under the form ofsociété anonym® act as an indirect holding company
for its predecessor, Pacific Drilling Limited (olRredecessor”), a company organized under the tdwiberia, and its subsidiaries in
connection with a corporate reorganization complete March 30, 2011 (referred to in this annuabréeps the “Restructuring”). In connection
with the Restructuring, our Predecessor was cartgibto a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Companyatsubsidiary of Quantum Pacific
International Limited, a British Virgin Islands c@any and parent company of an investment holdingsg(the “Quantum Pacific Group”).
The Company did not engage in any business or atttasities prior to the Restructuring except imnection with its formation and the
Restructuring. The Restructuring was limited tatesgt that were all under the control of the Quamtacific Group and its affiliates, and, as
such, the Restructuring was accounted for as adcdion between entities under common control. Aesalt, the consolidated financial
statements of Pacific Drilling S.A. are presentsihg the historical values of the Predecessoranil statements on a combined basis.
However, the issued share capital of Pacific Dwjl5.A. is retrospectively reflected for all pesad the selected historical consolidated
financial data to reflect the 150,000,000 commaares$ held by the Quantum Pacific Group at the cetigul of the Restructuring. The
financial information relating to the Company atgisubsidiaries has been prepared in accordanhegetiterally accepted accounting princi|
in the United States (“GAAP”) and is in U.S. dodlar

In 2007, our Predecessor entered into various agrets with Transocean Ltd. (“Transocean”) andutss@iaries, which culminated in
the formation of a joint venture company, TransacRacific Drilling Inc. (“TPDI” or the “Joint Vente"), which was owned 50% by our
Predecessor and 50% by a subsidiary of Transo@aMarch 30, 2011, in connection with the Restrrioty our Predecessor assigned its
equity interest in TPDI to another subsidiary af huantum Pacific Group for no consideration, whdéctreferred to in this annual report as the
“TPDI Transfer,” to enable the Company to focugtom operation and marketing of the Company’s whoilned fleet. As a result, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries currently oang interest in TPDI and, beginning in the seconartgr of 2011, the results of operations
of TPDI are no longer included in the financialuks of the Company.

Set forth below are (i) selected historical cordatiéd financial data as of December 31, 2014 ad@ a6d for the years ended
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , which have teeved from our audited consolidated financiatements included elsewhere in this
annual report and (ii) selected historical consxibid financial data as of December 31, 2012 , 2012010 and for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010 , which have been dkfioen our audited consolidated financial staterment included in this annual report.
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Statement of operations data:
Revenues
Contract drilling
Costs and expenses
Contract drilling
General and administrative expenses
Depreciation expense

Loss of hire insurance recovery
Operating income (loss)
Other income (expense)
Costs on interest rate swap termination
Interest expense
Total interest expense
Costs on extinguishment of debt
Equity in earnings of Joint Venture
Interest income from Joint Venture
Other income (expense)
Income before income taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Net income (loss)
Earnings (loss) per common share, basic

Weighted-average number of common shares, basit

Earnings (loss) per common share, diluted

Weighted-average number of common shares, diluted!

Balance sheet data:

Working capital®

Property and equipment, net

Investment in and notes to Joint Venture
Total assets

Long-term debf®

Shareholders’ equity

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
$ 1,08579: $ 74557: $ 638,05( $ 6543, $ =
(459,61)) (337,27°) (331,49 (32,149 =
(57,667) (48,619 (45,38¢) (52,619 (29,719
(199,33) (149,465 (127,699 (11,619 (395)
(716,619 (535,356 (504,579 (96,37%) (20,110
— — 23,67 18,50( —
369,17¢ 210,21¢ 157,14: (12,449 (20,110
— (38,189 — — —
(130,13() (94,027 (104,68 (20,389 (85¢)
(130,130) (132,21) (104,68 (10,389 (85¢)
— (28,42¢) — — —
— — — 18,95¢ 56,30
— = = 49t 1,97:
(5,177 (1,559 3,24¢ 3,67¢ (62
233,87 48,02¢ 55,70z 297 37,25(
(45,620) (22,52 (21,719 (3,200 49
$ 188,25 $ 2550: $ 33,98¢ $ (2,907 $ 37,29¢
$ 087 $ 01z $ 0.1€ $ (0.0 $ 0.2t
217,22; 216,96 216,90: 195,44¢ 150,00(
$ 087 $ 01z % 0.1¢ $ (0.0 $ 0.2t
217,37¢ 217,42: 216,90: 195,44¢ 150,00(
Years Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

$ (21,427 $ 301,47: $ 522,39 $ 11546: $ 14,48:
5,431,82. 4,512,15: 3,760,422 3,436,01! 1,893,42!
— — — 186,71
6,077,30: 5,164,04! 4,893,92! 4,184,28! 2,271,94!
3,150,24: 2,430,83 2,253,70i 1,675,00! 450,00(
2,578,87. 2,399,92. 2,315,24i 2,274,07. 1,775,20

(1) Retrospectively adjusted for the year endededeer 31, 2010 to reflect the issued share cagfif@acific Drilling S.A. following the

Restructuring.

(2) Working capital is defined as current assets mawrsent liabilities

(3) Includes current maturities of lomgrm debr

B. CAPITALIZATION AND INDEBTEDNESS
Not applicable.
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C. REASONS FOR THE OFFER AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Not applicable.

D. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common shares involves a tégjnee of risk. You should consider carefully tiwing risk factors, as well as
the other information contained in this annual repbefore making an investment in our common shakay of the risk factors described
below could significantly and negatively affect éinancial position, results of operations or cé&iws, which may reduce our ability to pay
dividends or make distributions and lower the traglprice of our common shares. You may lose paallaf your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business

The demand for our services depends on the leveldtivity in the offshore oil and natural gas indtry, which is significantly affecte
by, among other things, volatile oil and natural ggrices and may be materially and adversely a#ecby a decline in the offshore oil and
gas industry.

The offshore contract drilling industry is cycliaaid volatile. The demand for our services dependbe level of activity in oil and
natural gas exploration, development and produdtiaifshore areas worldwide. The availability afadjty drilling prospects, exploration
success, relative production costs, the stagesefveir development and political and regulatoryiemments affect clients’ drilling programs.
Oil and natural gas prices and market expectatbpstential changes in these prices also sigmiflgaffect this level of activity and demand
for drilling units.

Oil and natural gas prices are extremely volatilé are affected by numerous factors beyond ouralicluding the following:

« worldwide production and demand for oil and natgag and any geographical dislocations in suppdlycEmanc

« the cost of exploring for, developing, producantd delivering oil and natural gas, and the redatiost of onshore production or
importation of natural gas;

e expectations regarding future production and prafesil and natural ga

« international and U.S. government regulations avities regarding exploration and development b&nd natural gas reserv
» advances in exploration, development and produt¢tohnology

« the ability of Organization of the Petroleum Bxjing Countries (“OPEC™o affect pricing

* local and international political and economic citinds;

e domestic and foreign tax policii

« the development and exploitation of alternativergpasources

« worldwide economic and financial problems andesponding decline in the demand for oil and gas@nsequently for our
services; and

- the worldwide social and political environmentluding uncertainty or instability resulting froam escalation or additional
outbreak of armed hostilities, insurrection or ottiéses in the Middle East, Africa, South Ameraaother geographic areas or
further acts of terrorism in the United Stateselsewhere.

Declines in oil and gas prices for an extendedogleof time, or market expectations of potentialrdases in these prices, could
negatively affect our business in the offshordidglsector. Sustained periods of low oil pricegitlly result in reduced exploration and
drilling. These changes in commodity prices carehav effect on rig demand, and periods of low dehtam cause excess rig supply and
intensify the competition in the industry whichegitresults in drilling units, particularly oldercalower technical specification drilling units,
being idle for periods of time. For example, mafyhe exploration and production companies thaeh@wounced 2015 capital expenditure
budgets plan to reduce capital spending from 28¢dl$. Additionally, multiple older, lower-speciiton deepwater and mid-water drillships
and semisubmersibles have recently completed adstpgior to engaging new ones. These developniavs exerted pricing pressure on our
market. We cannot accurately predict the futurellef demand for our services or future conditionthe oil and gas industry. Any decrease ir
exploration, development or production expenditime®il and gas companies could reduce our reveanésnaterially harm our business and
results of operations.
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In addition to oil and natural gas prices, the loéf® drilling industry is influenced by additiorfattors, including:

« the availability and the anticipated availabilifyacompeting offshore drilling vesse
» the level of costs for associated offshore oilfi@idi construction servic:

« the discovery of new oil and gas reserves and tkkitive production cos

« the relative cost of nooenventional energy sources;

« the regulatory restrictions on offshore drilli

Any of these factors could reduce demand for otrices and adversely affect our business and sestiliperations.
Our current backlog of contract drilling revenue nyanot be fully realized.

As of February 23, 2015, we had a contract bac&lothePacific Bora,the Pacific Sciroccothe Pacific Santa AnathePacific Khamsii
and thePacific Sharavof approximately $2.3 billion. We calculate our tract backlog by multiplying the average contrattisgyrate we
expect to earn by the minimum number of days cotechiinder the contracts (excluding options to eXtesmssuming full utilization, and also
include mobilization fees, upgrade reimbursementsaher revenue sources, such as the standbgluste) upgrades, as stipulated in the
contracts. The actual amounts of revenues earrgetharactual periods during which revenues areeganmay differ from the amounts and
periods shown in the tables provided in Item 4,sBass Overview—Contract Backlog” of this annualo® due to various factors, including
shipyard and maintenance projects, downtime duhiegshakedown period for new drilling units andestfactors. The contractual dayrate u
to calculate average estimated contract backlogiggis higher than other rates that may be irceffiecertain times under the contract,
including the standby rate or waiting on weathée,rthe repair rate or the force majeure rate. Valg not be able to realize the full amount of
our contract backlog due to events beyond our obritr addition, some of our clients may experiehgaidity issues, which could worsen if
commodity prices remain low or decrease furthemafoextended period of time. Liquidity issues cdeld our clients to seek to repudiate,
cancel or renegotiate these agreements for var@asons, as described under “—Our drilling congratay be terminated early in certain
circumstances” below. Our inability to realize fah amount of our contract backlog could have aarial adverse effect on our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

An oversupply of rigs competing with our rigs coutttpress the demand and contract prices for ulteg@water rigs and could
adversely affect our financial position, results operations or cash flows.

There are numerous rigs currently under contraatdastruction in the industry worldwide. We esttenthere are approximately 55
high-specification rigs delivered or scheduleddelivery between January 1, 2015 and the end of 224 of which have not yet been
announced as contracted to clients. The entrysateice of these new units will increase supply emald trigger a reduction in dayrates as
are absorbed into the active fleet. Any increasmimstruction of drilling units could negativelypaict utilization and dayrates. Lower
utilization and dayrates could require us to et lower dayrate contracts or to idle one or mafreur drillships, which could have a mate
adverse effect on our financial position, resufteferations or cash flows or result in the rectigniof impairment charges on our drillships.

We may enter into drilling contracts that expose tasgreater risks than we normally assume.

We may enter into drilling contracts that exposeaugreater risks than we normally assume, su@xpgsure to greater environmente
other liabilities and more onerous termination |sns giving the customer a right to terminatehwiit cause or upon little or no notice. Upon
termination, these contracts may not result inyarnt to us, or if a termination payment is reqgiiie may not fully compensate us for the |
of a contract. In addition, the early terminatidraaontract may result in a rig being idle forexttended period of time, which could adversely
affect our financial position, results of operatar cash flows. We can provide no assurance libahtreased risk exposure will not have a
material negative impact on our future operatiamd fnancial results.

Failure to secure drilling contracts prior to depjonent of our remaining newbuild drillships or forur currently operating drillships
after the expiration of existing contracts could e a material adverse effect on our financial pasit, results of operations or cash flows.

We have not yet secured drilling contracts forRlaeific Meltenmor thePacific Zonda ThePacific Meltemwas delivered on November
25, 2014 and is currently mobilizing to the AtlanBasin. ThéPacific Zondas being built by Samsung Heavy Industries (“SHiifd is
scheduled for delivery in the third quarter of 20ltbaddition, the three-year drilling contract fbe Pacific Mistralwith Petréleo Brasileiro
S.A. (“Petrobras”) concluded on February 5, 2015r &bility to obtain drilling contracts for thessll$hips will depend on market conditions
and our clients’ drilling programs. We may not lidesto

10
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secure contracts for these drillships on favorédalms, or at all. Our failure to secure drillinghé@cts for our uncontracted drillships or
currently operating drillships after the expiratiminexisting contracts could have a material adveffect on our financial position, results of
operations or cash flows. In addition, the failtoesecure at least a one-year drilling contractfelPacific Meltembefore May 10, 2015 may
decrease our borrowing capacity under the Seniour8d Credit Facility Agreement (as defined belbywapproximately $100.0 million.

We have a limited asset base and currently relyteo client accounts. The loss of any client or sificant downtime on any drillship
attributable to unplanned maintenance, repairs other factors could adversely affect our financiabpition, results of operations or cash
flows.

As a result of our relatively small fleet of driips, we anticipate revenues will depend on cotgradth a limited number of clients. We
currently have five operating drillships, two aaile drillships, and one additional drillship undenstruction. Four of our operating drillships,
the Pacific Bora,thePacific Santa Anathe Pacific Khamsirand thePacific Sharavare working for subsidiaries of Chevron Corporation
(“Chevron™). ThePacific Sciroccds operating with a subsidiary of Total S.A. (“TB}a

Our financial position, results of operations osltflows could be materially adversely affectedrif one of these clients was to
interrupt or curtail its activities, fail to payrfthe services that have been performed, termitsat®ntract with us, fail to extend or renew its
existing contract with us or refuse to award newtacts to us and we are unable to enter into aotgmwith new clients on comparable terms.
The loss of either one of these clients could reweaterial adverse effect on our financial posijti@sults of operations or cash flows. In
addition, our limited number of drillships makesmere susceptible to incremental loss in the esédbwntime on any one operating unit. If
any one of our drillships becomes inactive for lastantial period of time and is not otherwise aagrdontractual revenues, it could have a
material adverse impact on our financial positi@sults of operations or cash flows.

Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affeat financial position and business prospects.

As of February 23, 2015, we and our subsidiariesa oonsolidated basis, had approximately $3.Dhilbf debt, comprised of (i) $75C
million under our 5.375% Senior Secured Notes di#0Zthe “2020 Senior Secured Notes”), (ii) $73®iRion under our senior secured
institutional term loan (the “Senior Secured Teroah B”), (iii) $879.2 million under our SSCF (adided below), (iv) $500.0 million under
our 7.25% Senior Secured Notes due in 2017 (th&7Zenior Secured Notes”) and (v) $180.0 milliodemour 2014 Revolving Credit
Facility (each described in further detail in It&nt'Liquidity and Capital Resources—Descriptionlmfebtedness” and Note 4 to the
Company'’s Consolidated Financial Statements inghisual report). Our level of indebtedness, anddhas of the agreements that govern
such indebtedness, may have important consequenaas business such as:

* requiring us and our subsidiaries to use a smiisi portion of our cash flow from operationgay interest and principal on the
debt, which would reduce the funds available forkiray capital, capital expenditures and other gaihesrporate purposes;

» limiting our ability to obtain additional finaimg for working capital, capital expenditures, aisiiions and other investments, which
may limit our ability to execute our business stogt

* heightening our vulnerability to downturns insimess or the general economy and restrictingam &xploiting business
opportunities or making acquisitions;

e placing us at a competitive disadvantage comparedit competitors that may have proportionately kbsbt
< limiting our ability to return cash to our sharetheis
< limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reaatig to, changes in our business and the industhioh we operate; al

< higher interest expense if interest rates incréasthe portion of our indebtedness that has nenliedge!

Each of these factors may have a material and se\effect on our financial position, results of ig@ns or cash flows. We may also
incur additional indebtedness in the future. Ifimeur additional indebtedness, the related risks We now face would intensify. Our ability to
service our debt depends upon, among other thing<uture financial and operating performance,clitis affected by prevailing economic
conditions and financial, business, regulatory atier factors, some of which are beyond our contf@lur cash flows from operations are not
sufficient to service our current or future indelstess, we will be forced to take actions such agppming or reducing distributions, reducing
or delaying our business activities, acquisitiongestments or capital expenditures, selling assessructuring or refinancing our debt, or
seeking additional equity capital or bankruptcytpetion. We may not be able to effect any of theseedies on satisfactory terms, or at all.
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Our indebtedness imposes significant operating dmncial restrictions on certain of our subsidiagis, which may prevent us from
capitalizing on business opportunities.

Our existing debt contains several restriction®onactivities. These restrictions limit our alyiland the ability of our subsidiaries to,
among other things:

* make certain types of loans and investm:

« make dividends or other payments, redeem orrcbpise stock, prepay, redeem or repurchase otheodenake other restricted
payments;

e incur or guarantee additional indebtedness or ipseferred stocl
e create or incur lien

e create unrestricted subsidiar

« sell assets or consolidate or merge with or int@otompanie

e engage in transactions with affiliates;

* enter into new lines of busine

The Senior Secured Credit Facility agreement (8®CF”), the 2013 Revolving Credit Facility and 2MRevolving Credit Facility also
contain financial covenants that impose signifiaastrictions on us, including requirements to r@mcertain liquidity levels and financial
ratios. See Item 5, “Liquidity and Capital Resosr&escription of Indebtedness” and Note 4 to then@any’s Consolidated Financial
Statements in this annual report for a descripdiotie restrictions and covenants applicable toindebtedness.

The restrictions and covenants contained in out dgleements may prevent us from taking actionswhéaelieve would be in our best
interest and may make it difficult for us to susfally execute our business strategy or effectivalgnpete with companies that are not
similarly restricted. We may also incur future debtigations that could subject us to additionatnietive covenants, which could affect our
financial and operational flexibility. Our abilitp comply with these restrictions and covenantduising meeting financial ratios and tests, |
be affected by events beyond our control. The ref@ny of these covenants and restrictions coegdlt in a default under the agreements
governing our debt, as described in “—An eventefadIt may be triggered by the occurrence of evient®nnection with our other
indebtedness.” The occurrence of an event of defeuder any of our debt agreements could causeetbeant debt holders to accelerate our
indebtedness. In the event of any debt acceleratiermay not be able to repay our outstanding itetitess, which could lead such debt
holders to initiate bankruptcy or liquidation predings.

An event of default may be triggered by the occunte of events in connection with our other indebiegss.

Our indebtedness consists of a number of diffepbliations, each governed by a separate agreePrgant to the terms of the
agreements governing our indebtedness, an evaetfadlt may be triggered by the occurrence of aedrall of the following events in
connection with our other indebtedness: (i) failtorenake payments when due or upon maturity, ¢€eteration of other indebtedness and
(iii) events of default due to breaches of covesamtotherwise under the agreements governing atdebtedness. An event of default under
any of our debt agreements could permit some ofetheers to declare all amounts borrowed from tdemand payable. In addition, debt
under other debt agreements that contain crosdematien or cross-default provisions may also beelrated and become due and payable. I
any of these events occur, our assets might nstifficient to repay in full all of our outstandimgdebtedness, and we may not be able to find
alternative financing, however; if we obtain alt&ime financings, such financing might not be amigthat are favorable or acceptable. If we
were unable to repay amounts borrowed, the holafetee debt could initiate a bankruptcy or liquidatproceeding. See Item 1,itjuidity and
Capital Resources—Description of Indebtedness’Nwig 4 to the Company’s Consolidated Financiale®t&nts in this annual report for a
description of the restrictions and covenants applie to our indebtedness.

Our drilling contracts may be terminated early irettain circumstances.

Our contracts with clients may be terminated atapigon of the client upon payment of an early teation fee, which is typically a
significant percentage of the dayrate or the stamdte under the drilling contract for a speciffggtiod of time. Such payments may not,
however, fully compensate us for the loss of thatreat. Our contracts also provide for terminatiyrthe client without the payment of any
termination fee, under various circumstances, sipiéncluding, but not limited to, our non-perfoamce, as a result of downtime or impaired
performance caused by equipment or operationatsssar sustained periods of downtime due to foragune events. Many of these events ar
beyond our control. During periods of depressed

12






Table of Contents

market conditions, we are subject to an increasidi our clients seeking to terminate their cants. Our clients’ ability to perform their
obligations under their drilling contracts with msy also be negatively impacted by continuing dl@sanomic uncertainty. If our clients
terminate some of our contracts, and we are urtaldecure new contracts on a timely basis and bstantially similar terms, or if payments
due under our contracts are suspended for an eedgretiod of time or if a number of our contrages ienegotiated, our financial position,
results of operations or cash flows could be mallgradversely affected.

Delays in the construction of new drillships or theodifications of existing drillships could advenyeaffect our business.

As of February 23, 2015, we had one ultra-deepwaetbuild drillship under construction, tRacific Zonda We may enter into
agreements to commence newbuild projects in theduas part of our growth strategy. Such conswuagbrojects are subject to risks of delay
inherent in any large construction project, inchgdcosts or delays resulting from the following:

« shipyard availability

* unexpected delays in delivery times for, or shartagf, key equipment, parts and mater

» shortages of skilled labor and other shipyard perebnecessary to perform the wt

« shortages or unforeseen increases in the cosugfregnt, labor and raw materials, particularly &

« unforeseen design and engineering problems, inguitiose relating to the commissioning of newlyigiesd equipmen
e unanticipated actual or purported change or

« work stoppages and labor dispu

« latent damages or deterioration to hull, equipnaeat machinery in excess of engineering estimatégsasumption
< delays in, or inability to obtain, access to finiaugg

« failure or delay of thirgparty service providers and labor dispt

« disputes with shipyards and suppli

e our requests for changes to the original rig spetibns

« delays and unexpected costs of incorporating paidsmaterials needed for the completion of proj

« financial or other difficulties at shipyards angpliers

e adverse weather conditions or storm darr

* inability to obtain required permits or approvasg

« defective construction and the resultant needdnredial work

These factors may contribute to cost variancesdatedys in the delivery of our newbuild units.

If we enter into a pre-delivery contract, any dslaythe delivery of th€acific Zondacould result in a loss of revenue and may subject
us to penalties due to delays in contract commeaneand may result in termination or shorteninghefterm of the drilling contract by the
client pursuant to applicable late delivery clausdsich could adversely affect our financial pasiti results of operations or cash flows.

Our business and the industry in which we operate@alve numerous operating hazards which, if theycac, may cause a material
adverse effect to our business.

Our operations are subject to the usual hazaraseniin the drilling and operation of oil and mafugas wells, such as blowouts,
reservoir damage, loss of production, loss of wetitrol, cratering, fires, explosions, spills amdlytion. The occurrence of any of these event:
could result in the suspension of our drilling ocoguction operations, claims by the operator, sedamage to, or destruction of, the property
and equipment involved, injury or death to drillingit personnel and environmental and natural nessudamage. Our operations could be
suspended as a result of these hazards whethfauthés ours or that of a third party. In certaincumstances, governmental authorities may
suspend drilling operations as a result of thegarks, and our clients may cancel or terminate twitracts. We may also be subject to



personal injury and other claims of drilling undrponnel as a result of our drilling operationst Guerations also may be suspended
because of
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machinery breakdowns, abnormal operating condititaikire of subcontractors to perform or supplyds or services and personnel shorte

In addition, our operations will be subject to fpepeculiar to marine operations, including capsgjzigrounding, collision and loss or
damage from severe weather. Severe weather couddehmaterial adverse effect on our operations.diiliing units could be damaged by
high winds, turbulent seas or unstable sea bottmmditions which could potentially cause us to dudperations for significant periods of time
until such damages are repaired.

We may experience downtime as a result of repairsn@intenance, human error, defective or failed agment or delays waiting for
replacement parts.

Repairs or maintenance, humeamor, defective or failed equipment or delays imgifor replacement parts on our drillships mayseaus
to experience operational downtime, which may hevadverse effect on our results of operations.

In addition, we rely on certain third parties toyide supplies and services necessary for our aféstirilling operations, including, but
not limited to, drilling equipment, catering andchaery suppliers. Mergers in our industry haveucsd the number of available suppliers,
resulting in fewer alternatives for sourcing kepplies. Such consolidation, combined with a highukee of drilling units under construction,
may result in a shortage of supplies and serviotangially inhibiting the ability of suppliers taetiver on time, or at all. These delays may hav
a material adverse effect on our results of opanatand result in downtime, and delays in the regga maintenance of our drillships.

Operating and maintenance costs will not necessafilictuate in proportion to changes in operatingvenues.

We do not expect operating and maintenance coslisctoate in direct proportion to changes in opiagarevenues. The principal
components of our operating costs are, among thiegs, direct and indirect costs of labor and liesyenaintenance and spare parts and
insurance. Operating revenues may fluctuate ascifuin of changes in dayrates. However, costs fperating a drillship are generally fixed or
only semi-variable regardless of the dayrate bearged. In addition, should one of our drillshipsur idle time between contracts, we would
typically maintain the crew to prepare the drilfsfar its next contract and would not reduce ctsisorrespond with the decrease in revenue.
During times of reduced activity, reductions intsomay not be immediate. In addition, as drillskaps mobilized from one geographic local
to another, the labor and other operating and rma#mtce costs can vary significantly. Equipment teaisnce expenses may fluctuate
depending upon the type of activity a drillshipperforming and the age and condition of the equiinf@ontract preparation expenses may
vary based on the scope and length of contractpatipn required.

We could be adversely affected by violations of th&. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar feign anti-bribery laws.

The United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Aa {BBCPA”), the Nigerian Corrupt Practices and OtRetated Offenses Act of 2000,
Brazil’s Anti Corruption Law of 2014 and similar wdwide anti-bribery laws generally prohibit compesand their intermediaries from
making, offering or authorizing improper paymemtsion-U.S. government officials for the purposelofaining or retaining business. We
operate in several countries where strict compéanmith anti-bribery laws may conflict with localstems and practices. Violations of or any
non-compliance with current and future anti-bribkys (either due to our acts or our inadvertencacts of our agents) may result in criminal
and civil sanctions and could subject us to otfaduilities in the U.S. and elsewhere. Even allegatiof such violations could disrupt our
business and result in a material adverse effecuomusiness and operations. We may be subjecimpetitive disadvantages to the extent
our competitors are able to secure business, kseomisother preferential treatment by making paysngovernment officials and others in
positions of influence or using other methods th&. and foreign laws and regulations and our ouwlities prohibit us from using.

In order to effectively compete in some foreigrigdictions, we utilize local agents and/or estadbjant ventures with local operators or
strategic partners. For example, in Nigeria, in piamce with Nigerian law, we have establishedRheific International Drilling West Africa
Limited (“PIDWAL") joint venture, owned by us anddbotech Offshore Services Limited (“Derotech”),ravately-held Nigerian registered
limited liability company. PIDWAL is party to theootracts with subsidiaries of Chevron for a&cific Boraand thePacific Khamsirand the
contract with a subsidiary of Total for tRacific Scirocca Derotech is also performing marketing servicesPiWAL. In addition, we
entered into an agreement with a marketing ageBtaazil and have agreements with agents in bottefiigand Brazil, pursuant to which the
agents, among other activities, process visaspesstiearance of routine shipments of equipmentemads and supplies and process
temporary importation permits, extensions and retewDne of our logistics and supply-chain agemfdigeria is an affiliate of Derotech. All
of these activities involve interaction by our atgewith non-U.S. government officials. Even thowgime of our agents and partners may not
themselves be subject to the FCPA or other non-&h&-bribery laws to which we may be subject,uf agents or partners make improper
payments to non-U.S. government officials in coniogcwith engagements or partnerships
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with us, we could be investigated and potentiadiyrfd liable for violation of such anti-bribery la@sd could incur civil and criminal penalties
and other sanctions, which could have a materiatisa effect on our financial position, result®pérations or cash flows.

Our contract drilling operations may be adverselffected by various laws and regulations in counsién which we operate relating
the equipment and operation of drilling units, odind natural gas exploration and development and ianpand export activities.

Governments in some foreign countries have beaeasingly active in regulating and controlling thenership of concessions and
companies holding concessions, the exploratiowifand natural gas and other aspects of the dilretural gas industries in their countries,
including local content requirements for participgtin tenders for certain drilling contracts. Maggvernments favor or effectively require t
drilling contracts be awarded to local contractmrsequire foreign contractors to employ citizefison purchase supplies from, a particular
jurisdiction. These practices may result in inéfficies or put us at a disadvantage when we biddotracts

In addition, the shipment of goods, services aptrtelogy across international borders subject® extensive trade laws and
regulations. Our import and export activities abggrned by unique customs laws and regulationadh ef the countries where we operate.
Moreover, many countries control the import andakpf certain goods, services and technology ambse related import and export
recordkeeping and reporting obligations. Governsmafgo may impose economic sanctions against certaintries, persons and other entities
that may restrict or prohibit transactions involyisuch countries, persons and entities, and welsoesubject to the U.S. anti-boycott law.

The laws and regulations concerning import and exguadivity, recordkeeping and reporting, importaxport control and economic
sanctions are complex and constantly changing.eTlaaes and regulations may be enacted, amendemtcedfor interpreted in a manner
materially impacting our operations. A global ecaonodownturn may increase some foreign governmesifstts to enact, enforce, amend or
interpret laws and regulations as a method to asge@evenue. Shipments can be delayed and denpedtior export for a variety of reasons,
some of which are outside our control and someto€lwmay result from failure to comply with exiggitegal and regulatory regimes. Shipp
delays or denials could cause unscheduled opeahtifovntime. Any failure to comply with these applble legal and regulatory obligations
also could result in criminal and civil penaltiegdasanctions, such as fines, imprisonment, debarfran government contracts, seizure of
shipments and loss of import and export privileges.

We may also incur losses as a result of an ingltditcollect revenues because of a shortage ofertible currency available in the
country of operation, controls over currency exg®ar controls over the repatriation of income aypital.

Our business is subject to numerous governmentaldaand regulations, including environmental requiments that may impose
significant costs and liabilities on u

Our operations are subject to federal, state, lacdlforeign or international laws and regulatitreg may require us to obtain and
maintain specific permits or other governmentalrapals to control the discharge of oil and othemtaminants into the environment or
otherwise relating to environmental protection. Qtoies where we operate have environmental lawsegulations governing our discharge of
oil and other contaminants and imposing string&aridards on our activities that are protectivehefénvironment. Any operations and
activities that we conduct in the United States iterritorial waters also will be subject to nemous environmental laws, including the Oll
Pollution Act of 1990 (“OPA"), the Outer Continehhelf Lands Act (“OCSLA"), the Comprehensive BEravimental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act (“CERCLA”) and titernational Convention for the Prevention of Btiin from Ships (“MARPOL"), as
each has been amended from time to time, and anaaiate laws. Failure to comply with these laegulations and treaties may result in the
assessment of administrative, civil and criminaigiges, the imposition of remedial obligations ttenial or revocation of permits or other
authorizations and the issuance of injunctions iy limit or prohibit some or all of our operatforiaws and regulations protecting the
environment have become more stringent in receartsy@nd may in certain circumstances impose $attity, rendering us liable for
environmental and natural resource damages caysetthérs or for acts that were in compliance wittapplicable laws at the time the acts
were performed. The application of these laws @&gdlations, the modification of existing laws oguéations or the adoption of new laws or
regulations that curtail exploratory or developna¢dtilling for oil and natural gas could matenalimit future contract drilling opportunities
materially increase our costs, including our cadgigenditures.

The contract drilling industry is highly competite. Compared to companies with greater resourcesperating history, we may be at
a competitive disadvantage.

The offshore contract drilling industry is highlgrapetitive with numerous industry participants, @af which has a dominant market
share. Drilling contracts are traditionally awardeda competitive bid basis. The proposed pricéngfien
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the primary factor in determining which qualifiedntractor is awarded a contract, although rig awdlity and the quality and technical
capability of service and equipment are also imgodrfactors. Other key factors include a contragt@putation for service, safety record,
environmental record, technical and engineeringsttand long-term relationships with national amérnational oil and natural gas
companies. Our competitors in the offshore contdaititng industry may have larger, more diverseets, longer operating histories with longel
established safety and environmental records, teng-relationships with clients and appreciablyagge financial and other resources and
assets than we do, which may make them preferahle to the extent a client is specifically conegrabout any of these characteristics. As a
result, our competitors have competitive advantaéigasmay adversely affect our efforts to contmat drillships on favorable terms, if at all,
and correspondingly negatively impact our finanpiasition, results of operations or cash flows. ifiddally, we may be at a competitive
disadvantage to those competitors that are motdyhigpitalized because they may be in a bettetipngo withstand the effects of a downt

in our industry.

The imposition of stringent restrictions or prohitidns on offshore drilling by a governing body mémave a material adverse effect on
our business.

Catastrophic events in past years resulting ing¢lease of oil or other contaminants offshore Hasightened environmental and
regulatory concerns about the oil and natural gdsstry, which concerns may have a direct advenpact on the demand for our services. Fo
example, in response to the April 2010 fire and@sipn aboard the Deepwater Horizon drilling riglaasulting oil spill from the Macondo
well operated in ultra-deep water of the U.S. @iilMexico, the federal government, acting through ).S. Department of the Interior
(“DOI") and its implementing agencies that havecsievolved into the present day Bureau of Oceamngyridanagement (‘BOEM”) and
Bureau of Safety and Environmental Enforcement EB9Y, have issued various rules, Notices to LesaeesOperators (“NTLs") and
temporary drilling moratoria that impose or resaladded environmental and safety measures up@ndihatural gas exploration,
development and production operators in the U.¥ @WMexico, some of whom are our clients. Thesgulatory initiatives may serve to
effectively slow down the pace of drilling and puootion operations in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico dueatfjustments in operating procedures anc
certification requirements as well as increased temes to obtain exploration and production pleviews. We could become subject to fines,
penalties or orders requiring us to modify or saspeur operations in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico if feél to comply with these requirements. |
example, BSEE has extended its regulatory enfornemeach to include contractors as well as offshesee operators. Consequently, the
BSEE may elect to hold contractors, including dvijlcontractors, liable for alleged violations a# arising in the BSEE's jurisdictional area.
Any one or more of these uncertainties could raauticreased future operating costs, includingiiaace costs, which we may not be able to
pass through to our clients.

The U.S. Gulf of Mexico represents a significanttjpm of the industry’s existing deepwater driligldemand. The regulations and other
regulatory initiatives effected by DOI, BOEM and BS have created significant uncertainty regardirgrequirements to perform offshore
drilling activity in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico and psible implications for regions outside of the USsIIf of Mexico. If the regulations, operati
procedures and possibility of increased legal liigléare viewed by our current or future clientsaasignificant impairment to expected
profitability on drilling projects in the U.S. Guiff Mexico, deepwater drillships and other floathigs could depart the U.S. Gulf of Mexico,
which would likely affect the global supply and demd balance for such drillships and rigs, resulimipwer dayrates and/or utilization and a
more competitive and challenging business envirarrimeother international markets.

Our business could be affected adversely by uni@pdtes and strikes or work stoppages by our emeésy In addition, our labor
costs and the operating restrictions under which wgerate could increase as a result of collectiadrining negotiations and changes in
labor laws and regulations.

Some of our employees working in Nigeria and Brag#l represented by unions, and some of our caettdabor work under collective
bargaining agreements. Many of these representividnals are working under agreements that argestito annual salary negotiations. We
cannot guarantee the results of any such collebtivgaining negotiations or whether any such nagotis will result in a work stoppage. In
addition, employees may strike for reasons unréledeur union arrangements. Any future work stagpeould, depending on the affected
operations and the length of the work stoppageg laawmaterial adverse effect on our financial posjtresults of operations or cash flows. In
addition, we could enter markets other than BmazNigeria, which also contain unions and couldilieis higher costs.

These negotiations could result in higher persoerpénses, other increased costs or increasedtiopataestrictions. Although our
U.S. employees are not covered by a collectivediaiing agreement, the marine services industrybbas targeted by maritime labor union
an effort to organize U.S. Gulf of Mexico employeksaddition, legislation has been introducedhi@ ).S. Congress that could encourage
additional unionization efforts in the United Statas well as increase the chances that suchsffiocteed. A significant increase in the wage:
paid by competing employers or the unionizatioowf U.S. Gulf of Mexico employees could result ireduction of our skilled labor force,
increases in the wage rates that we must
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pay, or both. Additional unionization efforts, iiccessful, or new collective bargaining agreemeotsgd materially increase our labor costs.
Shortages of equipment, spare parts and ancillagy\dces could have a negative impact on our operas.

Our operations rely on the timely supply of equiptrend spare parts to maintain and repair our.fl&et also rely on the supply of
ancillary services, including, among others, sugqgts, helicopter services, catering serviceseagiheering and technical services. Short:
in materials, delays in the delivery of necessagrs parts, equipment or other materials, or tlavaifability of ancillary services could
negatively impact our operations and result inéases in rig downtime and delays in the repairmaaithitenance of our fleet.

Our global operations may be adversely affectedobiitical and economic circumstances in the courgsi in which we operate. A

significant portion of our business is conducted Migeria, which exposes us to risks of war, locab@aomic instabilities, corruption, politice
disruption and civil disturbance in that region.

A primary component of our business strategy isgderate in global oil and natural gas producingsr&Ve are subject to a number of
risks inherent in any business that operates dipbatluding:

e political, social and economic instability, warrgiy and acts of terroris

e potential seizure, expropriation or nationalizatarasset:

- damage to our equipment or violence directed ataployees, including kidnappin

e increased operating cos

« complications associated with supplying, repai@ang replacing equipment in remote locati
< repudiation, modification or renegotiation of cauts

« limitations on insurance coverage, such as waraigknamed windstorm coverage in certain a
« importexport quota:

* confiscatory taxatiol

« work stoppage

* unexpected changes in regulatory requirem

e wage and price contro

e imposition of trade barriel

e imposition or changes in interpretation and etément of local content laws, such as those we oursently comply with in
Nigeria and Brazil

e restrictions on currency or capital repatriati
« solicitation by government officials for impropesyments or other forms of corrupti
e currency fluctuations and devaluations;

< other forms of government regulation and econoraiwddions that are beyond our cont

These risks may be higher in developing countrieh s Nigeria, where thiacific Bora, thePacific Sciroccaand thePacific Khamsin
currently operate. Countries in West Africa havpegienced political and economic instability in fheest and such instability may continue in
the future. Additionally, during the period from@®Dto 2014, more Foreign Corrupt Practice Act \iolss were prosecuted in Nigeria than in
any other jurisdiction worldwide. Furthermore, thare sectarian tensions in Nigeria among the nousatifferent ethnic and tribal groups,
which have resulted in sporadic violence. Disrupdionay occur in the future, and losses causeddsettisruptions may not be covered by
insurance.

Terrorist attacks, piracy, increased hostilities war could lead to further economic instability, aneased costs and disruption of our



business.

Terrorist attacks, piracy and other current or feitinternational conflicts may adversely affect boancial position, results of operatic
or cash flows, ability to raise capital and futgrewth. Continuing hostilities in the Middle Easaynlead to additional armed conflicts or to
further acts of terrorism and civil disturbancehe United States, or elsewhere, which may
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contribute to further economic instability and distion of oil production and distribution, whichudd result in reduced demand for our
services.

In addition, oil facilities, shipyards, vesselgyglines and oil and natural gas fields could bgetisr of future terrorist attacks and our
vessels could be targets of pirates or hijackeny. guch attacks could lead to, among other thibngdily injury or loss of life, vessel or other
property damage, increased vessel operational, ¢éosksding insurance costs, and the inabilityremsport oil and natural gas to or from cer
locations. Terrorist attacks, war, piracy or oteeents beyond our control that adversely affeciptioeluction of oil could entitle our clients to
terminate our drilling contracts, which would havenaterial adverse effect on our financial posjti@sults of operations or cash flows.

An inability to retain a sufficient number of skitld workers on commercially reasonable terms couldyatively affect our operations.

We require skilled personnel to operate and protédanical services to, and support for, our drifis. In periods of increasing activity
and when the number of operating units in our aoaperation increases, either because of newticani®n, re-activation of idle units or the
mobilization of units into the region, shortagesjaéalified personnel could arise, creating upwassbsgure on wages, higher turnover and
difficulty in staffing. A shortage of qualified pswnnel, the inability to obtain and retain quadifigersonnel or a reduction in the experience
level of our personnel as a result of increasedoer could negatively affect the quality and times$s of our work and lead to higher
downtime and more operating incidents, which imttwuld decrease revenues and increase costsréfiged competition for labor were to
intensify in the future, we may experience incredaeecosts or limits on operations. In additions, ability to expand operations depends in par
upon our ability to increase the size of our sKillabor force.

An inability to obtain visas and work permits foruo employees on a timely basis could negativelyeaffour operations and have an
adverse effect on our business.

Our ability to operate worldwide depends on oufightio obtain the necessary visas and work perfoit®ur personnel to travel in and
out of, and to work in, the jurisdictions in whiale operate. Governmental actions in some of thedigtions in which we operate may make it
difficult for us to move our personnel in and ofittltese jurisdictions by delaying or withholdingtapproval of these permits. If we are not
able to obtain visas and work permits for the eiypés we need for operating our drillships on alrhasis, we might not be able to perform
our obligations under our drilling contracts, whwbuld allow our clients to cancel the contradteur clients cancel some of our contracts, an
we are unable to secure new contracts on a timedisland on substantially similar terms, our fin@ngosition, results of operations or cash
flows could be materially adversely affected.

We have substantial obligations to fund contractscaother arrangements related to the constructiohour newbuild drillships. If we
fail to meet these obligations or construction dfetse newbuild drillships is not completed, suchldiaé could have a material adverse effe
on our financial position, results of operations aash flows and could adversely affect our abilitymeet our other obligations.

We have significant contractual commitments to 8Hited to théacific Zonda, our drillship currently under construction, tatal
approximately $336.4 million as of February 23, 20&/e anticipate making payments of approximat&6b4 millionduring the remainder «
2015.

In the event that we order additional drillship® will also need to secure funding for constructidésuch vessels. The final terms and
availability of any additional financing will be tlemined by, among other factors, current finanaiatket conditions, our creditworthiness :
drilling industry conditions. We may be unable titain or arrange any additional financing on satisfry terms. Also, our current and future
drillships under construction could be delayedtheownise not delivered by the shipyard. This cchdste a material adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operations or casiws.

We may be required to make significant capital ergéures to maintain our competitiveness and to gaignwith laws and the
applicable regulations and standards of governmdrdathorities and organizations, which would negaély affect our financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

Changes in offshore drilling technology, clientuggments for new or upgraded equipment and conpetivithin our industry may
require us to make significant capital expenditumesrder to maintain our competitiveness. Our cetitprs may have greater financial and
other resources than we have, which may enable thenake technological improvements to existingigaent or replace equipment that
becomes obsolete. In addition, changes in govertahexgulations, safety or other equipment starsjaad well as compliance with standards
imposed by maritime self-regulatory organizatiangay require us to make additional unforeseen dapitzenditures. For example, we may be
required to make significant capital
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expenditures for alterations or the addition of remipment to satisfy requirements of the U.S. €Gamrd. As a result, we may be required t
take our vessels out of service for extended psraddime, with corresponding losses of revenugsyier to make such alterations or to add
such equipment. In the future, market conditiony mat justify these expenditures or enable us &rate our older vessels profitably during
the remainder of their economic lives.

If we are unable to fund these capital expenditwiéis cash flow from operations, we may either inadditional borrowings or raise
capital through the sale of debt or equity seesitOur ability to access the capital marketsuture offerings may be limited by our financial
position at the time, by changes in laws and reguia (or interpretation thereof) and by adverseketaconditions resulting from, among other
things, general economic conditions and contingemnand uncertainties that are beyond our confrale Iraise additional funds by issuing
additional equity securities, existing shareholdeay experience dilution. Our failure to obtain theds for necessary future capital
expenditures would limit our ability to continuedperate some of our vessels and could have aialatdverse effect on our business and on
our financial position, results of operations osltélows.

Technology disputes involving us, our supplierssrb-suppliers could negatively impact our operatsor increase our costs.

Drilling units and drilling rig operations use pated or otherwise proprietary technology and, cqueetly, involve a potential risk of
infringement of third party rights. In the evenathwe or one of our suppliers or sub-suppliers beoinvolved in a dispute over infringement
of intellectual property rights relating to equipm@wned or used by us, we may lose access torregices or replacement parts, or we ¢t
be required to cease use of some equipment. Wd etsd be required to pay royalties for the ussuch equipment. Any technology disputes
involving us or our suppliers or sub-suppliers doativersely affect our financial results and openat

We have been sued for patent infringement whichadversely determined, could result in us beingded to pay significant royalties
to Transocean or to make indemnity payments to clients.

On April 16, 2013, Transocean filed a complaintiagiaus alleging infringement of their dual acyvtatents. We are currently in the
claim construction and discovery phase of our latwsith Transocean. The patents in question are this subject of a pending action in the
United States against Seadrill. Transocean als Blzersk Drilling (“Maersk”) and Stena Drilling (t&na”) for infringing Transocean'’s U.S.
patents involving dual activity on drilling asseneisl Both defendants settled their disputes wiin$ocean under confidential terms. The
Seadrill case was filed in January 2015 and ikénvery early stages, with no trial date curreatgeduled. If our lawsuit with Transocean is
adversely determined, we could be forced to payifsigint royalties to Transocean or make indemp#dyments to our clients.

Dual gradient drilling techniques may not result ithe currently expected benefits and, as a resdémand may not develop for these
capabilities.

Several of our drillships have, or upon completigt have, dual gradient drilling capabilities sabj to certain modifications to be me
to the drillships. Th&acific Santa Anés currently capable of dual gradient drilling. Dgeadient drilling is a technology that allows two
different pressure gradients to be maintainedeénibll (one in the drilling riser and one in thelMoelow the mudline). Although dual gradient
drilling technology was technically proven ten yeago, thé>acific Santa Ands the first rig to deploy this technology for comaraial
application. Dual gradient drilling may not resmltexpected savings in cost and time per well, &idlow rates and greater access to
“undrillable” reserves and, as a result, demand naydevelop for these capabilities.

The dual gradient drilling concept being deploygdhe Pacific Santa Anas disclosed in patents assigned to Chevron, fachwye
have been granted a license as of February 1, ZiEshite having been granted a license, a couttiéoterpret that we are only permitted to
use our license for dual gradient drilling openasian our drilling units if our drilling contractsith Chevron for théPacific Santa Anar the
Pacific Shara\(or any subsequent dual gradient capable rig) reinagffect. In the event that the ongoing comnarapplication of dual
gradient drilling does not result in expected béaabd our clients, demand does not develop fosehmpabilities or our license with Chevron is
found to be invalid, this technology may not resulany commercial benefit to us.

There may be limits on our ability to mobilize dehips between geographic areas, and the time aostg of such mobilizations may
be material to our business.

The offshore contract drilling market is generallglobal market as drilling units may be mobiliZemm one area to another. However,
the ability to mobilize drilling units can be imgad by several factors including, but not limited governmental regulation and customs
practices, the significant costs to move a drillimigt, weather, political instability, civil unresnilitary actions and the technical capability of
the drilling units to operate in various environngemidditionally, while

19




Table of Contents

a drillship is being mobilized from one geograpimarket to another, we may not be paid by the chenthe time that the drillship is out of
service. Also, we may mobilize a drillship to aretiyeographic market without a client contract,aliiihay result in costs that are not
reimbursed by future clients.

We are a holding company and are dependent uporhdé®wn from subsidiaries to meet our obligationd.dur operating subsidiaries
experience sufficiently adverse changes in themdncial position, results of operations or cash g, or we otherwise become unable to pay
our debts as they become due and obtain furtherit,eve may become subject to Luxembourg insolvepmyceedings.

As we currently conduct our operations through, awdt of our assets are owned by, our subsidiariegspperating income and cash
flow are generated by our subsidiaries. As a resafth we obtain from our subsidiaries is the paicsource of funds necessary to meet our
obligations. Contractual provisions or laws, ashaslour subsidiaries’ financial position, opergtnequirements and debt requirements, may
limit our ability to obtain cash from subsidiarigsat we require to pay our expenses or meet oweuor future debt service obligations.
Applicable tax laws may also subject such payments by subsidiaries to further taxation.

If our operating subsidiaries experience suffidieativerse changes in their financial positionuhssof operations or cash flows, or we
otherwise become unable to pay our debts as theynie due and obtain further credit, we may enttate of cessation of payments
( cessation de paiemenjtsnd lose our commercial creditworthinegb(anlement de credjt which could result in the commencement of
insolvency proceedings in Luxembourg. Such procegdivould have a material adverse effect on oanfiral position, results of operations
cash flows and could have a significant negativeaiot on the market price of our common shares.

The loss of some of our key executive officers amployees could negatively impact our business.

Our future operational performance depends torifgignt degree upon the continued service of keyntoers of our management as
well as marketing, sales and operations persoiihelloss of one or more of our key personnel chakke a material adverse effect on our
business. We believe our future success will aégmzedd in large part upon our ability to attradiaireand further motivate highly skilled
management, marketing, sales and operations persdlia may experience intense competition for pareb and we may not be able to ret
key employees or be successful in attracting, akgimg and retaining personnel in the future.

Our insurance may not be adequate in the event afatastrophic loss.

Damage to the environment could result from ouraipens, particularly through oil spillage or ex¢are uncontrolled fires. We may
also be subject to property, environmental, natesdurce and other damage claims by oil and rlajasacompanies, other businesses
operating offshore and in coastal areas, envirotshennservation groups, governmental entitiesathdr third parties. Insurance policies and
contractual rights to indemnity may not adequatelyer losses, and we may not have insurance coy@ragghts to indemnity for all risks.
Moreover, pollution and environmental risks gerlgrate not fully insurable.

As a result of the number of catastrophic eventhénoffshore drilling industry in recent yearsglsas hurricanes in the U.S. Gulf of
Mexico and théDeepwater Horizomlrilling rig incident, insurance underwriters hamereased insurance premiums and increased restsct
on coverage. In particular, hurricane losses iemegears have impacted named windstorm insurameerage, rates and availability for U.S
Gulf of Mexico area exposures.

Losses caused by the occurrence of a significasnteagainst which we are not fully insured, or ealisy a number of lesser events
against which we are insured but are subject tetanbial deductibles, aggregate limits and/or seéired amounts, could materially increase
our costs and impair our profitability and finangasition. Our policy limits for property, casugaltiability and business interruption insurar
including coverage for severe weather, terroritd,agar, civil disturbances, pollution or envirormed damage, may not be adequate should a
catastrophic event occur related to our propefantor equipment, or our insurers may not havejadee financial resources to sufficiently or
fully pay related claims or damages. When any ofcawerage expires, adequate replacement coveragaot be available, offered at
reasonable prices or offered by insurers with sigffit financial resources.

We have a relatively limited operating history, whimay make it difficult for investors to evaluateir business and our future
prospects, both of which will increase the riskydur investment in our common share

We began to recognize operating revenue wheR#oic Boracommenced drilling operations on August 26, 201e Hacific
Scirocco, thePacific Mistral, thePacific Santa AnathePacific Khamsirand thePacific Sharawwcommenced drilling operations and began
generating operating revenues on December 31, EFhtuary 6, 2012, May 4, 2012,
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December 17, 2013 and August 27, 2014, respectiVélyPacific Meltemwas delivered to us at the shipyard on NovembePQ54.
Following shipyard construction, commissioning aesting, thePacific Zondas expected to be delivered to us at the shipyatté third
quarter of 2015.

We lack extensive historical financial and openaiodata, making it more difficult for an investorevaluate our business, and assess
the merits and risks of an investment in our comstwares. This lack of information may increaserile of your investment in our common
shares. Moreover, investors should consider antdiateaour prospects in light of the risks and utaieties frequently encountered by
companies with a limited operating history. Thasks and difficulties include the uncertaintiesuléag from having had a relatively limited
time period in which to implement and evaluate lousiness strategies as compared to older compaitleonger operating histories. If we ¢
not able to successfully meet these challengedijmanmcial position, results of operations or cletvs could be materially adversely affected.

Our clients may be unable or unwilling to indemnifys.

Consistent with standard industry practice, owertk generally assume, and indemnify us againditcaetrol and subsurface risks un
our dayrate contracts. These risks are associdthdive loss of control of a well, such as blowoutratering, the cost to regain control or
redrill the well and associated pollution. Howewaur indemnification may not cover all damagesinataor losses to us or third parties, and th
client may not have sufficient resources to cofieirtindemnification obligations or the client megntest their obligation to indemnify us.
Also, in the interest of maintaining good relatiavith our key clients, we may choose not to assentain indemnification claims. In addition,
from time to time, we may be unable to negotiatetraxts containing indemnity provisions that oblggaur clients to indemnify us for such
damages and risks.

We may suffer losses as a result of foreign currgrluctuations.

A significant portion of the contract revenues aof toreign operations will be paid in U.S. Dollangiwever, some payments are made i
foreign currencies. As a result, we are exposeuitrency fluctuations and exchange rate risksras@t of our foreign operations. To minim
the financial impact of these risks when we arel jjaforeign currency, we attempt to match the ency of operating costs with the currency
of contract revenue. If we are unable to substiytizatch the timing and amounts of these paymeatg,increase in the value of the
U.S. Dollar in relation to the value of applicaideeign currencies could adversely affect our ofegaresults when translated into U.S. Doll

We are exposed to the credit risks of our clier@ad nonpayment by our clients could adversely affear financial position, results ¢
operations or cash flows.

We are subject to risks of loss resulting from reypent or nonperformance by our clients. Any materonpayment, nonperformance
or default by our clients and certain other thiedtigs could adversely affect our financial positicesults of operations or cash flows.
Furthermore, some of our clients and other partiag be highly leveraged and subject to their owerating and regulatory risks.

Our financial position, results of operations or sa flows may be adversely affected if we fail tasessfully integrate acquired asse
joint venture partners or businesses we acquireaoe unable to obtain financing for acquisitions oacceptable terms

We believe that acquisition or joint venture oppaities may arise from time to time, and any sudgduasition or joint venture could be
significant. At any given time, discussions witheasr more potential sellers or partners may béffardnt stages. However, any such
discussions may not result in the consummationtadrzsaction, and we may not be able to identifgamplete any transactions. We cannot
predict the effect, if any, that any announcememomsummation of such a transaction would havtherirading price of our common shares.

Any future acquisitions or joint ventures could seet a number of risks, including:

< the risk of using management time and resourcpsitsue acquisitions that are not successfully ceted
« the risk of incorrect assumptions regarding tharitesults of acquired operatic
« the risk of failing to integrate the operationsnmnagement of any acquired operations or assetsssfally and timely; ar

« the risk of diversion of managemenéttention from existing operations or other pities.

If we are unsuccessful in integrating any acquisgior joint ventures in a timely and ceétective manner, our financial position, res
of operations or cash flows could be materiallyeadely affected.
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Our potential purchase of existing vessels carriesks associated with the quality of those vessels.

In the future, we may acquire existing vessels awayof renewing and expanding our fleet. Unlikevhailds, existing vessels typically
do not carry warranties with respect to their ctindi While we would inspect any existing vessébpto purchase, such an inspection would
normally not provide us with as much knowledgetsftiondition as we would possess if the vessebleaa built for us and operated by us
during its life. Repairs and maintenance costefisting vessels are difficult to predict and maynhore substantial than for vessels that we
have operated since they were built. These cosilsl ciecrease our profits and reduce our liquidity.

Public health threats could have a material adverstect on our financial position, results of opetians or cash flows.

Public health threats, such as Ebola, the HINYiflus, Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome, and dtlggly communicable diseases,
outbreaks of which have already occurred in varjpargs of the world in which we operate, could adesy impact our operations, the
operations of our customers and the global econamiyding the worldwide demand for oil and natugak and the level of demand for our
services. Any quarantine of personnel or inabtlityaccess our offices or rigs could adversely affeic operations. Travel restrictions or
operational problems in any part of the world inicthwe operate, or any reduction in the demandlfiling services caused by public health
threats in the future, may adversely affect ouaficial position, results of operations or cash fow

Any significant cyber-attack or interruption in n@tork security could materially disrupt our operatis and adversely affect our
business.

We have become increasingly dependent upon digithhologies to conduct and support our offshoeratons, and we rely on our
operational and financial computer systems to condimost all aspects of our business. Threatsitandormation technology systems
associated with cybersecurity risks and incidentstiacks continue to grow. Any failure of our camgr systems, or those of our customers,
vendors or others with whom we do business, cowterially disrupt our operations and could resulihie corruption of data or unauthorized
release of proprietary or confidential data conicgriour company, business operations and activitieents or employees. Computers and
other digital technologies could become impairedmavailable due to a variety of causes, includamgpng others, theft, design defects,
terrorist attacks, utility outages, human errocamplications encountered as existing systems aiptained, repaired, replaced or upgraded.
Any cyber-attack or interruption could have a mateadverse effect on our financial position, résof operations or cash flows, and our
reputation.

Risks Related to Our Common Shares

Our inability to pay dividends or make distributisras and when and in the amount forecasted couldda material negative impact
on our share price.

The payment of dividends or distributions to shateérs is at the discretion of members of our badidirectors (“Board of Director$;
and subject to shareholder approval as well as oflgiirements of Luxembourg law. Any dividend payrnor distribution is dependent upon
our earnings, capital requirements, financial pmsjtgeneral market conditions and numerous otheofs. Under the terms of portions of our
indebtedness, subject to certain exceptions, wénaited in our ability to pay dividends or makesttibutions, purchase or redeem our capital
stock or make other restricted payments. See lteinduidity and Capital Resources—Description nfiebtedness” and Note 4 to the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements inghisual report for a more detailed descriptiorhefterms of our debt financings. In
February 2014, our Board of Directors resolvecemmmend to our shareholders at the 2014 annuala@eneeting of shareholders a
distribution to shareholders of up to $152.0 milliin the aggregate, to be paid in 2015. On May2034, at the annual general meeting of
shareholders, the proposal was approved by thelsbigiers, with the form and timing of the distributpayments to be determined at the
discretion of the Board of Directors. In Februa®i3, in light of current market conditions, our Bodaf Directors resolved to defer the
declaration of any distribution until the Board masre clarity on market conditions and the contrgcbf uncontracted rigs. If we do not pay
dividends or make distributions to our common shalaers as and when and in the amount forecastedghare price of our common shares
may be materially adversely affected.

The rights and responsibilities of our shareholdease governed by Luxembourg law and differ in somespects from the rights and
responsibilities of shareholders under other juristions, including the United States, and shareheldights under Luxembourg law may
not be as clearly established as shareholder rigimsler the laws of other jurisdictions.

Our corporate affairs are governed by our artiolesssociation, as amended from time to time (dutic¢les”), and by the laws
governing companies incorporated in Luxembourg. fidies of our shareholders and the responsitslibieour
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Board of Directors under Luxembourg law may notbelearly established as shareholder rights uhddaws of other jurisdictions. We
anticipate that all of our shareholder meetings$ talte place in Luxembourg.

In addition, the rights of shareholders as thegteeto, for example, the exercise of shareholdgatsiare governed by Luxembourg law
and our Articles and differ from the rights of shlaolders under other jurisdictions, including theiteld States. The holders of our common
shares may have more difficulty in protecting theierests in the face of actions by the Board iné®ors than if we were incorporated in the
United States.

Because we are incorporated under the laws of Luxmarg, shareholders may face difficulty protectirtigeir interests, and their
ability to protect their rights through other interational courts, including courts in the United Stas, may be limited.

We are incorporated under the laws of Luxembound,the majority of our assets are located outdiddUnited States. As a result, it
may be difficult for investors to effect servicegrbcess within certain jurisdictions, including tbnited States, in a way that will permit a
court in such country to have jurisdiction over aisto enforce judgments against us obtained irLtl® courts, including judgments predicatec
upon the civil liability provisions of the U.S. ferhl and state securities laws. Please read IterfEb@orceability of Civil Liabilities.”

We are controlled by Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) kiited, which could result in potential conflicts dfiterest with our public
shareholders

An entity controlled by the Quantum Pacific Grougsithe beneficial owner of approximately 70.3% wf autstanding common shares
as of February 23, 2015 and is in a position tdrobactions that require the consent of our shaldgrs, including the election of directors,
amendment of our Articles and any merger or sakubstantially all of our assets. In addition, &hoé our nine Board of Directors members
also employees of affiliates of the Quantum Pac#ioup, including Mr. Ron Moskovitz, the Chairmarar Board of Directors.

There are no restrictions on the ability of the Qtuen Pacific Group to compete with us. In additipatential conflicts of interest exist
or could arise in the future for our directors ware also officers of Quantum Pacific affiliatesiwiespect to a number of areas relating to the
past and ongoing relationships of the Quantum Ra@ifoup and us. Although the affected directory miastain from voting on matters in
which our interests and those of the Quantum RaGifoup are in conflict, the presence of potertiadctual conflicts could affect the process
or outcome of the deliberations of our Board ofddtors and may have an adverse effect on our psitdiceholders.

Our controlling shareholder has pledged a signifiegportion of its shares in our company to securéaan facility. A default under
this loan facility could result in another personcguiring a significant voting interest in our Compgy and could adversely affect the market
price of our common share:

Our controlling shareholder, Quantum Pacific (Glitar Limited, has pledged a significant portionitsfshares in our Company to sec
a loan facility. This loan facility requires QuantlWPacific (Gibraltar) Limited to pledge cash cadiat if the market value of the pledged share:
falls below a certain threshold. As of February 2815, Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited has &gk¢o pledge approximately 40.2% of our
outstanding common shares to secure the loantfacuantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited may fronmi to time in the future obtain additio
loans that are secured by a pledge of additionatyemterests in our Company.

A number of factors could cause our share priagetdine, including those risks described in thigtisa, “Risk Factors,and a decline i
the market value of our common shares could trigggngin calls for these loan facilities. Failuredetay by Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar)
Limited to promptly meet any margin call or othgeets of default under these financing arrangemesitd result in the sale or other
disposition of some or all of the pledged shardsgckvcould result in one or more persons other thaantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited
acquiring the pledged shares and thereby acquérsignificant voting interest in our Company. Ferthore, due to Quantum Pacific
(Gibraltar) Limited’s significant interest in ouro@pany, the disposition of a portion or all ofptedged shares by the lender under the loan
facility or a subsequent holder of the pledged shanay adversely affect prevailing market pricegwfshares. See Item 3, “Risk Factors—
Risks Related to Our Common Shares—Sales of oummmshares in the public market could lower ouresipgice, and any additional capital
raised by us through the sale of equity or conblerSecurities may dilute our investor’'s ownershiprest in us.”

Sales of our common shares in the public market lower our share price, and any additional capitaised by us through the sale
of equity or convertible securities may dilute omvestor's ownership interest in us.

We may sell additional common shares in subsequériic offerings. We may also issue additional camrshares or convertible
securities. As of February 23, 2015, we had 213lBomissued and outstanding common shares.
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As of February 23, 2015, Quantum Pacific Group alvi®0.0 million shares, or approximately 70.3% wf total outstanding common
shares. On November 16, 2011, we entered intoistraipon rights agreement with Quantum Pacifich(@ltar) Limited which requires us to
effect the registration of its common shares inaercircumstances.

In April 2011, we issued 60.0 million common sharea private offering to international and U.Svestors (the “2011 Private
Placement”). Subsequent to the 2011 Private Placgmer common shares were traded on the NorweQid List.

In November 2011, we completed an initial publifedhg of 6.0 million common shares. In Decembet Bahe underwriters purchased
an additional 0.9 million common shares pursuarihéofull exercise of an over-allotment option. ®i@res sold in our initial public offering
and pursuant to the underwriters’ over-allotmeritaspare listed on the New York Stock Exchange (th¥SE”).

As of February 23, 2015, approximately 57.6 millmmmmon shares had migrated from the Norwegian O%tto the NYSE and are
now freely trading in the U.S. public market.

In March 2012, we filed a registration statemernthwie U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission“8E€”) on Form S-8 providing
for the registration of 7.2 million common sharssuied or reserved for issuance under our stocktireeplan. In March 2014, we filed a
registration statement with the SEC on Form S-8tend and restate our stock incentive plan to @#ser¢he total number of common shares
issued or reserved for issuance from 7.2 millioa%® million. Subject to the satisfaction of vagtconditions, common shares registered
under this registration statement on Form S-8 wadable for resale immediately in the public manké&hout restriction.

We cannot predict the size of future issuancesiotommon shares or the effect, if any, that futsseances and sales of our common
shares will have on the market price of our commslmares. Sales of substantial amounts of our conghares (including any common shares
registered pursuant to the registration rights ement with Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited, astyares transferred by shareholders on the
Norwegian OTC to the NYSE, any common shares regidton Form -8, any shares issued in connection with an adtprisbr any other
sales of common shares in the public market), @p#rception that such sales could occur, may adleaffect prevailing market prices of our
common shares.

We are a “foreign private issuer” and “controlledaampany” under the NYSE rules, and as such, we antitted to exemption from
certain NYSE corporate governance standards, anddstors may not have the same protections afforttestockholders of companies that
are subject to all of the NYSE corporate governarreguirements.

We are a “foreign private issuer” under the semsitaws of the United States and the rules oNKW&E. Under the NYSE rules, a
“foreign private issuer” is subject to less stringeorporate governance requirements than a doerisstier. Subject to certain exceptions, the
rules of the NYSE permit a “foreign private issutr’follow its home country practice in lieu of th&ting requirements of the NYSE. In
addition, Quantum Pacific Group controls a majoatyur outstanding common shares. As a resulangeconsidered a “controlled company”
within the meaning of the NYSE corporate governastaadards. Based on the foregoing we may eledbrmimply with certain NYSE
corporate governance requirements, including @)éguirement that a majority of the board of diwex consist of independent directors,

(2) the requirement that all independent direcioegt in executive session at least once a yeathé3equirement that the
nominating/corporate governance committee be coetpentirely of independent directors and have #eawricharter addressing the
committee’s purpose and responsibilities, (4) gwuirement that the compensation committee be ceetpentirely of independent directors
and have a written charter addressing the comnstpepose and responsibilities and (5) the requémrt of an annual performance evaluation
of the nominating and corporate governance and eosgiion committees. As permitted by these exemgptias well as by our bylaws and the
laws of Luxembourg, we currently have a compensatmmmittee with one or more non-independent dimscserving as committee members.
As a result, non-independent directors, may, anathgr things, fix the compensation of our managemaake common share and option
awards and resolve governance issues regardingpoysany. Accordingly, in the future, investors nmay have the same protections afforded
to stockholders of companies that are subjectl tof she NYSE corporate governance requirements.

As a “foreign private issuer,” we are exempt frommamber of rules under the U.S. securities laws aae permitted to file less
information with the SEC than U.S. public companie®his may limit the information available to holds of our common shares.

As a “foreign private issuer,” we are not subjecall of the disclosure requirements applicabledmpanies organized within the United
States. For example, we are exempt from certagsmuhder the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, anded (the “Exchange Act”), that
regulate disclosure obligations and proceduralirements related to the solicitation of proxiespgents or authorizations applicable to a
security registered under the Exchange Act. Intaddiour officers and directors are exempt from thporting and “short-swing” profit
recovery provisions of Section 16 of the Exchangeakhd related rules with respect to their purchasal sales of our securities. Moreover, wi
are not required to file periodic reports
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and financial statements with the SEC as frequarths promptly as U.S. public companies. Accorgintpere may be less information
concerning our Company publicly available thaneherfor U.S. public companies.

Tax Risks

Changes in tax laws, treaties or regulations or a&ise outcomes resulting from examination of our teeturns could adversely affect
our financial results.

Our future effective tax rates could be adversélyctéed by changes in tax laws, treaties and réiguls, both in the United States and
internationally. Tax laws, treaties and regulatians highly complex and subject to interpretatidansequently, we are subject to changing ta
laws, treaties and regulations in and between ci@snnh which we operate or are resident. Our ine¢ax expense is based upon the
interpretation of the tax laws in effect in varia@intries at the time that the expense was induikehange in these tax laws, treaties or
regulations, or in the interpretation thereof, dordsult in a materially higher tax expense orghér effective tax rate on our worldwide
earnings. If any country successfully challengeasimeome tax filings based on our structure, avéf otherwise lose a material tax dispute, out
effective tax rate on worldwide earnings could @age substantially and our financial results cbeldnaterially adversely affected.

We may not be able to make distributions withoubgecting our shareholders to Luxembourg withholdirtgx.

If we are not successful in our efforts to makéritistions, if any, through a withholding tax fresduction of share capital or share
premium (the absence of withholding on such distidns is subject to certain requirements), thgndividends paid by us will generally be
subject to a Luxembourg withholding tax at a réet&%% (17.65% if the dividend tax is not withhetdrh the shareholder) (subject to the
reductions/exceptions discussed under Item 10 “fl@xa-Material Luxembourg Tax Considerations for UHblders of Common Shares—
Exemption from Luxembourg Withholding Tax"Jhe withholding tax must be withheld from the grdgstribution and paid to the Luxembol
tax authorities. Under current Luxembourg tax laweduction of share capital or share premium isabject to Luxembourg withholding tax
provided that certain conditions are met, includiiog example, the condition that we do not hawtritiutable reserves or profits. However,
there can be no assurance that our shareholdémppilove such a reduction in share capital orespegmium, that we will be able to meet the
other legal requirements for a reduction in shaggtal or share premium, or that Luxembourg taxhtadiding rules will not be changed in the
future. In addition, over the long term, the amoafnshare capital and share premium available $aowse for capital reductions will be
limited. If we are unable to make a distributiorotigh a withholding tax free reduction in shareitzdpr share premium, we may not be abl
make distributions without subjecting our sharebaddo Luxembourg withholding taxes.

U.S. tax authorities could treat us as a “passiwadign investment company,” which could have adwetd.S. federal income tax
consequences to U.S. holders.

A foreign corporation will be treated as a “pasdimeeign investment company,” or PFIC, for U.S.d&l income tax purposes if either
(1) at least 75% of its gross income for any tagataar consists of certain types of “passive incoong?2) at least 50% of the average value of
the corporation’s assets for any taxable year predu are held for the production of those typepatsive income.” For purposes of these
tests, “passive incomeéficludes dividends, interest and gains from the salexchange of investment property and rentgayualties other tha
certain rents and royalties that are received foomelated parties in connection with the activeduan of a trade or business, but does not
include income derived from the performance of e, U.S. shareholders of a PFIC are subjectiisaivantageous U.S. federal income tax
regime with respect to the income derived by theECPEhe distributions they receive from the PFI6d @he gain, if any, they derive from the
sale or other disposition of their interests in BdC.

We believe that we are not a PFIC for the curraxalle year and will not be a PFIC during any feitiatxable year. Based on our
operations described herein, all or a substantiglgn of our income from offshore contract dritliservices should be treated as services
income and not as passive income, and thus albabsatantial portion of the assets that we ownag®gtate in connection with the production
of that income should not constitute passive asgmatpurposes of determining whether we are a PH@wvever, this involves a facts and
circumstances analysis and it is possible thatRISewould not agree with this conclusion. See lign“Taxation—Material U.S. Federal
Income Tax Considerations for Holders of Commonr&ha- U.S. Holders—Passive Foreign Investment Compares.”
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ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
A. HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT OF THE COMPANY
The Company

Pacific Drilling S.A. was formed on March 11, 205k, a Luxembourg company in the form afoziété anonymender the Luxembourg
law of 10 August 1915 on commercial companies,nasraled, to act as an indirect holding company fwrRredecessor. Our common shares
have been trading on the Norwegian OTC List sinpel®011 and on the NYSE since November 2011. @incipal executive offices are
located at 8-10, Avenue de la Gare, L-1610 Luxemdpand our telephone number is +352 27 85 81 3b.a@ent in Luxembourg is Centralis
S.A.

History and Business Development

Our Predecessor was formed in Liberia in 2006 asd&pendent operating subsidiary of a predecdesbe Quantum Pacific Group.
The principals of the Quantum Pacific Group hagmificant holdings in various global industries s&s energy, oil refining, transportation
and commodities.

Our initial investment in the ultra-deepwater dinilj industry in 2006 was through the purchase difiliship under construction by SHI
and the later exercise of an option for a secoiildip.

In 2007, we formed TPDI with Transocean, and the dwillships then under construction were transfétinto TPDI. We formed a
construction management team to oversee activitidtge SHI shipyard that was then seconded to B@ean, who assumed responsibility for
management of construction and operation of the®RDI drillships through a contract with TPDI.

In 2008, a decision was made to expand our a@#viti the ultra-deepwater segment to include ojerand marketing of drilling
services for our other drillships, tRacific Boraand thePacific Mistral, for which construction contracts were acquire@0@97 and were not
included in TPDI. As part of this strategy, we aicgd additional contracts with SHI to construct tmore ultra-deepwater drillships, the
Pacific Scirocccand thePacific Santa Ana

In the beginning of 2011, we determined that it lddaenefit us to reincorporate in a better recogghiand more attractive jurisdiction
potential investors with a more developed and adedmody of law. On March 30, 2011, we completedRstructuring and in connection
with the Restructuring, Quantum Pacific Group cibtied our Predecessor to us. In the beginningaf.2we also determined that it was in
our best interest to focus on the operation andketiaug of our wholly-owned fleet. On March 30, 20%&e completed the TPDI Transfer,
pursuant to which all of our equity interest in TIRias transferred to a wholly-owned subsidiarytaf Quantum Pacific Group for no
consideration. As a result, neither we nor anywfsubsidiaries currently own any interest in TPDI.

Since establishing our initial fleet of the fouilldhips discussed above, we ordered four additidriiships, and placed six of the eight
drillships into service. For more information orr dieet and drilling contracts, see Item 4, “Busis®verview—Contract Backlog” and
“Property, Plant and Equipment—Our Fleet.”

Debt and Equity Financings

In September 2010, we entered into the ProjectiffesiAgreement (“PFA”) with a group of lendersftoance the construction,
operation and other costs associated withPtheific Bora, thePacific Mistral, thePacific Sciroccaand thePacific Santa AnaDuring 2010
and 2011, we borrowed an aggregate of $1.725 millieder the PFA.

In April 2011, we completed the 2011 Private Plaeahof 60.0 million common shares for net procesfdspproximately
$575.5 million. As a result of this offering, owwramon shares began trading on the Norwegian OTQohig\pril 5, 2011.

In November 2011, we completed an initial publifedhg of 6.0 million common shares. In Decembet Pahe underwriters purchased
an additional 0.9 million common shares pursuarnhéofull exercise of an over-allotment option. Thiéial public offering resulted in net
proceeds of approximately $50.3 million. As a resfithis offering, our common shares began tradinghe NYSE on November 11, 2011
under the ticker symbol “PACDAs of February 23, 2015, approximately 57.6 millafrour common shares had migrated from the Norare
OTC List to the NYSE.

In February 2012, we completed a private placeraB$800.0 million in aggregate principal amounBd?5% senior unsecured U.S.
dollar denominated bonds due in 2015. As of Felyr@8r 2015, the senior unsecured bonds had belgrréplaid.
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In November 2012, we completed a private placeroefi500.0 million in aggregate principal amounZd5% senior secured U.S.
dollar denominated notes due in 2017. In connedtiibim this private placement, we listed the 2017Ai8eSecured Notes on the Global
Exchange Market of the Irish Stock Exchange.

In February 2013, we signed the $1 billion SSCHwaigroup of lenders to finance the constructigeration and expenses associated
with thePacific Sharawand thePacific Meltem As of February 23, 2015, we had borrowings of@%8million outstanding under the SSCF.
Undrawn commitments of approximately $100.0 milligii become available under the SSCF upon theyento at least a one-year drilling
contract for thédacific Meltemf drawn before May 10, 2015.

In June 2013, we completed three related but disfinancing transactions totaling $2.0 billion.e€rtransactions included (i) $750.0
million in 5.375% senior secured notes due 2020a($750.0 million senior secured institutionaihtdoan with a 2018 maturity and (iii) a
$500.0 million senior secured revolving credit fiaigialso maturing in 2018. A portion of the nebpeeds from the senior secured notes an
senior secured institutional term loan were usedlty repay the outstanding borrowings under tié\Rthe “PFA Refinancing”). The senior
secured revolving credit facility, as amended (@13 Revolving Credit Facility"), permits loanshie extended up to a maximum sublimit of
$300.0 million and permits letters of credit toibgued up to a maximum sublimit of $300.0 millisobject to a $500.0 million overall facility
limit.

In October 2014, we entered into a $500.0 millievotving credit facility for pre-delivery, delivegnd post-delivery financing of the
Pacific Zondeand other general corporate purposes (the "2014lRayg Credit Facility"). The 2014 Revolving Credhacility provides for
loans up to a maximum of $500.0 million (limitedatanaximum of $350.0 million prior to delivery dfetPacific Zondaand entering into a
satisfactory drilling contract for the drillshignd has a maturity date of five years after thevdel of thePacific Zonda

Capital Expenditures

During the three most recent fiscal years, our Caamg{s capital expenditures were $2.5 billion . Weded these capital expenditures
with net proceeds of the debt and equity financiligsussed above and operating cash flows. We expeproject cost for theacific Zonda
to be approximately $634.1 milliariThe estimate of the project costs includes comsimngng and testing and other costs related taltliship,
but excludes capitalized interest. As of Decemle2B14, there were approximately $410.9 milliomeshaining project costs for tiacific
Zondaof which approximately $336.4 million is remainiogntractual commitments to SHI. We intend to firattee approximately $410.9
million in remaining project costs for thacific Zondawith a combination of existing cash balances, ®imperating cash flows and financing
available under the existing credit facilities. Foore information on our capital requirements, Isem 5, “Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

B. BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are an international offshore drilling contractommitted to becoming the preferred providerfidlwre drilling services to the oil
and natural gas industry through the use of higteigigation rigs. Our primary business is to coatraur high-specification rigs, related
equipment and work crews, primarily on a dayratgiddo drill wells for our clients. Led by a teaiseasoned professionals with significant
experience in the oil services and higtecification drilling sectors, we specialize ie technically demanding segments of the offshaitiéndr
business.

We are primarily focused on the high-specificati@gment of the floating rig market. The term “hggecification,” as used in the
floating rig drilling industry to denote a partiamlsegment of the market, can vary and continuesdtve with technological improvements.
We generally consider high-specification requiretaga include rigs in water depths of more thard@,feet or projects requiring advanced
operating capabilities, such as high hook-load9(>t®ns), large
accommodations (200+ beds), increased mud storaypuamping capacity, and high deck-load and spapatilities. While not currently a
core focus for our business, our drillships are akpable of operating in harsh environment amehsere there are typically rougher sea
conditions.

Drilling Contracts for our Fleet

The current status of our contracted drillshipgsgollows:

» ThePacific Boraentered service in Nigeria on August 26, 2011 uraddaree-year contract with a subsidiary of CheviorAugust
2014, the parties agreed to extend the contract terAugust 2016.

* ThePacific Sciroccaentered service in Nigeria on December 31, 201uadne-year contract with a subsidiary of Totakough
the exercise of several options, Total has extetitedontract term to January 2017.

e ThePacific Santa Anantered service in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico on May@12 under a five-year contract with a subsidafry
Chevron.

« ThePacific Khamsirentered service in Nigeria on December 17, 201&uadwoyear contract with a subsidiary of Chevi
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e ThePacific Sharawentered service in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico on Augig, 2014 under a five-year contract with a sulbsjdof
Chevron.

Available and Newbuild Drillships
The Pacific Mistralcompleted its three-year contract in Brazil on leeby 5, 2015 with Petrobras and is currently abédla

ThePacific Meltemwas delivered on November 25, 2014, and is cugrendbilizing to the Atlantic Basin. Thieacific Meltemcurrently
does not have a contract.

ThePacific Zondas currently under construction at SHI, and is sicihed for delivery in the third quarter of 2015.

Offshore Drilling Industry

Because our drillships are highly mobile, our flepérates in a single, global market segment #iptiovision of contract drilling
services to the deepwater and ultra-deepwater eta and production industry. Deepwater and wdizapwater drillships typically compete
in many of the same geographies as high-specificatmi-submersible rigs. However, newer ultra-dexder drillships like those in our fleet
generally have greater load capacity and are motaleithan semi-submersible rigs, making them bstiéed for drilling in remote locations
where re-supply is more difficult and for exploaatiprograms that require frequent rig relocatiolh ofAour drillships are self-propelled and
dynamically positioned and have large carrying cé@paAlthough our long-term view of the offshoralting market remains favorable, and
particularly for high-specification assets, baspdruour customers’ decisions to delay various extien and development programs, coupled
with the recent significant and rapid decline ihpsices, we currently expect the pace of executirigjing contracts for the global floater fleet
to remain stagnant in the near to mid term, resyllith excess capacity, lower dayrates and idle foneome rigs. This excess capacity may
result in some older, lower capability assets @itidustry being permanently retired, which maymately reduce some of the available suppl
of drilling rigs by our competitors. The locatiohaur drillships and the allocation of resourcedtild or upgrade rigs will be determined by
the activities and needs of our clients. Currertly, five contracted drillships are operating ia tteepwater regions of the U.S. Gulf of Mexico
and Nigeria, which are among the most active detgviasins in the world.

As of December 31, 2014, tiRacific Bora, thePacific Sciroccaand thePacific Khamsinwere located offshore Nigeria, tRacific
Mistral was located offshore Brazil, and tRacific Santa Anand thePacific Sharawvere located offshore the United States. Pheific
Meltemis currently mobilizing to the Atlantic Basin arttetPacific Zondas located in South Korea, where it is under carcsion by SHI.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2012@bd , the percentage of revenues earned by geugrarea, based on drilling
location, is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Nigeria 60.2% 52.1% 63.€%
Gulf of Mexico 24.5% 26.1% 14.2%
Brazil 15.2% 21.8% 22.1%

Our Business Strategies

Our principal business objective is to increaseedader value through becoming the preferred plevof high-specification, floating

rig drilling services to the oil and natural gadustry. We expect to achieve this objective throtighfollowing strategies:

- Establish position as the preferred h-specification, floating rig drilling contractor wh newly built unitsHigh-specification
drilling units are specifically designed to meet tequirements of our clients for drilling wellsdeepwater basins and complex
geological formations and for drilling wells withallenging profiles. In addition, we believe thatr mew, highspecification drilling
units have a competitive advantage over older uhitsto their improved safety and environmentatquotion features, greater
efficiency and enhanced mobility. We believe thatean develop an enduring competitive advantageititr the unique
combination of consistent high-quality, high-spegifion assets, focus on excellence in operatiodssapport activities, and world-
class management systems.

- Capitalize on increased exploration and developnaetitity in offshore basindVe anticipate that the demand for hydrocarbons
increases over the long-term resulting in the rétecline of mature producing basins. As a residtpelieve there will be an
increasing emphasis on offshore exploration ane@ld@wment to exploit new and
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attractive prospects. Major discoveries in deepmeaatel subsalt basins over the last decade, togeittetechnological advances tl
make offshore exploratory and development actiwitiore economical, have increased potential dexreopopportunities for
advanced drilling services. We believe that advdrrédling capabilities of our high-specificatiofioating drilling units will further
our ability to secure long-term contracts in theufa.

Develop strategic relationships with h-quality clientsWe expect to derive a significant portion of outufie revenue from
contracts with major international and nationalogimpanies and large well-capitalized independepioeation and production
companies. These clients tend to take a long-t@pnoach to the development of substantial hydramaftmds with multi-year
development programs as well as multi-year capitpkenditure commitments, which we believe will emtethe likelihood of our
securing attractive long-term drilling contracts.November 2012, we entered into an Internationaster Service Agreement
(“IMA™) with Chevron. The IMA governs our relatiohgp with Chevron for th&acific Khamsin contains provisions for future
requirements and simplifies the process of entant@new drilling contracts, which increases tielihood of securing future
drilling contracts with Chevron.

Company Strengths

We have a number of strengths that we believehgilp us to successfully execute our business gteste

New and technologically advanced fleOur fleet is comprised of some of the newest andt@zhnologically advanced drillships
in the world. Each of our premium, high-specifioatdrillships is designed to operate in water depthup to 12,000 feet.
Furthermore, our ultra-deepwater drillships arépeadpelled, dynamically positioned and suitableddlling in remote locations.
Our drillships are expected to achieve fasteridglbnd shorter transportation times between lonatrelative to older units in the
market.

Uniformity of assets supports competitive costcitme and optimal revenue captufiéne uniformity of our assets enables efficient
and streamlined labor, maintenance, supply chainogerating support systems, which we believe allidw us to develop and
maintain a competitive cost structure and maxinizerevenue capture. The similarity of our shipigies allows for interoperabilit
among our crews and operating systems, which alloermbers of our crew to serve interchangeably grofour drillships.
Additionally, our drillships’ consistent technicgbecifications and equipment make spare partscimigeable, which reduces the
capital requirements associated with keeping spares in stock, lowering maintenance and supplyncbasts.

Strong backlog with credit-worthy counterparti®ge have and are continuing to develop a strongweyéacklog that currently
consists of contracts for four of our drillshipsthva subsidiary of Chevron and a contract for aherodrillship with a subsidiary of
Total. As of February 23, 2015, our contract baglda thePacific Bora, thePacific Sciroccg thePacific Santa AnathePacific
Khamsinand thePacific Sharawnder these contracts was approximately $2.3 hilMye believe these high-quality client
commitments and potential extensions of these aotstmwill provide us with a strong cash flow ongtelrillships for the next
several years.

Demonstrated ability to maintain relationships witlue chip clientsWe believe we have continued to maintain stronatiaiships
with our clients, as demonstrated by the four sapadrilling contracts we have entered into withssdiaries of Chevron and the
extensions by Total and Chevron. We believe thagbility to maintain relationships with blue chifients and the long-term
demand for deepwater drilling capacity in estatdélnd emerging basins will provide us with oppaittes to contract our
drillships under construction and maintain theizdtion of our drillships in the future.

Experienced and international management teOur management team has extensive industry exgerigmerating in locations
worldwide and in the offshore drilling industry.i®rto joining us, certain members of our senionagement team have worked at
Transocean Ltd., Schlumberger Limited, Noble Caaion, Ensco plc and Pride International Inc. Idifidn to the members of the
management team, we have an experienced staffemimegsconstruction of theacific Zondaand highly trained personnel operating
our drillships that have commenced operations. Wieve that our management team’s significant égpee, technical expertise
and strong client relationships, and the functiategdth throughout our organization, enhance ouitybd deliver superior service
our clients and effectively operate on a globalsas

Risk Factors

We face a number of risks associated with our lssimnd industry and must overcome a variety dfectgges to utilize our strengths
and implement our business strategies. Thesenetki® to, among others, changes in the offshanga@ct drilling industry, including supply
and demand, utilization rates, dayrates, cliedlirmyiprograms and commodity prices; a downturthia global economy; hazards inherent in
our industry and operations resulting in liabifity personal injury or loss of life, damage to esttuction of property and equipment, pollution
or environmental damage; inability to comply withvenants in our debt agreements; inability to foeaoapital projects; and inability to
successfully employ our drillships.
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Readers should carefully consider the followinggsighose other risks described in Item 3, “Risktbes” and the other information in
this annual report:

» The demand for our services depends on the thaattivity in the offshore oil and natural gagluistry, which is significantly
affected by oil and natural gas prices and othetofa beyond our control.

«  The price of oil may remain low for an extengietiod of time, or may decrease further, leadintpieer capital expenditures by our
clients over multiple years and rendering someiptesly anticipated deepwater projects uneconomic.

«  Our current backlog of contract drilling revenueymnmat be fully realizet

*  We may not be able to secure future drillingtcacts or extensions to existing drilling contramtscommercially favorable terms or
at all.

* An oversupply of rigs competing with our rigsubth depress the demand and contract prices fa-diepwater rigs and could
adversely affect our financial position, resultopgrations or cash flows.

 We have a limited asset base and currently relymorclient accounts. The loss of any client or gigant downtime on any drillshi
could adversely affect our financial position, désof operations or cash flows.

Clients

Offshore exploration and production is a capitémsive, high-risk industry. Operating and purswpgortunities in deepwater basins
significantly increases the amount of capital reegiito effectively conduct such operations. Assallte a significant number of the most active
participants in this segment of the offshore exation and production industry are either nationlat@mpanies, major oil and gas companie
well-capitalized large independent oil and gas canmgs. We expect that our future clients will bdlwapitalized companies, including state-
owned national oil and gas companies, major intedrail and gas companies and large independentdefipanies.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2012@h@ , the percentage revenues earned from amntghvas as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Chevron 67.4% 55.6% 45.(%
Total 17.2% 22.6% 32.%
Petrobras 15.2% 21.8% 22.1%

Contract Backlog

Our contract backlog includes firm commitments omipich are represented by signed drilling consa8s of February 23, 2015, our
contract backlog was approximately $2.3 billion avats attributable to revenues we expect to generathePacific Bora, thePacific
Scirocco, thePacific Santa AnathePacific Khamsirand thePacific Sharawnder drilling contracts with Chevron and Total. d&dculate our
contract backlog by multiplying the contractual cg by the minimum number of days committed utidercontracts (excluding options to
extend), assuming full utilization, and also inéhgimobilization fees, upgrade reimbursements dhdraevenue sources, such as the standb
rate during upgrades, as stipulated in the apgkoatntract.

The actual amounts of revenues earned and thel petiads during which revenues are earned magifbm the amounts and periods
shown in the table below due to various factorsluiging shipyard and maintenance projects, downtmgother factors. Our contracts
customarily provide for termination at the electafrthe client with an “early termination paymetd”be paid to us if a contract is terminated
prior to the expiration of the fixed term. Howevender certain limited circumstances, such as detstn of a drilling rig, our bankruptcy,
sustained unacceptable performance by us or dglofea rig beyond certain grace and/or liquidatathdges periods, an early termination
payment is not required to be paid. Accordinglg, #dttual amount of revenues earned may be suladbafdiver than the backlog reported.
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The firm commitments that comprise our $2.3 billmmtract backlog as of February 23, 2015, arelésis:

Average
Contract
Backlog Expected
Contracted Contract Contractual Revenue Contract Contract
Rig Location Client Backlog © Dayrate ® Per Day® Commencement Duration
Pacific Bora Nigeria Chewron $  330,866,00 $ 585,860 $ 602,00( August 26, 2011 5 years
Pacific Scirocco  Nigeria Total $ 341,282,000 $ 498,900 $ 499,00 December 31, 2011 5 years and 8 days
Pacific Santa Ana y_s. Gulf of Mexico Chevron $  439,583,00 $ 489,52¢ $ 552,001 March 21, 2012 5 years and 38 days
Pacific Khamsin  Nigeria Chevron $  221,88300 $ 660,000 $ 750,00 December 17, 2013 2 years
Pacific Sharav s, Gulf of Mexico Chevron $ 1,005893,00 $ 558,42( $ 611,00 August 27, 2014 5 years

(a) Rounded to the nearest $1,000. Based on signéaglcbntracts and signed commitments as furtheciileed abowv:
(b) Based on current contractual dayrate amounts, cullgi@ny applicable escalation provisic

Drilling Contracts

We provide drilling services on a “dayrate” contrhasis. We do not provide “turnkey” or other risksed drilling services. Under
dayrate contracts, the drilling contractor providedrilling rig and rig crews and charges the dleefixed amount per day regardless of the
number of days needed to drill the well. The cliesars substantially all of the ancillary costgofstructing the well and supporting drilling
operations, as well as the economic risk relativihé success of the well. In addition, dayrateremts usually provide for a lump sum amount
for mobilizing the rig to the well location and educed dayrate when drilling operations are intged or restricted by equipment breakdowns
adverse weather conditions or other conditions bdéybe contractor’s control. A dayrate drilling ¢é@tt generally covers either the drilling of
a single well or group of wells or has a statethtéFhese contracts may generally be terminateddylient in the event the drilling unit is
damaged, destroyed or lost or if drilling operasi@me suspended for an extended period of timeesudt of a breakdown of equipment, “force
majeure” events beyond the control of either partypon the occurrence of other specified condstidn addition, drilling contracts with
certain clients may be cancelable, without causth, Mtle or no prior notice but are usually sutijéo early termination payments. In some
instances, the dayrate contract term may be extelnyléhe client exercising options for the drillinfadditional wells or for an additional
length of time at fixed or mutually agreed ternmgluding dayrates.

Our drilling contracts are the result of negotiaiavith our clients and have been awarded upon etitive bidding. Our existing
drilling contracts contain, among others, the feilog commercial terms: (i) contract duration extegdover a specific period of time; (ii) term
extension options in favor of our client, generalpon advance notice to us, at mutually agreeaxed or fixed rates; (iii) provisions
permitting early termination of the contract if ttielling unit is lost or destroyed, if operatioase suspended for an extended period of time
to breakdown of major rig equipment, unsatisfacfpeyformance or “force majeure” events beyond awmtrol and the control of the client;
(iv) provisions allowing early termination of therdract by the client without cause with a speditarly termination fee in the form of a
reduced rate for a specified period of time; (\Qvisions requiring us to reimburse the client ®agonable costs to obtain a replacement dr
unit in the event of termination for cause, subjech cap which decreases with the duration ofrectit(vi) payment of compensation to us
(generally in U.S. dollars although some contraetgiire a portion of the compensation to be paidéal currency) on a “dayratdfasis (lowe!
rates or no compensation generally apply duringpdsrof equipment breakdown and repair or in thenéwperations are suspended or
interrupted by other specified conditions, some/bich may be beyond our control); (vii) paymentusyof the operating expenses of the
drilling unit, including crew labor and incidentad supply costs; (viii) provisions allowing usitecover certain labor and other operating cost
increases from our clients through dayrate adjustraeotherwise; (ix) provisions requiring us t@pide a performance guarantee; and
(x) indemnity provisions between us and our clientespect of third party claims and risk allooat between us and our clients relating to
damages, claims or losses to us, our clients ot farties. Our indemnification may not cover ahthges, claims or losses to us or third
parties, and the indemnifying party may not haviicgent resources to cover its indemnificationighations. See also Item 3, “Risk Factors—
Risks Related to Our Business—Our clients may tablenor unwilling to indemnify us.”

Our drilling contracts provide for varying levelindemnification from our clients and in most caseay require us to indemnify our
clients. Under our drilling contracts, liability thirespect to personnel and property is customas$jgned on a “knock-for-knockiasis, whicl
means that we and our clients assume liabilityoforrespective personnel and property. Howeveseitain drilling contracts we assume
liability for damage to our client’s property anther third-party property on the rig resulting fraervices provided under the contract, subjec
to negotiated caps per occurrence, and in othdraxias we are not indemnified by our clients fomdae to their property and, accordingly,
could be liable for any such damage under
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applicable law. In addition, our clients typicalhdemnify us for damage to our equipment down-hafel in some cases our subsea equipmet
generally based on replacement cost minus somedédepreciation.

Our clients typically assume responsibility for andemnify us from any loss or liability resultifigm pollution or contamination,
including clean-up and removal and thpdrty damages, arising from operations under tiéract and originating below the surface of thel
or water, including as a result of blow-outs ortering of the well. In some drilling contracts, hewer, we may have liability for damages
resulting from such pollution or contamination caadi®y our gross negligence, or, in some caseqamdnegligence. The indemnification
provisions typically found in our drilling contracis only a summary as of the date hereof andrisrgéin nature. The terms of our drilling
contracts may change in the future. In additioa,ittdemnification provisions of our drilling contta may be subject to differing
interpretations, and enforcement of those provisioay be limited by public policy and other conséidi®ns.

Competition

The contract drilling industry is highly competigivDemand for contract drilling and related serviceinfluenced by a number of
factors, including the current and expected prafesil and natural gas and the expenditures o&ind natural gas companies for exploration
development of oil and natural gas. In additiormded for drilling services remains dependent oaréety of political and economic factors
beyond our control, including worldwide demand ddrand natural gas, the ability of OPEC to set araintain production levels and pricing,
the level of production of no®PEC countries, local infrastructure and humanuess constraints, and the policies of the vargmsernment
regarding exploration and development of theiaoill natural gas reserves.

We are primarily focused on the ultra-deepwaterketabut may also compete to provide services @talier depths than ultra-
deepwater. Our competition ranges from large imtitonal companies offering a wide range of drillengd other oilfield services to smaller,
locally owned companies. Competition for offshor#lidg rigs is usually on a global basis, as theffehore drilling rigs are highly mobile and
may be moved from one region to another in resptmdemand.

Drilling contracts are generally awarded on a catitipe bid or negotiated basis. Pricing is ofter girimary factor in determining which
qualified contractor is awarded a job; however aigilability, capabilities, age and each contréstsafety performance record and reputation
for quality also can be key factors in the deteation. Operators also may consider crew experigacénical and engineering support, rig
location and efficiency, as well as long-term rielaships with major international oil companies awadional oil companies.

We believe that the market for drilling contractd wontinue to be highly competitive for the foeesable future. We believe that our f
of newly constructed premium high-specificationlghips provides us with a competitive advantageraompetitors with older fleets, as high-
specification drilling units are generally bettaited to meet the requirements of clients for mgjlin deepwater, complex geological formati
with challenging well profiles. However, certainngpetitors may have greater financial resources Weado, which may enable them to better
withstand periods of low utilization and competermeffectively on the basis of price.

Seasonality

In general, seasonal factors do not have a sigmifidirect effect on our business as most of aillingy units are contracted for periods
at least 12 months.

Insurance

The contract drilling industry is subject to hazaiaherent in the drilling of oil and natural gaslls, including blowouts and well fires,
which could cause personal injury, suspend drilbpgrations, or seriously damage or destroy thégewent involved. Offshore drilling
operations are also subject to hazards particalararine operations including capsizing, groundaadljsion and loss or damage from severe
weather. While we maintain insurance to protectdyiliships in the areas in which we operate, éenalitical risks and other environmental
risks are not fully insurable. We maintain insumucoverage that includes coverage for hull and macj, marine liabilities, third party
liability, workers’ compensation and employer'shiiity, general liability, vessel pollution and @thcoverages.

Our insurance coverage includes deductibles thahus pay or absorb. Our hull and machinery deblects $5 million, except as may
be required by our drilling contracts. The insuaadounts for the drillships are determined by mamaage and reevaluated annually. The
minimum insured values are determined by the requénts of our financing agreements and at theetisorof management. As of February
23, 2015, the combined insured values ofRBeific Bora, thePacific Sciroccq thePacific Mistral, thePacific Santa Anathe Pacific
Khamsin, thePacific Sharavand thePacific Meltemwas approximately $4.9 billion. We also maintaisdof hire insurance which carries a 45
day waiting period and an annual
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aggregate limit of 180 days. We also maintain mtxde and indemnity (P&I) coverage for an aggregatmunt of $500.0 million with the Ge
P&I Club for our drillships. The deductible for Pé#lated claims are $10,000 per event for clainasight before foreign jurisdictions,
$100,000 per event for claims brought before a iSsdiction outside the Gulf of Mexico and $25000per event for claims brought before a
U.S. jurisdiction within the Gulf of Mexico. We setiule our Gulf of Mexico marine liabilities (othgran the P&I and the general liability with
the Gard P&l Club) to an excess liability programn & limit of $650.0 million. In addition, we hapeocured insurance coverage for onshore
general liability, employer’s liability, auto lidity and non-owned aircraft liability, with customyadeductibles and coverage. These policies
renew annually and are scheduled to our excesétiigirogram.

Our insurance is subject to exclusions and limategj and our insurance coverage may not adequataigct us against liability from all
potential consequences and damages. We believeuhatsurance coverage is customary for the ingstd adequate for our business.
However, there are risks that such insurance willagequately protect us against or may not bdablaito cover all of the liability from all of
the consequences and hazards we may encounter @pexations.

Environmental and Other Regulatory Issues

Our operations are subject to stringent and congmslie federal, state, local and foreign or intéomal laws and regulations including
those governing the discharge of oil and otheramitiants into the environment or otherwise relatimgnvironmental protection.

United States

Applicable laws in the United States with which mast comply include the OPA, OCSLA, CERCLA, Fedé&kéiter Pollution Control
Act (commonly referred to as the Clean Water AGWA”") and MARPOL, as each has been amended frora tortime. Numerous
governmental agencies, which in the United Statelside, among others, the DOI, BOEM, BSEE, U.S.s€@Guard and U.S. Environmental
Protection Agency (“EPA”)issue regulations to implement and enforce enviemtal laws, which often require difficult and cgstbmpliance
measures that carry substantial administrativél, @hd criminal penalties or may result in injunetirelief for failure to comply. Moreover, it is
possible that changes in these environmental ladgegulations or any enforcement policies thatdsgpadditional or more restrictive
requirements or claims for damages to personsgptyymatural resources or the environment cowuddltén substantial costs and liabilities to
us. We believe that we are in substantial compéamith currently applicable environmental laws aegdulations.

The OPA and regulations promulgated pursuant tbéngbose a variety of regulations on “responsilagips” related to the prevention
and/or reporting of oil spills and liability for deages resulting from such spills in waters of timitédl States. Under OPA, the “responsible
party” includes the owner or operator of an onshtiacdity, pipeline or vessel or the lessee or péra of the area in which an offshore facility
is located. OPA assigns liability to each respdesiarty for oil removal costs and a variety of jiwlnd private damages. Under OPA, “tank
vessels” of over 3,000 gross tons that carry odtber hazardous materials in bulk as cargo arsuto liability limits of (i) for a singldaulled
vessel, the greater of $3,200 per gross ton o5®28lion or (i) for a tank vessel other than agle-hulled vessel, the greater of $2,000 per
gross ton or $17.1 million. “Tank vessels” of 3,0§#0ss tons or less are subject to liability linufgi) for a single-hulled vessel, the greater of
$3,200 per gross ton or $6.4 million or (ii) fotaak vessel other than a single-hulled vesselgtbater of $2,000 per gross ton or $4.3 million.
For any vessels, other than “tank vessdlgt are subject to OPA, the liability limits ahetgreater of $1,000 per gross ton or $854,400arky
cannot take advantage of liability limits if thellspras caused by gross negligence or willful misdoct or resulted from violation of a federal
safety, construction or operating regulation. & tharty fails to report a spill or to cooperatéyfih the cleanup, the liability limits likewise do
not apply and certain defenses may not be availdbdeeover, OPA imposes on responsible partieséesl for proof of financial responsibil
to cover at least some costs in a potential sgile OPA also imposes ongoing requirements on ansdpe party, including preparedness and
prevention of oil spills and preparation of angplll response plan.

The OCSLA authorizes regulations relating to saetgt environmental protection applicable to lesseespermittees operating on the
Outer Continental Shelf, some of whom are our téieimcluded among these are regulations that redjué preparation of spill contingency
plans and establish air quality standards for degallutants, including particulate matter, vdrganic compounds, sulfur dioxide, carbon
monoxide and nitrogen oxides. Specific design gretational standards may apply to Outer Continesitalf vessels, rigs, platforms, vehicles
and structures. Violations of lease conditionsegutations related to the environment issued putswathe OCSLA can result in substantial
civil and criminal penalties, as well as potentialirt injunctions curtailing operations and canwlieases, including those of our offshore
clients, which developments could have a matedaéese effect on the demand for our services.

The CWA and analogous state laws prohibit the @isgd of oil, hazardous substances, or other polisiiato water of the United States
and analogous state waters without a permit andsegtrict liability in the form of penalties for
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unauthorized discharges. Our drilling operationy neguire authorization and be subject to corredpanrestrictions to discharge wastewater,
drilling fluids, and other substances into the WG8If of Mexico under the National Pollutant Disofpa Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit
program. NPDES authorization requires advanceinatibn to governmental authorities, monitoring aaedordkeeping practices, and may
restrict practices other than discharges to waiarexample, NPDES authorization available to maihgnd gas exploration facilities in the
U.S. Gulf of Mexico under NPDES General Permit GMGQ@00 also includes requirements applicable toicgalater intake structures.
Offshore facilities must also implement plans addieg spill prevention control and countermeasureaddition, the CWA regulates
discharges incidental to the normal operation ebets in U.S. waters, including discharges of ballater. Operators of regulated vessels are
required to obtain “Vessel General Permits” from EPA, which permit was reissued by the agency arch28, 2013 and took effect on
December 19, 2013 for a period of five years. Tlead¢l General Permit imposes requirements incluefithgent limits, specific corrective
actions, inspections and monitoring, recordkeepimg reporting on certain commercial vessels ofezifipd length that operate as a means of
transportation upon the waters of the United Statesiot extending beyond the limit of the teriiabseas of the United States. We believe the
our vessels are in substantial compliance withiagple Vessel General Permit requirements.

The CERCLA, also known as the “Superfund” law, andlogous state law impose liability without regtrdault or the legality of the
original conduct on certain classes of personsdteatonsidered to have contributed to the releha¢'hazardous substance” into the
environment. These persons include the currenast @wners or operators of a site where the releea@red and companies that disposed or
arranged for the disposal of the hazardous subssdioand at a particular site. Under CERCLA, swegponsible parties may be subject to join
and several liabilities for the cost of cleaningtbip hazardous substances that have been releasedd environment and for damages to
natural resources. It is not uncommon for thirdiparto file claims for personal injury and proyettamage allegedly caused by the hazardous
substances released into the environment. We gerand handle wastes and other substances indlreanr course of our operations that may
be classified as hazardous substances.

The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act reguthtegeneration, transportation, storage, treatamhdisposal of hazardous and
nonhazardous wastes and requires states to dgwelgmams to ensure the safe disposal of wastesmrinection with routine operations, we
generate nonhazardous wastes and small quantitieszardous wastes. We believe that all of the egatstat we generate are handled in
substantial compliance with the Resource Consematnd Recovery Act and analogous state statutes.

The United States is one of approximately 170 merabentries to the International Maritime Organiaat(*IMQ”), a specialized
agency of the United Nations that is responsibtel&veloping measures to improve the safety andrifeof international shipping and to
prevent marine pollution from ships. Among the was international conventions negotiated by the IEIMARPOL. MARPOL imposes
environmental standards on the shipping industgtirg to oil spills, management of garbage, thedtiag and disposal of noxious liquids,
harmful substances in packaged forms, sewage aednsions. Annex VI to MARPOL sets limits on smlflioxide and nitrogen oxide
emissions from ship exhausts and prohibits deltbezmissions of ozone depleting substances. Anhexn¥éred into force on May 19, 2005,
and applies to all ships, fixed and floating dnifjirigs and other floating platforms. Annex VI alsgposes a global cap on the sulfur content o
fuel oil and allows for specialized areas to balgighed internationally with more stringent cofgron sulfur emissions. For vessels 400 gros:s
tons and greater, platforms and drilling rigs, Axi imposes various survey and certification regaoients. Annex VI came into force in the
United States on January 8, 2009. Moreover, on JuA010, amendments to Annex VI to the MARPOL Gantion took effect requiring the
imposition of progressively stricter limitations salfur emissions from ships. As a result, limiat imposed on sulfur emissions will require
that marine fuels of vessels in covered Emissiontf@bAreas (“ECAS”) contain no more than 1% sulfur August 2012, the North American
ECA became enforceable. The North American ECAuidet areas subject to the exclusive sovereigntyeofinited States and extends up to
200 nautical miles from the coasts of the Uniteatést, which area includes parts of the U.S. Gulekico. Consequently, beginning on
January 1, 2012, limits on marine fuel used to posips in non-ECA areas were capped at 3.5% satfdr on August 1, 2012, when the
North American ECA became effective, the sulfurilim marine fuel was capped at 1%, which is thepeal amount for all other ECA are
effective January 1, 2012. These capped amourittheil decrease progressively until they reach (bg%anuary 1, 2020 for non-ECA areas
and 0.1% by January 1, 2015 for ECA areas, inclyttie North American ECA. The amendments also Bskabew tiers of stringent nitrogen
oxide emissions standards for new marine engiregsemtling on their date of installation. In additiMARPOL Annex VI, Chapter 4,
introduced two mandatory mechanisms, effective dgnli, 2013, intended to ensure an energy effigistendard for ships, which are the
Energy Efficiency Design Index (EEDI) for new shigsd the Ship Energy Efficiency Management Plare{8E) for all ships. We do not
anticipate that continued compliance with MARPOLAmmex VI to MARPOL will have a material adverséeet on our financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

Due to concern over the risk of climate changeetivas been a broad range of proposed or promdlgatenal, state and foreign or
international laws or regulatory initiatives foaugion greenhouse gas (GHG) reduction. Regulatarydivorks
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adopted, or being considered for adoption, to redslelG emissions include cap and trade regimespnadxes, restrictive permitting,
increased efficiency standards, and incentivesandates for renewable energy. Although it is naisgae at this time to predict how
legislation or new regulations that may be adoptesiddress GHG emissions in the United State wiongdict our business, any such future
laws and regulations that require reporting of GH&Getherwise limit emissions of GHGs from oil agnaks exploration and production
operators, some of whom are our clients, couldirecqauch operators to incur increased costs, lemgtinoject implementation times, and
adversely affect demand for the oil and naturaltjasthey produce, which could decrease demanduioservices. Furthermore, one of the
asserted long-term physical effects of climate geamay be an increase in the severity and frequehagiverse weather conditions, such as
hurricanes, which may damage our drillship and ofheilities, increase our insurance costs or retkntion, limit insurance availability or
reduce the areas in which, or the number of dayisgluvhich, our clients would contract for our velssin general and in the U.S. Gulf of
Mexico in particular. We are currently unable tegtict the manner or extent of any such effect.

Nigeria
Environmental laws that affect our operations undigerian jurisdiction include, but are not necegdimited to, the laws described
below. While we believe that we are in substamtiahpliance with the current environmental laws esglilations, there is no assurance that

compliance with current laws and regulations or aaeel or newly adopted laws and regulations candiatained in the future or that future
expenditures required to comply with all such lams regulations in the future will not be material.

We, as an independent drilling contractor, areettiip Petroleum (Drilling and Production) AmendinBegulations 1988 (the
“Regulations”) which require us to be accreditethvihe Department of Petroleum Resources (the “DPRie Guidelines and Application
Form for Oil & Gas Industry Service Permit issusttite DPR (the “DPR Guidelines”) require that we accredited and issued with a permit
by the DPR (the “DPR Permit”) in order to carry ¢l services in the industry. We have receivedraunst annually renew the DPR permit in
accordance with the DPR Guidelines. In additioth®DPR permit, under the Local Content Act (asnaef below), we are required to be
registered with the Joint Qualification System (Y2 The Nigerian Petroleum Exchange (“NIPEXgministers the JQS. NIPEX is require
pre-qualify companies and categorize them intdéditmbase as a prerequisite for any company intgridinffer services in the industry and
forms the basis for an invitation to tender for traats. Under the Regulations we are also requérettain a valid license prior to operating a
drilling rig (a “Drilling Rig Permit”). A Drilling Rig Permit is granted by the Minister of PetroleResources (“Minister”) or any other public
officer in the Ministry authorized by the Ministrwriting in that regard.

Our operations are also subject to the provisidriseEnvironmental Guidelines and Standards ferRbtroleum Industry of Nigeria
(“EGASPIN” or the “Guidelines”) which establish aitorm monitoring and control program in relatiandischarges arising from oil
exploration and development in Nigeria.

The Nigerian Oil and Gas Industry Content Developi#et, 2010 (the “Local Content Act”) was enactegrovide for the
development, implementation and monitoring of Nigercontent in the oil and gas industry and plg@eticular emphasis on the promotion of
Nigerian content among companies bidding for catsrén the oil and gas industry rather than thatgglistribution of the relevant companit
The Local Content Act requires contractors withia bil and gas industry to comply with the minimigerian Content specified for each
particular project item, service or product spesifion as set out in Schedule A of the Local Canéent (the “Schedule”). The Schedule
provides the parameters and minimum level/percestag be utilized in determining and measuring NégeContent in the composite human,
material resources and services applied by operatut contractors in any project in the industtye Tost relevant categories under the
Schedule for us fall under the headings of “Wel &nilling Services/Petroleum Technology” and “Eagation, Subsurface, Petroleum
Engineering and Seismic.” The activities listedr#ie include: “Producing Drilling Services” and “ibing Rigs Semi-submersibles/Jack
ups/othersiwhich both apply to us. For offshore drilling sems$ within the above referenced categories thenmim required Nigerian Conte
for the provision of such services provided in 8ohedule is stated in terms of “Manhours” (i.e. Bumesources); and is 85% and 55%,
respectively. In the event there is insufficieng®lian capacity to satisfy the minimum percentggescribed in the Schedule, the Minister r
authorize the continued importation of the relevisarh or personnel for a maximum period of threargdrom the commencement of the Loca
Content Act. This implies that the Minister maymjra waiver for up to a maximum of three-years fithil commencement of the Local
Content Act (i.e. by 2013). Subject to any amendsiemthe Local Content Act, and/or guidelines égbby the Nigerian Content Monitoring
Board (“NCMB?") clarifying certain provisions of thieocal Content Act, all entities must comply wittetprovisions of the Local Content Act.

We are required to submit a proposed Nigerian GuarEgecution Plan and will provide a Monthly NigeriContent Report, a document
that details the amount of Nigerian content utdize the performance of the contract.
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In addition to the above Nigerian Content requiretagNigerian subsidiaries of international comparare required to demonstrate that
a minimum of 50% of the equipment deployed for eien of works is owned by the Nigerian subsidiary.

The Local Content Act also requires that our Nigesubsidiary place 100% of its insurance poligiggk local Nigerian insurers and tl
local capacity must have been exhausted beforénanyance risk is placed with foreign insurers anyg offshore placement of insurance must
be with prior approval of the National Insurancer@aission.

Other Jurisdictions

Our operations outside the United States and Nigae also subject to various foreign laws, regaator other enforceable
requirements including legal requirements relatmthe importation of and operation of drilling signd equipment, currency conversions and
repatriation, oil and natural gas exploration aadedopment, environmental protection, taxationftgtere earnings and earnings of expatriate
personnel, the use of local employees and supfiiefareign contractors and duties on the imparstatind exportation of drilling rigs and ot
equipment. New environmental or safety laws andleggpns could be enacted, which could adversdcabur ability to operate in certain
foreign jurisdictions. While we believe that we amesubstantial compliance with the current envin@mtal laws and regulations, there is no
assurance that compliance with current laws andlagégns or amended or newly adopted laws and aiguls or other governmental regula
initiatives can be maintained in the future or théitire expenditures required to comply with atlsiaws and regulations in the future will not
be material. Moreover, governments in some foreigmtries have become increasingly active in ragand controlling the ownership of
concessions and companies holding concessionsxgieration for oil and natural gas and other atgpetthe oil and natural gas industries in
their countries. In some areas of the world, tligegnmental activity has adversely affected theamof exploration and development work
done by major oil and natural gas companies andaoaginue to do so. Operations in less developedtcies can be subject to legal systems
that are not as mature or predictable as thoserie uleveloped countries, which can lead to greateertainty in legal matters and proceedi

C. ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

For a full listing of our subsidiaries, see Exhiil. All subsidiaries are, indirectly or directlyholly-owned by us, other than PIDWAL
and Pacific Drillship Nigeria Limited (“PDNL"). Se&oint Venture, Agency and Sponsorship Relatigpshbelow.

As of February 23, 2015, Quantum Pacific Group avi®0.0 million shares, or approximately 70.3% wf twtal outstanding common
shares. The common shares owned by the QuanturficRaup are held by Quantum Pacific (Gibraltainited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Quantum Pacific International Limited, the iralit ultimate owner of which is a trust in which adafer and certain members of his family
are the primary beneficiaries.

Joint Venture, Agency and Sponsorship Relationships

In some areas of the world, local customs and p&or governmental requirements necessitate timeafiion of joint ventures with loc
participation. Local laws or customs in some afabe world also effectively mandate establishradra relationship with a local agent or
sponsor. When appropriate in these areas, we mtérénto agency or sponsorship agreements. Foe mfsrmation regarding the regulations
in the countries in which we currently are contealcto operate, see Item 4, “Business Overview—IBnwirental and Other Regulatory Issues.’

We currently are party to a Nigerian joint ventPE)WAL, with Derotech, a privately-held Nigeriaagistered limited liability
company. In connection with the provisions of thgedian Oil and Gas Industry Content Developmerttr&garding ownership of drill rigs
deployed by companies operating in Nigeria’s od gas industry as well as ownership of Nigeriarsalifiries participating in the work in
Nigeria, effective December 2014, we increased PHDY's interest in rig holding subsidiaries, PacificrBd.td. and Pacific Scirocco Ltd. to
50% and Derotech’s interest in PIDWAL to 51%. Adinh company, PDNL, was formed under PIDWAL and wholly owned subsidiary to
hold PIDWAL's interest in rig holding subsidiaried3erotech will not accrue the economic benefitgointerest in PIDWAL unless and until it
satisfies certain outstanding obligations to usadrtain pledge is cancelled by us. Likewise PRWill not accrue the economic benefits
its interest in PDNL unless and until it satisfaestain outstanding obligations to us and a cegpilgdge is cancelled by us. Derotech is also
performing marketing services for PIDWAL and ariliffe of Derotech acts as one of PIDWAL'’s logisti&gents.

In addition, we have retained a marketing age®razil and have agreements with agents in Braziyant to which the agents, among
other activities, process visas, customs clearahogutine shipments of equipment, materials amgpbeas and process temporary importation
permits, extensions and renewals.
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D. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Our Fleet

Our fleet consists of some of the newest and neasiriologically advanced drillships in the worldabling us to offer ultra-deepwater
drilling services to clients worldwide. Our fleetlconsist of eight sixth and seventh generatiiraedeepwater drillships constructed based o
a proven design from SHI using well-establishedsaded drilling systems from National Oilwell Var¢dlOV”).

The following table sets forth certain informatiggarding our fleet as of February 23, 2015:

Date Delivered/ Water Depth Drilling Depth

Rig Expected Delivery Capacity (in feet) Capacity (in feet) Status
Pacific Bora®® October 2010 10,00( 37,50(  Operating

Pacific Sciroccd” April 2011 12,00( 40,00  Operating

Pacific Mistral® June 2011 12,00( 37,50(  Available

Pacific Santa An&® December 2011 12,00( 40,000  Operating

Pacific Khamsirf’© August 2013 12,00( 40,00(  Operating

Pacific Sharay® May 2014 12,00( 40,00  Operating

Pacific Melten{”® November 2014 12,00( 40,00  Mobilizing

Pacific Zondd™® Third Quarter 2015 12,00( 40,00  Under construction

(&)  These drillships have an off-line stand buitpsystem, which permits sections (stands) of tilestting and casing to be assembled and
racked for future use while drilling operations argrogress on the main well center without iniptron or delay.

(b)  These drillships have, or upon completion Wilve, dual load path capability, which allows tvilling stations under a single derrick to
simultaneously conduct lifting operations.

(c) These drillships have, or can be upgraded to rthvad,gradient drilling capabilitie

(d) Maximum water depth could be extended to up tod@2feet with drillship modification

Five of our drillships have, or upon completionlvaidve, dual gradient drilling capabilities. Duaadient drilling is a technology that
allows two different pressure gradients to be naaietd in the well (one in the drilling riser andedn the well below the mudline) by a process
of replacing mud from the drilling riser with a sester-density fluid. Pursuant to our drilling cadt with Chevron for the use of tRacific
Santa Ang we have been granted a non-exclusive, world-winlglty-free license to use the technical inforioratdata, and knowledge made
available by Chevron for not only tiRacific Santa Andéut also for our non-dual gradient drilling opeoas on all of our other drilling units.
Our license permits us to use this informationadatd knowledge in any manner (presumably includireg gradient drilling operations) on
any of our drilling units, subject to certain angtomary conditions. Although dual gradient drilitechnology was technically proven ten
years ago, thPacific Santa Anés the first rig to deploy this technology for coraroial application and the dual gradient drillirapcepts that
are being deployed by thi#acific Santa Anare disclosed in patents assigned to Chevron. Wlevbahat many operators may become
interested in deploying dual gradient drilling taology for deepwater wells because it enables bet# control, reduces the required number
of casing strings, and allows for larger wellboréosal depth and larger production liner. Thesdigcal benefits may result in savings in cost
and time per well and higher flow rates, enablimg ¢perator to drill wells that would have beensidared uneconomic or “undrillable” and
book reserves that would have not been otherwiskdsb However, there is no certainty that we witiave these expected benefits from our
dual gradient drilling capabilities. See Item 3jsiRFactors— Risks Related to Our Business—Dualigrd drilling techniques may not result
in the currently expected benefits and, as a redethand may not develop for these capabilities.”

On January 25, 2013, we entered into a contratt 8litl for the construction of tHeacific Zonda, which is expected to be delivered to
us at the shipyard in the third quarter of 201% 8| contract provides for an aggregate purchese pf approximately $517.5 milliofor the
acquisition of the vessel, payable in installmehtsng the construction process, of which we haaglenpayments of approximately $181.1
million through December 31, 2014.

We expect the project cost for tRacific Zondaunder construction to be approximately $634.1 onilli The estimate of the project costs
includes commissioning and testing and other aesaged to the drillships, but excludes capitalizgdrest. As of December 31, 2014 , there
were approximately $410.9 million of remaining dj costs for th@acific Zondaof which approximately $336.4 million is remaining
contractual commitments to SHI. We expect to firathe $410.9 million in remaining project coststfoe Pacific Zondawith a combination ¢
our existing cash balances, future operating das¥sfand financing available under the existinglitriacilities. See Item 3, “Risk Factors—
Risks Related to Our Business—Our
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substantial indebtedness could adversely affecfipancial position and business prospects” anoh I8¢ “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our
Business—Our indebtedness imposes significant tipgrand financial restrictions on certain of oubsidiaries, which may prevent us from
capitalizing on business opportunities.”

There are risks of delay and cost overruns inhéreahy major shipyard project, including thoseutésg from adverse weather
conditions, work stoppages, disputes and finaraidl other difficulties encountered by the shipy&udr construction contract for tiacific
Zondais based on a fixed fee and backed by a refundagtee if the unit is ultimately not finished or apted by us upon completion.
Deliveries by the shipyard beyond a certain pairttne are subject to penalty payments to us asm@ile us a right of cancellation.

The indebtedness under our 2020 Senior SecuredNbteSenior Secured Term Loan B, the 2013 Rawpl@redit Facility and certain
future obligations are collateralized by a firstf@rred mortgage over tiRacific Bora, thePacific Sciroccqg thePacific Mistraland thePacific
Santa Ana The indebtedness under our 2017 Senior SecuressMosecured by a first-priority security intér@sibject to exceptions) in the
Pacific Khamsir. The indebtedness under our Senior Secured (Fadifity Agreement is secured by a fimiority security interest (subject
exceptions) in th@acific Sharavand thePacific Meltem The indebtedness under our 2014 Revolving CFeatitlity will, upon delivery, be
secured by a first-priority security interest i facific Zonda See Item 5, “Liquidity and Capital Resources—Digsion of Indebtedness”
and Note 4 to the Company’s Consolidated Finar®ialements in this annual report for a more detalkscription of the terms of our debt
financings. Additionally, the utilization of ourilships may be impacted by a number of environmkand regulatory issues. See Item 4,
“Business Overview—Environmental and Other Reguiatssues.”

Properties

We maintain our principal executive office and oegistered office in Luxembourg and our operatidreddquarters in Houston, Texas.
We also provide technical, operational and admiaiiste support from our offices in Singapore, Brazid Nigeria.

ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

There are no written comments provided by the sifaffie SEC regarding our periodic reports thata@nunresolved as of the date of
filing of this Form 20-F with the SEC.

ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The following discussion and analysis should bal i@aconjunction with Item 3, “Selected Financiahfa” and the accompanying
financial statements and related notes includedvelere in this annual report. In addition, pleasad the introduction to the financi
statements in Item 18, “Financial Statements” fimpiortant information relating to our presentatiohfimancial information in this annual
report and concerning the financial statements egldted notes included elsewhere in this annuabref he following discussion contains
forward-looking statements that reflect our future plaestimates, beliefs and expected performance. Tharfd-looking statements are
dependent upon events, risks and uncertaintiesniagtbe outside our control. Our actual resultsldadiffer materially from those discussed
in these forward-looking statements. Please readri¥ard-Looking Statements” and Item 3, “Risk Fastéiin light of these risks,
uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looléagnts discussed may not occur.

A. OPERATING RESULTS
Overview

We are an international offshore drilling contrasctommitted to becoming the preferred providerféélwore drilling services to the olil
and natural gas industry through the use of higteigigation rigs. Following completion of constrigst, our fully-deployed fleet will consist of
eight newly constructed sixth and seventh generatitva-deepwater drillships, representing onehefrnost contemporary and technologically
advanced fleets in the world.

Our primary business is to contract our high-speatiion drilling rigs, related equipment and workws, primarily on a dayrate basis,
to drill wells for our clients. In conducting ounginess activities, we believe that we have a mesipdity to our employees, partners and the
communities in which we work to maintain a commitrnt health, safety, environment, security anditjua
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Safety Performance

One of our primary objectives is the safety of employees and contractors. We run comprehensiiveriggprograms to ensure that our
employees are wellersed on all of our policies and processes anpbpeel to act when necessary. Our team supervisasaalr safety trainin
and operational processes to ensure that we aratopgin line with industry best practice.

All personnel working for us, or on our behalf, arapowered to stop work (provided it is safe tesdpthat causes any concern related
to health, safety and security or environmentalypoin. Our employees and contractors are expeotstbp any activity under this obligation,
including those performed by other employees, tliepresentatives, contractors or management. Trerao repercussions for any individual
that stops work with genuine concern for risk,spective of the final outcome.

During 2014 , we continued our focus on safetyqrenfince and accomplished the following results:

We had a worldwide Lost Time Injury Rate (“LTIRSf 0.21. LTIR is defined by the International Asgtion of Drilling
Contractors (“IADC”) as the number of lost timeithents (“LTIs”) per 200,000 manhours; where LTIslude fatalities and lost
work day cases (injury or illness).

e Our worldwide Total Recordable Incident RateRIR") decreased to 0.55 in 2014. TRIR as definedhgylADC is the number of
Recordable Incidents (“TRIs") per 200,000 manhowisere TRIs include fatalities, lost work day casestricted work/transfer
cases and medical treatment only cases (injurinass).

«  ThePacific Boraachieved four years without an LTI and two yearthaiit a Recordable Incide

e ThePacific Scirocca thePacific Khamsirand thePacific Mistralall recorded one year milestones in 2014 withoReaordable
Incident.

Although IADC final year results are not yet pubksl for 2014, our results have been comparabledwad industry results up to and
including thirdgquarter 2014. For the nine months ended Septenth@034, the aggregated results for IADC wateraegjin which we worke
(South America, Africa and US) were LTIR of 0.1&81arRIR of 0.63.

Factors Affecting Comparability of Historical Financial Results of Operations to Future Financial Redts of Operations

We have a limited operating history. Our historiezdults of operations reflect the limited peridaperations from our fleet of the six
drillships placed into service to date. Our futtgsults of operations may not be comparable tdigterical results of operations for the peri
presented, primarily for the reasons describedvizelo

*  With the commencement of tRacific Mistral, thePacific Santa AnathePacific Khamsirand thePacific Sharawdrilling
operations on February 6, 2012, May 4, 2012, DeeerhB, 2013 and August 27, 2014, respectively, swelgenerated a substan
increase in our revenues, operating expenses ardtopy income during the years ended Decembe2®4 and 2013 as compared
to prior years. We anticipate that the expansioouffleet to eight drillships will have similadtf@ough not necessarily proportion
effects on our operating results. The recent sicanit and rapid decline in oil prices and subsetidenisions by producers to delay
various exploration and development programs haselted in significant excess capacity for drilighiAs a result, dayrates for
drillships have been reduced dramatically. Any caeis that we are able to secure forRaeific Meltem, Pacific Zondaand the
Pacific Mistralwill likely be at less attractive rates than ourreat contract portfolio.

* We do not recognize interest expense in ouestant of operations until all the activities neeggdo prepare the qualifying assets

for their intended use are complete. There has hrdwe expect to continue to see a substantiedase in interest expenses in our
results of operations as a result of completingdviliships under construction and placing theno iservice.

Factors Affecting our Results of Operations
The primary factors that have affected our hisargperating results and are expected to impacfuture operating results include:

e the number of drillships in our fle
« dayrates earned by our drillshi
« utilization rates of our drillship
e operating expenses of our drillshi

e administrative expenst
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* interest and other financial items; i

. tax expense

Our revenues are derived primarily from the operatf our drillships at fixed daily rates, whichpgéad principally upon the number ¢
availability of our drillships, the dayrates recaivand the number of days utilized. We recognizemaes from drilling contracts as services
performed upon contract commencement.

Additionally, we may also receive revenues for pr@gion and mobilization of equipment and persowndbr capital improvements to
rigs. Revenues earned and incremental costs inttdirectly related to contract preparation and rimdtion are deferred and recognized over
the primary term of the drilling contract.

Amortization of deferred revenue is recorded otraight-line basis over the primary drilling cordtderm, which is consistent with the
general pace of activity, level of services beingvded and dayrates being earned over the lita@fontract. Reimbursements received for
capital expenditures are deferred and recognizedtte primary contract term of the drilling prdjeEhe actual cost incurred for capital
expenditure is depreciated over the estimated Lefwf the asset. We may also receive fees ugmnpletion of a drilling contract that are
conditional based on the occurrence of an evenh as demobilization of a rig. These conditionalsfand related expenses are reported in
income upon completion of the drilling contractréteipt of such fees is not conditional, theyraognized as revenue over the primary term
of the drilling contract.

Our expenses consist primarily of contract drillaxpenses, depreciation, administrative expensgsest and other financial expenses
and tax expenses. Contract drilling expenses irecthid remuneration of offshore crews and onshgrersision staff, as well as expenses for
onshore support offices, repairs and sustainingnt@aance.

Depreciation expenses are based on the histovsalo€ our drillships and other property and equeptrand recorded on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of each daassets. The estimated useful lives of ourdlifls and their related equipment ranges from
15 to 35 years. We begin recording depreciatiorergps once all activities necessary to preparasbet for its intended use are complete,
which is typically upon the date of contract comeement for our recently delivered drillships.

General and administrative expenses include this absnanagement and administration of our Compsmgh as the labor costs of our
corporate employees and remuneration of our directo

Interest expenses primarily depend on our ovezadllof indebtedness and interest rates. Intesestpitalized based on the costs of new
borrowings attributable to qualifying new constiaotor at the weighted-average cost of debt outtanduring the period of construction. We
capitalize interest costs for qualifying new coastion from the point borrowing costs are incurfedthe qualifying new construction and
cease when substantially all the activities necgssaprepare the qualifying asset for its intended are complete, which is typically the date
of contract commencement.

Our tax expenses reflect current and deferredxtpgreses. In general, our income tax expenses radularily from the taxable income
on our drillship operations.
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Results of Operations
Year ended December 31, 2014 compared to Year dbeleeimber 31, 2013
The following table provides a comparison of ounsalidated results of operations for the years @émdscember 31, 2014 and 2013 :

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 Change % Change
(in thousands, except percentages)

Revenues

Contract drilling $ 1,085,79- $ 74557 $ 340,22 46%
Costs and expenses

Contract drilling (459,61) (337,27) (122,34 36%

General and administrative expenses (57,667) (48,619 (9,049 19%

Depreciation expense (199,33) (149,465 (49,877 33%
Operating income 369,17¢ 210,21¢ 158,96( 76%
Other income (expense)

Costs on interest rate swap termination — (38,189 38,18¢ 10C%

Interest expense (130,130 (94,027 (36,107 38%

Total interest expense (130,13() (132,21)) 2,081 2%

Costs on extinguishment of debt — (28,429 28,42¢ 10C%

Other income (expense) (5,177 (1,559 (3,617 233%
Income before income taxes 233,87 48,02¢ 185,85. 387%

Income tax expense (45,620) (22,527 (23,097 103%
Net income $ 188,25° $ 2550: $ 162,75 635%

RevenuesThe increase in revenues during the year endedrbleme31, 2014 resulted primarily from a full ye&operations from the
Pacific Khamsirand the inclusion of a partial year of operatiasif thePacific Sharay, which commenced earning revenues on August 27,
2014.

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , our tipgréieet of drillships achieved an average reeeafiiciency of 93.1%, compared
to 93.5% during the year ended December 31, 20h2 decrease in revenue efficiency was primarily ghuthe time th@acific Khamsirand
Pacific Sharawere in the shakedown period in 2014, which tyfychas lower operational uptime.

Contract drilling revenue for the years ended Ddmm31, 2014 and 2013 also included amortizatiote®érred revenue of $109.2
million and $72.5 million and reimbursable reveno&$28.7 million and $20.8 million , respectivelhe increase in the amortization of
deferred revenue was primarily due to the additideferred revenue related to tRacific Khamsirand a partial year of additional deferred
revenue related to tHeacific Sharav. The increase in reimbursable revenues was thit ifscorresponding increases in reimbursablescost
incurred.

Contract drilling costsThe increase in contract drilling costs during year ended December 31, 2014 was primarily duefud gear
of operations from thBacific Khamsirand the inclusion of a partial year of operatiaiosif thePacific Sharav
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The following table summarizes contract drillingsts

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013
(in thousands)
Direct rig related operating expenses, net $ 346,47" $ 251,48
Reimbursable costs 26,02: 20,91¢
Shore-based and other support costs 35,94° 25,39:
Amortization of deferred costs 51,17 39,47¢
Total $ 459,61 $ 337,27

Reimbursable costs are not included under the sobte drilling contract’s initial dayrate, buteasubject to reimbursement from our
clients. Reimbursable costs can be highly varibbleveen periods. Because the reimbursement of tosse by our clients is recorded as
additional revenue, they do not generally negatie#lect our margins. Excluding the impact of reimdable costs, direct rig related operating
expenses and shore-based and other support casksdlby the number of operating rig days wereotlews:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013

(in thousands, amounts per
operating rig per day)

Direct rig related operating expenses, net $ 177¢ $ 170.¢
Shore-based and other support costs 18.4 17.2
Total $ 196.C $ 187.¢

The increase in direct rig related operating expemer operating rig per day during the year efimmbmber 31, 2014 as compared to
the prior year was attributable to customary anoat escalations.

General and administrative expenséhe increase in general and administrative exggersated to planned employee headcount
additions required to support our fleet of eighligtrips. Additionally, general and administratiegpenses for the year ended December 31,
2014 included $1.8 million in lease termination affice relocation expenses associated with ourdttmuoffice move.

Depreciation expenseThe increase in depreciation expense was priynduié to a full year of depreciation expense iredion the
Pacific Khamsirand a partial year of depreciation expense incusrethePacific Sharav

Interest expenseThe following table summarizes interest expense:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013
(in thousands)

Costs on interest rate swap termination $ — $ (38,189

Interest (185,26)) (161,449

Realized losses on interest rate swaps (6,959 (12,1209

Capitalized interest 62,09( 78,52:

Interest expense $ (130,130 $ (132,21)

The increase in interest during the year ended mbee 31, 2014 as compared to the year ended Dec&tp2013 resulted primarily
from increased borrowings under the SSCF and comenit fees under the 2013 Revolving Credit Facdityered into in February 2013 and
June 2013, respectively. The costs on interestsiasgp termination of $38.2 million for the year edddecember 31, 2013 was due to the PFA
Refinancing in June 2013. In connection with thé&Fefinancing, we terminated certain interest gtaps and their related liabilities. As a
result, we reclassified $38.2 million of lossestloa hedge designated portion of the PFA interéstsaaps previously recognized in
accumulated other comprehensive income to
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interest expense. The decrease in capitalizedesitduring the year ended December 31, 2014 asareahpo the year ended December 31,
2013 resulted primarily from placing drillships wrctonstruction into service.

Costs of debt extinguishmerithe costs of debt extinguishment during the pealed December 31, 2013 were primarily due to the
write-off of $27.6 million in unamortized deferréidancing costs and prepayment penalties incursea @sult of the PFA Refinancing.

Other income (expenseThe increase in other expense primarily relaveclrrency exchange fluctuations.

Income taxes The increase in income tax expense was primdtig/to a full year of operations for tRacific Khamsin the
commencement of operations of acific Sharavon August 27, 2014, and the increased dayratdé&Pacific Bora.

The relationship between our provision for or bérfedm income taxes and our pre-tax book income ey significantly from period
to period considering, among other factors, (a)averall level of prdax book income, (b) changes in the blend of inctima¢is taxed based
gross revenues or at high effective tax rates sgpsertax book income or at low effective tax ratewl (c) our rig operating structures.
Consequently, our income tax expense does not ehaagortionally with our pre-tax book income. Sigant decreases in our pre-tax book
income typically result in higher effective taxaat while significant increases in pre-tax boolome can lead to lower effective tax rates,
subject to the other factors impacting income tepease noted above. For the years ended Decemp20B4 and 2013, our effective tax rate
was 19.5% and 46.9% , respectively. The tax ratéhdyear ended December 31, 20&8 negatively impacted by the costs of the inteste
swap termination and extinguishment of debt reléettie PFA Refinancing. Without the impact of thessts, the effective tax rate for the
ended December 31, 2013 was 19.6%.

While our effective tax rate for the year ended &eber 31, 2014 is relatively unchanged compard¢deyear ended December 31,
2013 (excluding the costs of the interest rate steapination for the PFA Refinancing and extinguigmt of debt related to the PFA
Refinancing), several significant offsetting iteoturred during 2014 that impacted our effectivertde. In the fourth quarter of 2014 , the
Nigerian tax authorities announced that-Nigerian companies will be required to computerttex liability based on actual profits. This is a
change from the previous practice of non-Nigeriampanies computing their tax liability based onrded profits, which effectively are a
portion of gross revenues. The impact of this ckangnethodology increased our 2014 Nigerian talyility. Our 2014 effective tax rate was
also negatively impacted by an increased propodfarur income being earned in Nigeria, which iglatively high tax jurisdiction compared
to our other operating locations. The increasexetxpense was offset by an adjustment to netréeféax assets of our non-Nigerian entities
operating in Nigeria.
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Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to Year édeleeimber 31, 2012

The following table provides a comparison of ounsalidated results of operations for the years @édecember 31, 2013 and 2012 :

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change % Change
(in thousands, except percentages)

Revenues
Contract drilling $ 74557. $ 638,05( $ 107,52 17%
Costs and expenses
Contract drilling (337,27 (331,49) (5,782 2%
General and administrative expenses (48,619 (45,386) (3,22¢) 7%
Depreciation expense (149,469 (127,699 (21,767 17%
(535,35¢) (504,579 (30,77 6%
Loss of hire insurance recovery — 23,67: (23,677 100%
Operating income 210,21¢ 157,14. 53,07¢ 34%
Other income (expense)
Costs on interest rate swap termination (38,189 — (38,18¢) 10C%
Interest expense (94,027 (104,68 10,65¢ 1C%
Total interest expense (132,21) (104,68 (27,526 26%
Costs on extinguishment of debt (28,429 — (28,429 10C(%
Other income (expense) (1,559 3,24¢ (4,799 14€%
Income before income taxes 48,02¢ 55,70: (7,677) 14%
Income tax expense (22,529) (21,719 (810) 4%
Net income $ 2550: $ 3398 $ (8,487 2504

RevenuesThe revenue for the year ended December 31, 20lE2ted a full year of operations from only tRacific Boraand the
Pacific Scirocccand a partial period of operations from Becific Mistraland thePacific Santa Anawhich commenced operations on
February 6, 2012 and May 4, 2012, respectively.imbeease in revenues during the year ended Deaedih@013 resulted primarily from
improvements in operating efficiency of the flebg inclusion of a full year of operations from tacific Mistraland thePacific Santa Ana
and thePacific Khamsircommencing to earn revenues on December 17, 203inErease in revenue was also partially offsed bgcrease in
amortization of deferred revenue.

During the year ended December 31, 20t8r operating fleet of drillships achieved anrage revenue efficiency of 93.5% compare
88.0% during the year ended December 31, 2012 .

The improvement in revenue efficiency was a reslbwer downtime in the year ended December 31328 compared to the year
ended December 31, 2012 . During the year endedrleer 31, 2012 , all of our drillships were in tr&iakedown period.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, revefficeeacy was negatively impacted by planned unga@vout preventer (“BOP”)
maintenance on tHeacific Boraand thePacific Sciroccaand approximately 20 days of non-compensated tonéhe completion of
contractually required BOP upgrades onRaeific Mistral. These items resulted in approximately 2.3% ddtftevenue efficiency loss in the
year endeDecember 31, 2013 .

Contract drilling revenue for the years ended Ddman31, 2013 and 2012 also included amortizatiotedérred revenue of $72.5
million and $95.8 million and reimbursable reveno&$20.8 million and $7.2 million , respectiveljhe decrease in the amortization of
deferred revenue was primarily due to the expiratibthe initial one-year primary term of tRacific Sciroccaon January 7, 2013, as the
drillship reached the end of the amortization pefar the mobilization, contract preparation anseasipgrade deferred revenue. Reimbursabl
revenues represent the gross amount earned rétatedts for the purchase of supplies, equipmeamsgnnel services and other services
provided at the request of our clients that areohdythe initial scope of the drilling contract. Tinerease in reimbursable revenues was the
result of corresponding increases in reimbursabdgscncurred.
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Contract drilling costsThe increase in contract drilling costs was pritgadile to a full year of operations from tRacific Mistraland
the Pacific Santa Anan the year ended December 31, 2013 andPtefic Khamsircommencing operations on December 17, 2013 as efpo:s
to the year ended December 31, 2012 with onlylay&dr of operations from thHeacific Boraand thePacific Sciroccaand a partial period of
operations from thPacific Mistraland thePacific Santa Anahowever, the increase in contract drilling cakisng the year ended
December 31, 2013 was largely offset by lower eqaipt and maintenance costs as compared to thegdad December 31, 2012 , which
included rig startup costs for the fleet.

The following table summarizes contract drillingsto

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012
(in thousands)

Direct rig related operating expenses, net $ 251,48 $ 232,43
Reimbursable costs 20,91¢ 6,18¢
Shore-based and other support costs 25,39 22,21
Amortization of deferred costs 39,47¢ 70,66(

Total $ 337,27 % 331,49!

The decrease in the amortization of deferred madiibn costs in the year ended December 31, 20&8rapared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 was primarily due to the exminatif the initial one-year primary term of tRacific Sciroccoon January 7, 2013, the
period over which the deferred mobilization costsfally amortized.

Reimbursable costs are not included under the sobte drilling contract’s initial dayrate, buteasubject to reimbursement from our
clients. Reimbursable costs can be highly varibbleveen periods. Because the reimbursement of thosse by our clients is recorded as
additional revenue, they do not generally negatia#lect our margins. Excluding the impact of reimdable costs, direct rig related operating
expenses and shore-based and other support casksdlby the number of operating rig days wereodlews:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012

(in thousands, amounts per
operating rig per day)

Direct rig related operating expenses, net $ 170.¢ $ 178.%
Shore-based and other support costs 17.2 17.C
Total $ 187.¢ $ 195.%

The decrease in direct rig related operating exg®epsr operating rig per day during the year emdkzbmber 31, 2013 was attributable
to lower equipment and maintenance costs as compartbe year ended December 31, 2012 , which deduig startup costs for tiacific
Bora, thePacific Sciroccq thePacific Mistraland thePacific Santa Ana

General and administrative expenséhe increase in general and administrative exggersated to planned employee headcount
additions required to support our expanding fléee increase in the year ended December 31, 20&Parsially offset by $2.1 million in legal
fees incurred during the year ended December 3112 gDmake amendments to the PFA in order to fatglimprovements in our corporate

structure.

Depreciation expenseThe increase in depreciation expense was priynduié to a full year of operations in 2013 from Heific
Mistral and the Pacific Santa Ana along with thenatencement of depreciation on the Pacific Khamsiecember 17, 2013.

Loss of hire insurance recoveiuring the year ended December 31, 2012 , we rézed$23.7 million in income from loss of hire
insurance. As part of our hull and machinery pqlisg maintain loss of hire insurance which caraes-day waiting period and an annual
aggregate limit of 180 days. In the third quarte2@11, the Pacific Scirocco underwent repairs apgrades to ensure engine reliability, which
was a covered event under our loss of hire policy.

45




Table of Contents

Interest expenseThe following table summarizes interest expense:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012
(in thousands)
Costs on interest rate swap termination $ (38,18) $ =
Interest (161,44) (114,05
Realized losses on interest rate swaps (12,109 (23,87¢)
Capitalized interest 78,52: 33,24:
Interest expense $ (132,21) $ (104,68

During the year ended December 31, 2013 , we irduosts of interest rate swap termination of $8@lkon due to the PFA
Refinancing. The increase in interest during therysnded December 31, 2013 as compared to thegdad December 31, 2012 resulted
primarily from borrowings under the 2017 Senior @ed Notes and commitment fees under the Seniarr8acCredit Facility entered into in
November 2012 and February 2013, respectivelyr Ryithe interest rate swap termination relatethéoPFA Refinancing, we were requirec
make quarterly settlements on the interest ratgswreat resulted in the higher losses incurrednduttie year ended December 31, 2012.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, realizeskk on the interest rate swap termination retatdte PFA Refinancing were included in
interest through their termination on May 28, 20IBe increase in capitalized interest during theryasded December 31, 2048 compared 1
the year ended December 31, 2012 resulted primfaoily increases attributable to our drillships unclenstruction.

Costs of debt extinguishmenthe costs of debt extinguishment during the pealed December 31, 2013 were primarily due to the
write-off of $27.6 million in unamortized deferrédancing costs and prepayment penalties incursea r@sult of the PFA Refinancing.

Other income (expensepuring the years ended December 31, 2013 and, 206tH2 foreign exchange gains and (losses) wezel (
million and $2.4 million, respectively. The decreas other income primarily related to currencylemge fluctuations and a decrease in
management income. Other income included manageimamhe from day-to-day oversight and managememtcgs with respect to the
Quantum Pacific Group’s equity interest in TPDI éofee of $4,000 per drillship per day, or $8,080¢ay. During the year ended
December 31, 2012, management fee income of $1lidmivas recorded in other income. As a resuloBntum Pacific Group’s divestiture
of their equity position in TPDI, the managementagnent was terminated on May 31, 2012.

Income taxes The increase in income tax expense was primdrityto the commencement of operations ofaeific Khamsiron
December 17, 2013 and a full year of operations filoePacific MistralandPacific Santa Ana

The relationship between our provision for or bérfedm income taxes and our pre-tax book income ey significantly from period
to period considering, among other factors, (a)overall level of praax book income, (b) changes in the blend of inctimag is taxed based
gross revenues versus pre-tax book income, aralfajg operating structures. Consequently, ouotine tax expense does not change
proportionally with our pre-tax book income. Sidgoéint decreases in our pi@x book income typically result in higher effeetitax rates, whil
significant increases in ptex book income can lead to lower effective taesasubject to the other factors impacting incoaxesikpense nott
above. For the years ended December 31, 2013 ditd, ur effective tax rate was 46.9% and 39.0%aetively. The tax rate for the year
ended December 31, 2013 was negatively impactetebgosts of the interest rate swap terminationeaticlguishment of debt related to the
PFA Refinancing. Without the impact of these catts,effective tax rate for the year ended Decerthef013vas 19.6%. The decrease in
effective tax rate for the year ended DecembefB13 (excluding the costs of the PFA Interest Fat@p Termination and extinguishment of
debt related to the PFA Refinancing) as compareddgear ended December 31, 2012 primarily relededhigher portion of pre-tax earnings
from jurisdictions taxing based on a deemed pruofitich effectively are a portion of gross revenuather than actual profits.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND POLICIES

The preparation of consolidated financial statemé@ntonformity with GAAP requires management tdkemeertain estimates and
assumptions. These estimates and assumptions ithgaeported amounts of assets and liabilitiesdibclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities at the balance sheet date and the atsafrrevenues and expenses recognized duringpueting period. On an ongoing basis, we
evaluate our estimates and assumptions, inclutioggtrelated to allowance for doubtful accountgrfcial instruments, depreciation of
property and equipment, impairment of long-livedets, income taxes, shdvased compensation and contingencies. We basestimates an
assumptions on historical

46




Table of Contents

experience and on various other factors we belegaeasonable under the circumstances, the redgwitsich form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assetsiahdlities that are not readily apparent from oteeurces. Actual results could differ frc
such estimates.

Our critical accounting estimates are importanthportrayal of both our financial position anduks of operations and require us to
make difficult, subjective or complex assumptiongstimates about matters that are uncertain. Wedaeport different amounts in our
consolidated financial statements, which could lagemial, if we used different assumptions or estiasaWe have discussed the development
and selection of our critical accounting estimatéh our Board of Directors and the Board of Dimsthas reviewed the disclosure presented
below. During the past three fiscal years, we heatanade any material changes in accounting metbggo

We believe that the following is a summary of thiéical accounting polices used in the preparatibour consolidated financial
statements.

Revenues and operating expense3ontract drilling revenues are recognized asesirbased on contractual dayrates. In connectith
drilling contracts, we may receive fees for preparaand mobilization of equipment and personndboicapital improvements to rigs. Fees
and incremental costs incurred directly relatedantract preparation and mobilization along wittmteursements received for capital
expenditures are deferred and amortized to revenelethe primary term of the drilling contract. Téwst incurred for reimbursed capital
expenditures are depreciated over the estimatddlliée of the asset. We may also receive feesnupampletion of a drilling contract that are
conditional based on the occurrence of an evenh aa demobilization of a rig. These conditionakfand related expenses are reported in
income upon completion of the drilling contractréteipt of such fees is not conditional, theyramognized as revenue over the primary term
of the drilling contract. Amortization of deferreeivenue and deferred mobilization costs are recbodea straight-line basis over the primary
drilling contract term, which is consistent wittetgeneral pace of activity, level of services bgingvided and dayrates being earned over the
life of the contract.

Property and equipmentHigh-specification drillships are recorded attaafsconstruction, including any major capital irmpements,
less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Qitegerty and equipment are recorded at cost ansistoof purchased software systems,
furniture, fixtures and other equipment. Ongoingntenance, routine repairs and minor replacemeawstexpensed as incurred.

Interest is capitalized based on the costs of mawotvings attributable to qualifying new constractior at the weighted-average cost of
debt outstanding during the period of constructitie. capitalize interest costs for qualifying newstuction from the point borrowing costs
are incurred for the qualifying new constructior @ease when substantially all the activities nemgsto prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use are complete.

Property and equipment are depreciated to theiagalvalue on a straight-line basis over the estichaseful lives of each class of
assets. Our estimated useful lives of propertyeandpment are as follows:

Years
Drillships and related equipment 15-35
Other property and equipment 2-7

We review property and equipment for impairment mheents or changes in circumstances indicatehbatarrying amounts of our
assets held and used may not be recoverable. Rbiergairment indicators include steep declinesammodity prices and related market
conditions, actual or expected declines in rigzadtion, increases in idle time, cancellations arftcacts or credit concerns of clients. We asses
impairment using estimated undiscounted cash flowthe property and equipment being evaluatedgplydng assumptions regarding future
operations, market conditions, dayrates, utilizatiad idle time. An impairment loss is recordethia period if the carrying amount of the a:
is not recoverable.

In late 2014, we noted a steep decline in commaatites and related market conditions, causingp dr the dayrates of recently
contracted rigs. We performed a recoverability et determined that the estimated undiscountddftags of our high-specification
drillships significantly exceeded their carrying@mt. As a result, no impairment loss was recorded.

Contingencies We record liabilities for estimated loss contingies when we believe a loss is probable and treuabof the probable
loss can be reasonably estimated. Once establigleealdjust the estimated contingency loss accaraltfanges in facts and circumstances tha
alter our previous assumptions with respect tdikatihood or amount of loss.

We recognize loss of hire insurance recovery oeaézed or contingencies related to the realizighilf the amount earned are resolved.
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Income taxes Income taxes are provided based upon the taxdadsates in the countries in which our subsid&égre registered and
where their operations are conducted and incomeapenses are earned and incurred, respectivelye@dgnize deferred tax assets and
liabilities for the anticipated future tax effecstemporary differences between the financialestetnt basis and the tax basis of our assets an
liabilities using the applicable enacted tax ratesffect the year in which the asset is realizethe liability is settled. A valuation allowance
for deferred tax assets is established when itigertikely than not that some portion or all of teferred tax assets will not be realized.

We recognize tax benefits from an uncertain taxtjposonly if it is more likely than not that thegition will be sustained upon
examination by taxing authorities based on thertieeth merits of the position. The amount recognizethe largest benefit that we believe has
greater than a 50% likelihood of being realizedrupettlement. Actual income taxes paid may vargnfestimates depending upon changes in
income tax laws, actual results of operations aedinal audit of tax returns by taxing authoritiége recognize interest and penalties relate
uncertain tax positions in income tax expense.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Please refer to Note 2 to the Company’s ConsolitlBirancial Statements in this annual report fdisaussion of recent accounting
pronouncements and their anticipated impact.

B. LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We operate in a capital intensive industry. Throkgbruary 23, 2015, our principal sources of liggyidave been provided through a
combination of contributions from the Quantum Fad#roup, proceeds from the 2011 Private Placenpeateeds from the initial public
offering of our common shares, borrowings from easi debt financings, each as described in “—Desonpf Indebtedness” below and Note
4 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statemignthis annual report. In the future, we expkat bur investment in newbuild ultra-
deepwater drillships will be financed through ouaitable cash balances, additional debt financimdj @sh flow from operations.

We centrally manage our funding and treasury d@in accordance with corporate policies to emsyopropriate levels of liquidity,
comply with debt covenants, maintain adequate seotlnsurance and balance exposures to market i&sh and cash equivalents are held
mainly in United States Dollars, Nigerian NairagBitian Real and Singapore Dollars. Most of ourtcast drilling revenues are received
monthly in arrears and most of our operating castspaid on a monthly basis.

As of December 31, 2014 , we had $167.8 milliosagh and cash equivalents. In addition, as of Eepr28, 2015, we have available
and undrawn capacity of $300.0 million under out2®evolving Credit Facility, and available and tawin capacity of $170.0 million under
our 2014 Revolving Credit Facility. We will alsoveaccess to an incremental $100.0 million avadlaisider our SSCF and an incremental
$150.0 million available under our 2014 Revolvingdit Facility, once we have entered into satigfactlrilling contracts foPacific Meltem
andPacific Zondain accordance with terms under the SSCF and 20¥4IReg Credit Facility, respectively. Our liquigitequirements
include meeting ongoing working capital needs, yagpour outstanding indebtedness and funding ipatied capital expenditures, which are
largely comprised of our final payment to SHI fbe Pacific Zonda, and maintaining adequate credit facilities ohdaalances to compensate
for the effects of fluctuations in operating cakiwi. Our ability to meet these liquidity requirem®will depend in large part on our future
operating and financial performance. Primary sosiafdunds for our short-term liquidity needs vii# cash flow generated from operating anc
financing activities, which includes availabilitpder the facilities outlined above. Our liquiditudtuates depending on a number of factors,
including, among others, our revenue efficiency #redtiming of accounts receivable collection ad a® payments for operating costs. We
believe that our cash on hand and cash flows gestefaom operations and our existing facilitieslyilovide sufficient liquidity over the next
twelve months to fund our working capital needfiestuled payments on our long-term debt and capiqaénditures. We expect to fund our
long-term liquidity requirements from operating dirthncing activities. See Item 3, “Risk Factors-sk&i Related to Our Business.”

We may review from time to time possible expansjoimt venture or acquisition opportunities relgtito our business, which may
include the construction or acquisition of additibrigs or acquisitions of other businesses. Amsigien to construct or acquire additional rigs
for our fleet will be based on our assessment aketaonditions and opportunities existing at stigte, including the availability of long-term
contracts with attractive dayrates and the relatndss of building or acquiring new rigs with adead capabilities compared with the costs of
retrofitting or converting existing rigs to providemilar capabilities. The timing, size or succekany additional acquisition, joint venture or
construction efforts and the associated potenéipital commitments are unpredictable. We may sedlutd all or part of any such efforts with
proceeds from debt and/or equity issuances. Debfjoity financing may not, however, be availableigaat that time due to a variety of fact
including, among others, general industry cond&jageneral macro-economic conditions, perceptidéns and credit rating agency opinions of
our outstanding debt.
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Share Repurchase Program

On November 24, 2014, our shareholders approvédr@ sepurchase program for the repurchase of 8@tmillion shares of our
common stock through May 20, 2016. Based on thisagization, the Board of Directors authorized toenmencement of the program on
December 1, 2014 and the expenditure of up to $3@l®n for repurchases under the program. We maghase shares through financial
intermediaries in one or several transactions erofien market; however, we are not obligated tardyase any dollar amount or specific
number of shares of our common stock under theranagSubject to having sufficient available fresemves in our share premium account, ws
anticipate that repurchases during 2015 will benprily funded with available cash on hand. As dbfeary 23, 2015, we had repurchased 4.2
million shares of our common stock under this paogfor a total of $17.5 million. See Note 6 to @empany’s Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Debt Repurchases

From time to time, we may engage in repurchasesiotiebt on the open market or in privately negetidransactions. During the year
ended December 31, 2014 , we repurchased and tmhael aggregate principal amount of $13.5 milikdiour 2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds
(see Note 4 to the Company's Consolidated FinaStekments) at an aggregate cost of $13.9 millioaluding accrued interest, reducing
interest costs that would have been payable forahmining term of the debt.

Capital Expenditures and Working Capital Funding

In March 2011, we entered into a contract with &Hithe construction of our sixth drillship, tReacific Sharav. In March 2012, we als
entered into a contract with SHI for the construetdf our seventh drillship, tHeacific Meltem, and in January 2013, we entered into an
additional contract with SHI for the constructignoair eighth drillship, théacific Zonda

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , we plkdid the remaining SHI project costs on tRacific Sharawand thePacific Meltem
upon their deliveries. The SHI contract for ®ecific Zondgprovides for a purchase price of approximately $5Xillion for the acquisition ¢
the vessel, payable in installments during the waoBon process, of which we have made paymengppfoximately $181.1 million through
December 31, 2014 . With respect to our undeliveess$el, we anticipate making payments of approvin&336.4 million in 2015.

We expect the project cost for tRacific Zondaunder construction to be approximately $634.1 onilli The estimate of the project costs
includes commissioning and testing and other aesaged to the drillships, but excludes capitalizgdrest. As of December 31, 2014 , there
were approximately $410.9 million of remaining rj costs for th€acific Zondaof which approximately $336.4 million is the remiaim
contractual commitment to SHI. We expect to finatheeremaining project costs for tRacific Zondawith a combination of our existing cash
balances, future operating cash flows and finanaiwgjlable under the existing credit facilities. Wave $300.0 million in available borrowings
under our 2013 Revolving Credit Facility, which adso be used to fund project costs.
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Sources and Uses of Cash
Year ended December 31, 2014 compared to Year dbelesimber 31, 2013

The following table provides a comparison of out ¢esh provided by operating activities for thergeended December 31, 2014 and
2013:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 Change
(in thousands)

Cash flow from operating activities:

Net income $ 18825 $ 2550 $ 162,75
Depreciation expense 199,33 149,46! 49,87:
Amortization of deferred revenue (109,209 (72,51Y) (36,697
Amortization of deferred costs 51,17 39,47¢ 11,69
Amortization of deferred financing costs 10,41¢ 10,10¢ 31C
Amortization of debt discount 817 44E 372
Write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs — 27,644 (27,649
Costs on interest rate swap termination — 38,18 (38,189
Deferred income taxes 18,66 (3,119 21,78(
Share-based compensation expense 10,48 9,31t 1,16¢
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net 26,47: 6,081 20,39:

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 39641( $ 230,58 $ 165,82

The increase in net cash provided by operatingities for the year ended December 31, 2014 , agaoed to the year ended
December 31, 2013, was primarily due to a fullryafaoperations from thBacific Khamsin which commenced operations on December 17,
2013 and a partial year of operations fromRaeific Sharay, which commenced operations on August 27, 2014.

The following table provides a comparison of outr ¢esh used in investing activities for the yeardesl December 31, 2014 and 2013 :

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 Change
(in thousands)

Cash flow from investing activities:

Capital expenditures $ (1,136,20) $ (876,147 $ (260,06
Decrease in restricted cash — 172,18« (172,189
Net cash used in investing activities $ (1,136,20) $ (703,959 $ (432,24)

The increase in capital expenditures for the yaded December 31, 2014 , as compared to the ydadddecember 31, 2013, resulted
primarily from higher payments for our drillshipeder construction, including the final SHI paymefotsthe Pacific Sharavand thePacific
Meltemat delivery and progress payments for Baeific Zonda The change in restricted cash is the result@PBA Refinancing on June 3,
2013, which released the restrictions on certaiounfcash accounts.
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The following table provides a comparison of our cesh provided by financing activities for the geeanded December 31, 2014 and
2013:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 Change
(in thousands)

Cash flow from financing activities:

Proceeds from shares issued under share-based nsatipa plan $ 9% % — ¢ 95
Proceeds from long-term debt 760,00( 1,656,25I (896,25()
Payments on long-term debt (41,83%) (1,480,000 1,438,16
Payments for costs on interest rate swap termimatio — (41,999 41,99:
Payments for financing costs (7,569 (62,689 55,11¢
Purchases of treasury shares (7,227) — (7,227

Net cash provided by financing activities $ 703,46t $ 71,57 $ 631,89

The increase in cash from financing activitiestfa@ year ended December 31, 2014 , as comparad t@ar ended December 31, 2013
resulted primarily from the $360.0 million and $40nillion SSCF drawdowns for the final paymentdhefPacific Sharavand thePacific
Meltem, respectively. The increase was partially offsepayments of $41.8 million on long-term debt irl20

During the year ended December 31, 2013 , proceedslongterm debt primarily resulted from drawdowns of $D4illion under th
SSCF, borrowings of $750.0 million under the 2020i6r Secured Notes and net proceeds of $746.®mfllom the Senior Secured Term
Loan B. During the year ended December 31, 2018 made $109.4 million in principal repayments am A and repaid the $1,347.0
million remaining debt in connection with the PF&flRancing in June 2013. Additionally, in connentigith the PFA Refinancing, we paid
$42.0 million to terminate four interest rate swaps their related liabilities. During the year eddecember 31, 2013, deferred financing
costs of $62.7 million were incurred to enter itite Senior Secured Credit Facility Agreement, th202Senior Secured Notes, the Senior
Secured Term Loan B and the 2013 Revolving Creatiflfy.

Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to Year dbelesimber 31, 2012

The following table provides a comparison of our cesh provided by operating activities for thergeanded December 31, 2013 and
2012:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change
(in thousands)

Cash flow from operating activities:

Net income $ 2550 $ 3398 $ (8,48)
Depreciation expense 149,46! 127,69¢ 21,76
Amortization of deferred revenue (72,519 (95,750) 23,23t
Amortization of deferred mobilization costs 39,47¢ 70,66( (31,189
Amortization of deferred financing costs 10,10¢ 13,92¢ (3,820
Amortization of debt discount 44~ — 44E
Write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs 27,64« — 27,64«
Costs on interest rate swap termination 38,18t — 38,18¢
Deferred income taxes (3,119 (3,766 647
Share-based compensation expense 9,31t 5,31¢ 3,991
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net 6,081 32,92: (26,847)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 230,58 $ 184,99 $ 45,58¢

The increase in net cash provided by operatingities was primarily due to a full year of operaisofrom thePacific Bora, thePacific
Scirocco, thePacific Mistraland thePacific Santa Andor the year ended December 31, 2013, as compauzdull year of operations from
the Pacific Boraand thePacific Sciroccaand a partial period of operations from Becific Mistraland thePacific Santa Andor the year ende
December 31, 2012 .
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The following table provides a comparison of out cegsh used in investing activities for the yeardesl December 31, 2013 and 2012 :

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change
(in thousands)

Cash flow from investing activities:

Capital expenditures $ (876,14) $ (449,95) $ (426,19)
Decrease in restricted cash 172,18« 204,78 (32,600
Net cash used in investing activities $ (703,95) $ (245,16) $ (458,79)

The increase in capital expenditures resulted pilynom increases in payments for our drillshipsder construction, including the
final SHI payment for th@acific Khamsirat delivery and progress payments for Baeific Sharay, thePacific Meltemand thePacific Zonda
The decrease in restricted cash resulted primidip the PFA Refinancing and the termination of léteer of credit facility and guaranty
agreement (collectively, the “TI Facilities”) onnu3, 2013, each of which had imposed restrictionsertain of our cash accounts. The
decrease in restricted cash during the year endedrbber 31, 2012 resulted from temporary stancgrlof credit facilities for thBacific
Boraand thePacific Sciroccaeach being replaced by the Tl Facilities on Ap8i] 2012. As a result of securing these facilities,were able to
release approximately $126.0 million of restrictagh collateral to cash and cash equivalents. idddily, the decrease in restricted cash
resulted from an amendment to the PFA in Decem®&2 2which resulted in the release of approxima$&ly.7 million in restricted cash.

The following table provides a comparison of our cesh provided by financing activities for the geeanded December 31, 2013 and
2012:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change
(in thousands)

Cash flow from financing activities:

Proceeds from long-term debt $ 1,656,25 $ 797,41' $ 858,83
Payments on long-term debt (1,480,00) (218,75()  (1,261,25)
Payments for costs on interest rate swap termimatio (41,999 — (41,999
Payments for financing costs (62,68¢) (19,859 (42,83)

Net cash provided by financing activities $ 7157 $ 55881 $ (487,239

During the year ended December 31, 2013, prodeentslongterm debt primarily resulted from drawdowns of $D4illion under th
SSCF, borrowings of $750.0 million under the 2020i6r Secured Notes and net proceeds of $746.®Bmillom the Senior Secured Term
Loan B. During the year ended December 31, 2018 made $109.4 million in principal repayments an @A and repaid the $1,347.0
million remaining debt in connection with the PFA&flRancing in June 2013. Additionally, in connentigith the PFA Refinancing, we paid
$42.0 million to terminate four interest rate swapsd their related liabilities. During the year edddecember 31, 2013 , deferred financing
costs of $62.7 million were incurred to enter itite Senior Secured Credit Facility Agreement, th202Senior Secured Notes, the Senior
Secured Term Loan B and the 2013 Revolving Creatiflfy.

During the year ended December 31, 2012 , borrosviogisisted of $300.0 million under the 2015 Seblissecured Bonds and $500.0
million under the 2017 Senior Secured Notes. Paysn@mlong-term debt consisted of PFA amortizafapments.

Description of Indebtedness

7.25% Senior Secured Notes due 20lk¥November 2012, Pacific Drilling V Limited, ourdirect, wholly-owned subsidiary, completed
a private placement to eligible purchasers of $&0dillion in aggregate principal amount of 7.25%ise secured U.S. dollar denominated
notes due 2017. The 2017 Senior Secured Notessalrat 99.483% of par, bear interest at 7.25%apaum, which is payable semiannually
on June 1 and December 1, and mature on DecemB6#i.1,

Senior Secured Credit Facility Agreeme@h February 19, 2013, Pacific Sharav S.a r.l. awifié Drilling VII Limited, and we, as
guarantor, entered into a senior secured credlitfaagreement with a group of lenders to finatice construction, operation and other costs
associated with thBacific Sharavand thePacific Meltem

52




Table of Contents

5.375% Senior Secured Notes due 202@ June 3, 2013, we completed a private placeionegiigible purchasers of $750.0 million in
aggregate principal amount of 5.375% Senior Sechiids due 2020. The 2020 Senior Secured Notesseddet par, bear interest at
5.375% per annum, which is payable semiannuallyue 1, and December 1, and mature on June 1, 2020.

Senior Secured Term Loan B due 20Th June 3, 2013, we entered into a $750.0 milliemor secured term loan. The maturity dat
the Senior Secured Term Loan B is June 3, 2018.

2013 Revolving Credit FacilityOn June 3, 2013, we entered into a senior secax@iving credit facility with an aggregate pripal
amount of up to $500.0 million (permits loans todxtended up to a maximum sublimit of $300.0 milland permits letters of credit to be
issued up to a maximum sublimit of $300.0 million).

2014 Revolving Credit FacilityOn October 29, 2014, we entered into a revoleiraglit facility with an aggregate
principal amount of up to $500.0 million (limited & maximum of $350.0 million prior to delivery thie Pacific Zondaand entering into a
satisfactory drilling contract for the drillship).

See Note 4 to the Company’s Consolidated Finastetements.

Letters of Credit

As of December 31, 2014 , we were contingentlyléamder certain performance, bid and custom banddetters of credit totaling
approximately $258.1 million related to letterscofdit issued as security in the normal courseuotboisiness. See Note 11 to the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We may enter into derivative instruments from timéime to manage our exposure to fluctuationgfarest rates and to meet our debt
covenant requirements. We do not enter into devigdatansactions for speculative purposes; howdgeigccounting purposes, certain
transactions may not meet the criteria for hedgeuating. See Note 9 to the Company’s Consolidgiedncial Statements.

C. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, PATENTS AND LICENSES, ETC.

We do not undertake any significant expenditureasearch and development. Additionally, we havsignificant interests in patents
licenses.

D. TREND INFORMATION

Historically, operating results in the offshore trawt drilling industry have been cyclical and difg related to the demand for and the
available supply of drilling rigs, which are inflbeed by various factors. However, since factorsithpact offshore exploration and
development spending are beyond our control, andemand dynamics can shift quickly, it is diffictdr us to predict future industry
conditions, demand trends or operating results.

Drilling Rig Supply

Across the industry, orders were placed during 2018uild 4 additional high-specification semi-sudsibles and drillships to be
delivered after the end of 2016. We estimate thezeapproximately 50 high-specification rigs delacor scheduled for delivery from
January 1, 2015 until the end of 2017, 21 of wiiakie not yet been announced as contracted to<liboe to the long lead times involved in
rig construction, the potential for additional orsléo emerge, existing orders to be cancelled andrfipyard delays to occur, especially among
yards forecasted to make their first deliveriedrdyithis time frame, the supply of hi-specification units through the end of 2017 can be
estimated as a range between 100 and 125. Beyntihtle frame, the supply is uncertain and anygmidpns have diminished predictive va

Drilling Rig Demand

Demand for our drillships is a function of the wiwide levels of offshore exploration and developtreggrending by oil and gas
companies, which is influenced by a number of fect®he type of projects that modern drillshipsemake are generally located in deeper
water, more remote locations and are more capitahsive and longer lasting than those of olddess capable drilling rigs. This makes these
projects less sensitive to short-term oil pricetiations. Therefore, dayrates and utilizationnfimdern drillships are typically less sensitive to
short-term oil price movements than those of otitdess capable drilling rigs. Furthermore, longyteexpectations about future oil and natural
gas prices have historically been the key drivedfsepwater and high-specification exploration dedelopment spending.
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Our clients’ drilling programs are also affectedtbg global economic and political climate, acdesguality drilling prospects,
exploration success, perceived future availabditg lead time requirements for drilling equipmembphasis on deepwater and high-
specification exploration and production versusotireas and advances in drilling technology. u#@14, there were no material adverse
changes to regulations or other restrictions afigabur ability to operate in countries where werently, or in the future may, operate.

The second half of 2014 saw oil and global hb8- natural gas prices decline significantly, héag a level that, if sustained, may rer
some deepwater projects uneconomic. While quest@msin regarding long-term oil and natural gasgwiand supply-demand balance, GDP
growth continued to be positive but slowed in keyeeging markets and North America.

Overall, 2014 saw a reduced pace for high-spetificaendering activity compared to recent yeassiiteng from the various factors
impacting drilling rig demand, most notably the litezin oil prices.

Supply and Demand Balance

Throughout 2014 there was generally a tight suplgl;rand balance for modern drillships, with near?aQ@ilization. However, capital
expenditure budgets have declined for some exjidoraind production companies, and, in other cdsetget announcements have been
delayed due to the rapid drop in oil prices. Wendbexpect to see any substantial increases, dhlikeiy see decreases from some major olil
companies, in capital expenditure budgets year-ypear.

We estimate that from January 1, 2015 until the@D15, approximately 2-4 high-specification rig8l be available to commence
operations but none of these rigs currently haveigoed client contracts. Additionally, multipled®r, lower-specification ultra-deepwater anc
mid-water drillships and semisubmersibles haventygeompleted contracts without follow-on contsadiVhile we believe that the demand for
high-specification drillships like those in ourdkewill meet or exceed supply in aggregate in tmiag years, the recent developments have
exerted considerable pressure on the market andesait in a mismatch of the timing of supply aradnd resulting in lower dayrates than
have been available over the past few years or pgaads without contracts.

For more information on this and other risks to lbusiness and our industry, please read “Risk Fsicto

E. OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Currently, we do not have any off-balance sheargements.

F. TABULAR DISCLOSURE OF CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The table below sets forth our contractual obliyagias of December 31, 2014 :

Contractual Obligations 2015 2016-2017 2018-2019 Thereafter Total
(in thousands)

Long-term debt® $ 369,000 $ 66500 $ 1,370,41 $ 750,000 $ 3,154,41
Interest on long-term deft 167,48( 315,41 149,22! 17,02( 649,13
Operating leases 2,38¢ 4,50¢ 4,21( 10,22 21,32¢
Purchase obligatiori@ 163,56¢ 11,89¢ — — 175,46
High-specification drillship&” 336,38: — — — 336,38:

Total contractual obligatiorf8 $ 1,038,822 $ 996,81¢ $ 1,523,85. $ 777,247 $ 4,336,73

(@ Includes current maturities of lotgrm debt. Amounts are based on principal balareeduding debt discoun

(b) Interest payments are based on our existitgtanding borrowings. It is assumed there is nefiaancing of existing longerm debt an
there are no prepayments. For fixed rate debtraatdias been calculated using stated rates. Fablarate LIBOR based debt, interest
has been calculated using current LIBOR rates &eoémber 31, 2014 and includes the impact of atstanding interest rate swaps.
Interest on the SSCF is based on existing outstgriabrrowings of $879.2 million as of December 3114 . As such, interest on long-
term debt as presented in the table above excthdampact of additional interest under the SSGH Will be incurred as the remaining
$100.0 million is borrowed. Under our 2013 Revotyi@redit Facility, we record interest expense &asfon undrawn commitments and
unused letter of credit capacity, approximately®&3dnillion as of December 31, 2014 , while ourstanding letters of credit,
approximately $100.7 million as of December 31,£20&ccrue interest at a different rate. Interedbag-term debt as presented in the
table above excludes the impact of additional edethat will be incurred under our 2013 Revolv@rgdit Facility if we issue addition
letters of credit or borrow under the $300.0 miilieevolving sub-limit. Under our 2014 Revolving @iteFacility, we record interest
expense for fees on undrawn commitments, $500Joomil
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as of December 31, 2014 . Interest on long-ternt delpresented in the table above excludes thecingbadditional interest that will be
incurred under our 2014 Revolving Credit Facilitwe borrow under the facility.

(c) Purchase obligations are agreements to pueaiasds and services that are enforceable andyldaadling, that specify all significant
terms, including the quantities to be purchaseidemrovisions and the approximate timing of tmsactions, which includes our
purchase orders for goods and services enteredhitib@ normal course of business.

(d)  Amounts for higtspecification drillships include amounts due untéerremaining construction contr:

(e) Contractual obligations do not include appmediely $24.5 million of liabilities from unrecogeid tax benefits related to uncertain tax
positions, inclusive of interest and penaltiesiuded on our condensed consolidated balance sheétzecember 31, 2014 . We are
unable to specify with certainty the future periagusvhich we may be obligated to settle such ammunt

Some of the figures included in the table abovebaed on estimates and assumptions about thegatimis, including their duration
and other factors. The contractual obligations \iltagtually pay in future periods may vary fronotte reflected in the tables because the
estimates and assumptions are subjective.

G. SAFE HARBOR

The safe harbor provided in Section 27A of the 8tes Act and Section 21E of the Exchange ActIstgply to forward-looking
information provided pursuant to Items 5E and 5khaf annual report. See “Forward-Looking Statersieint this annual report.

ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
A. DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Senior Management

We rely on the senior management of our principarating subsidiaries to manage our business. @uorsmanagement team is
responsible for the day-to-day management of oeraijpns. Members of our senior management areiegofrom time to time by vote of
the Board of Directors and hold office until a sessor is elected and qualified. The current memdfensir senior management are:

Name Age Position

Christian J. Beckett 46 Chief Executive Officer

Paul T. Reese 45 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Cees Van Diemen 61 Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer
Michael D. Acuff 44  Senior Vice President, Sales & Business Development
Kinga E. Doris 45  Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Richard E. Tatum 37 Vice President, Controller

Christian J. Beckett Mr. Beckett has served as our Chief Executivec®ffsince April 2008 and as a member of our Badidirectors
since March 11, 2011. Mr. Beckett has over 20 yehexperience in the energy industry. Prior tmijog us, he led the Strategic Business
Development and Planning group at Transocean tddh £004 to 2008. Mr. Beckett served at McKinse€&mpany, Inc. from 2001 to 2004,
where he provided strategic and operating adviggdbal energy companies and governments, and @80 to 2001 at Schlumberger Limit
in a series of international management roles imitheasing responsibilities. Mr. Beckett holds afBzor of Science in Exploration
Geophysics from University College London and a tdasf Business Administration from Rice Universilly 2014, Mr. Beckett was
recognized as a National Award Winner by the EYr&preneur of the Year Program.

Paul T. Reese Mr. Reese joined Pacific Drilling in October 2088d was appointed to his current position of CRiafncial Officer in
February 2014. Prior to his current position, MeeRe served as our Vice President, ControllerRdese has been a finance professional i
oilfield services and E&P space for over 20 yeBr#or to joining Pacific Drilling, he was Controtléor the global Exploration and
Development divisions at BHP Billiton Petroleumofr 1995 to 2007, Mr. Reese served in various fiigmeanagement roles at Transocean,
including Finance Director for the North and SoAtherica Business Unit, Assistant Vice-Presidentfodit and Advisory Services and
Finance Manager for the Asia & Australia and SoMtierica Regions, with international posts in Asia &entral and South America. Prior to
joining Transocean, Mr. Reese was an auditor irHbeston offices of Arthur Andersen LLP. Mr. Reésdds a Bachelor of Arts in Economi
and Managerial Studies and a Master of AccountiomfRice University.
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Cees Van DiemenMr. Van Diemen joined Pacific Drilling in Febrya2009 and was appointed to his current positioGaef
Operating Officer in August 2013. Prior to his @nt position, Mr. Van Diemen served as our Vicesklent of Operations. Mr. Van Diemen
has over 35 years of experience in the mobile ofsldrilling industry and extensive experience éeplwvater drilling from the early days of ¢
feet water depth activity in 1977 to recent operatiin 9,200 feet water depth. Prior to joininghesserved at Noble Drilling Corporation, and
its predecessor Neddrill, as Vice President & DorisManager Brazil from 2005 to October 2008 andé#President & Division Manager
Mobiles Europe from 2000 to 2005. Mr. Van Diemeteseer started offshore in the traditional drilspions from Floorman to Offshore
Installation Manager, before taking on increasiegponsibility in onshore management roles fromménager in West Africa, the
Mediterranean and the North Sea, to district managine North Sea and Vice President & Divisionridger in Europe and more recently in
Brazil. Mr. Van Diemen holds a Bachelor of Scientéutomotive Engineering from the University of dljdoorn in the Netherlands.

Michael D. Acuff. Mr. Acuff joined Pacific Drilling in June 2014 &enior Vice President, Sales and Business Devedoprivir. Acuff
has more than 15 years of experience in the djillidustry. Prior to joining us, he served at Diath®@ffshore as Senior Vice President of
Contracts and Marketing from 2010 to 2013 and an$ocean from 1999 to 2010. During his tenure Wiinsocean, he held a variety of
management positions in marketing, corporate ptagyroperations and human resources, includingriatemal postings. Prior to joining
Transocean, Mr. Acuff served in the U.S. Army fra893 to 1997 as battery executive officer, battapiersonnel officer and platoon leader.
Mr. Acuff holds a Bachelor of Science in Civil Engering from the University of Tennessee and a &tadtBusiness Administration from
Rice University.

Kinga E. Doris. Ms. Doris has served as our Vice President, Gé@ounsel and Secretary since September 2010Ddts has 20
years of experience advising global energy comsaang is a frequent speaker on FCPA anc-corruption issues. Prior to joining us, she
served as Chief Counsel for Pride International frean 2006 to 2010, where she was responsibléefl affairs of the global operations and
strategic planning groups. From 1999 to 2006, Mwifserved as Associate General Counsel of Cdperatories N.V. Prior to joining Core
Laboratories, Ms. Doris was an attorney in the Housffices of Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLild_eBoeuf, Lamb, Greene, and
MacRae LLP. Ms. Doris holds a Bachelor of Arts andliris Doctorate from Texas Tech University.

Richard E. Tatum. Mr. Tatum was appointed Vice President, ContralileMarch 2014 and in this capacity serves asRuincipal
Accounting Officer. Mr. Tatum joined Pacific Dritig in October 2010. Prior to his appointment as\Rcesident Controller, Mr. Tatum sen
as our Director Financial Reporting. Mr. Tatum baer 15 years of experience in offshore drillingl gublic accounting. Prior to joining
Pacific Drilling, Mr. Tatum served at Frontier Dirlg from 2009 until its merger with Noble DrillinGorporation. Mr. Tatum began his career
as an auditor with Grant Thornton LLP where he leeldriety of roles with increasing responsibititi@is most recent position being a
Manager in Grant Thornton’s National Professiortan8ards Group. Mr. Tatum received his Bachel@wdiness Administration and Master
in Professional Accounting degrees from the Unieisf Texas at Austin and is a CPA.

Board of Directors

In accordance with Luxembourg law, our Board ofediors is responsible for administering our affainsl for ensuring that our
operations are organized in a satisfactory manner.

Our Articles and Luxembourg law provide that ouraBbof Directors shall have no fewer than three tmenst The minimum number of
directors that may sit on our Board of Directorsyrha changed by an amendment of our Articles apgatdoy resolution passed at an
extraordinary general meeting of our shareholdelgest to a minimum of three members. Pursuanuto®aticles, the directors will be elected
by a general meeting of the shareholders. Resokiidopted at a general meeting of shareholdessndieie the number of directors compris
our Board of Directors, the remuneration of the rhera of our Board of Directors and the term of edichictor's mandate. Directors may not
be appointed for a term of more than six yearsabeiteligible for reslection at the end of their term. Directors maydmaoved at any time, wi
or without cause, by a resolution adopted at argéneeeting of shareholders. If the office of aedibr becomes vacant, the other members of
our Board of Directors, acting by a simple majgrityay fill the vacancy on a provisional basis uatilew director is appointed at the next
general meeting of shareholders.
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The current members of our Board of Directors aréodows:

Name Age Position

Ron Moskovitz 52 Chairman

Christian J. Beckett 46 Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer
Laurence N. Charney 67 Director

Jeremy Asher 56 Director

Sami Iskander 49 Director

Robert Schwed 65 Director

Paul Wolff 67 Director

Cyril Ducau 36 Director

Elias Sakellis 38 Director

Ron Moskovitz Mr. Moskovitz was appointed as a director of @@npany in March 2011. Mr. Moskovitz is the ChiefEutive
Officer of Quantum Pacific (UK) LLP, and servesGisairman of Israel Corp. and as director of Kenafdihgs Ltd., each of which may be
considered to be associated with the same ultibeteficiary, Idan Ofer. From July 2008 until DecemP012, Mr. Moskovitz served as Chief
Executive Officer of Quantum Pacific Advisory Lirad. From July 2002 until November 2007, Mr. Moskngerved as Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of Amdocs Limited. Frdr98 until July 2002, he served as Vice PresidéRinance at Amdocs. Between 1994
and 1998, Mr. Moskovitz held various senior finahgiositions at Tower Semiconductor Ltd. and sexeits board of directors from 2007 to
September 2011. Mr. Moskovitz is a CPA in Israal Anlds a BA in Accounting and Economics from Hadfaiversity and a Master of
Business Administration from Tel Aviv University.

Laurence N. Charney Mr. Charney was appointed as a director of then@amy in April 2011. Mr. Charney retired from Erdsoung
LLP (“Ernst & Young”) in June 2007, where, over ttaurse of his more than 35-year career, he saséthrtner, Practice Leader and Senior
Advisor. Since his retirement from Ernst & Youngt.NMLharney has served as a business strategiinandial advisor to boards, senior
management and investors of early stage ventureate businesses and small to mid-cap public aatpms across the consumer products,
energy, real estate, high-tech/software, mediaf@mtenent, and noprofit sectors. His most recent affiliations hameluded board tenures w
Marvel Entertainment, Inc., Pure BioFuels, Inc. sMFields Original Cookie and the Iconix Brand Grplnc. He was appointed to the board of
TG Therapeutics, Inc. in 2012 and to the board @fidh Holdings, Ltd. in May 2014. Mr. Charney isradyate of Hofstra University with a
Bachelor Degree in Business Administration (Accgjt and he also completed an Executive Mastegrara at Columbia University.
Mr. Charney maintains active membership with theefigan Institute of Certified Public Accountantsladew York State Society of Certified
Public Accountants.

Jeremy Asher. Mr. Asher was appointed as a director of the Camygdn April 2011. Mr. Asher is currently ChairmahAgile Energy
Limited, a privately held energy investment compadlgairman of Tower Resources plc, an oil & gadagbion company, and an advisor to
Oil Refineries Limited, an independent refiner @edrochemicals producer. Until 2008, he serveddisegtor of Process Systems Enterprise
Limited, a developer of process simulation softw&etween 2001 and the present, Mr. Asher hassalised as a director and financial
investor in various other enterprises. From 1998 A601, Mr. Asher served as the Chief Executiféd®r of PA Consulting Group, where he
oversaw PA’s globalization and growth from 2,500&arly 4,000 employees, and negotiated and marthgedtegration of PA’s acquisition
of Hagler Bailly, Inc. Between 1990 and 1997 heuaeyl, developed and sold the 275,000 bbl/d Bdteebtinery at Wilhelmshaven in
Germany. Prior to that, in the late 1980’s, Mr. Ashan the global oil products trading busineswladit is now Glencore AG and, prior to that,
spent several years as a consultant at what isGlower Wyman. Mr. Asher is a graduate of the Lon@mtool of Economics and holds a
Master of Business Administration from Harvard Besis School. He is also a member of the LondomigasiSchool’s Global Advisory
Council and serves as a member of the EngineerthgsAry Board of Imperial Innovations plc, the coenaial arm of Imperial College.

Sami Iskander. Mr. Iskander was appointed as a director of tbem@any in September 2013. Mr. Iskander is the GB@drating
Officer at BG Group and has served as a board meait®G Energy Holdings Limited and BG Internatibhanited since September 2009.
He was appointed to the BG Group Executive CommitteJuly 2009 and previously served BG Group enrtiles of Executive Vice Preside
Operations and Senior Vice President, Operatiod€evelopments in BG Advance. Prior to joining B&@ in 2008, Mr. Iskander spent his
career with Schlumberger and fulfilled a numbek®f leadership roles with them. Mr. Iskander h@d3S in Mechanical Engineering from
American University in Cairo, Egypt.

Robert Schwed Mr. Schwed was appointed as a director of the @om in May 2013. Mr. Schwed has 40 years of egpee working
with private equity firms and their portfolio compas in corporate finance transactions. Since 2002,
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Mr. Schwed has been a partner in the CorporatdiBea@roup of the international law firm Wilmer @art Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP. From
1982 until 2002, Mr. Schwed was a partner of ReldatMurray, a New York law firm specializing in pate equity and venture capital
matters. Since 2009, Mr. Schwed has served as pmétdProfessor at the George Washington UniveSityool of Law. Mr. Schwed holds a
Bachelor of Arts in Economics from Williams Colleged a Juris Doctorate from Harvard Law School.

Paul Wolff . Mr. Wolff was appointed as a director of the Camypin April 2011. Since 2006, Mr. Wolff has senaslan independent
director and private investor in different finari@ad industrial companies. From 1971 to 2006, beked in the banking sector in which he
held various responsibilities in corporate and gevbanking. He served as a Managing Director cddvigierson, headed the Trust Busines:
was Head of Private Banking and Asset ManagementWélff has a degree in Commercial Engineeringrfrdniversity of Louvain, a Master
of Business Administration from INSEAD Fontainehleand completed the Advanced Management Program [ftarvard.

Cyril Ducau . Mr. Ducau was appointed as a director of the Gamgpn April 2011. He is currently a Managing Dit@cof Quantum
Pacific Ventures Limited and was previously Hea@osiness Development of Quantum Pacific Advisamited from 2008 to 2012. Mr.
Ducau serves as director of Kenon Holdings Ltd.s@ma Holdings B.V., Jelany Corporation N.V., QuantPacific Shipping Services Pte.
Ltd. and Quantum York LNG Inc. Prior to joining Quam Pacific Advisory Limited, Mr. Ducau was ViceeBident in the investment banking
division of Morgan Stanley & Co. International Lid.London and during his tenure there from 2002G08, he held various positions in the
Capital Markets, Leveraged Finance and Mergersfanaglisitions teams. Prior to that, Mr. Ducau gaiesgerience in consultancy working
Arthur D. Little in Munich and investment managermeith Credit Agricole Ul Private Equity in Paristr. Ducau graduated from ESCP
Europe Business School (Paris, Oxford, Berlin) holdls a Master of Science in business administratiad a Diplom Kaufmann.

Elias Sakellis. Mr. Sakellis was appointed as a director of teenBany in June 2012. Mr. Sakellis joined QuantumifRaAdvisory
Limited in May 2012 as Managing Director. He wap@ipted Managing Director of Business Developmér@pwantum Pacific (UK) LLP in
January 2013 and director of Kenon Holdings LtdVisly 2014. Prior to joining Quantum Pacific (UK) BLMr. Sakellis worked at Goldman,
Sachs & Co. in London from 2000 to 2012. Duringtkisure at Goldman, Sachs & Co., he held varios#ipas, including Executive Director
of Leveraged Finance & Restructuring in the InvesitrBanking Division, Executive Director and BusiaéJnit Manager in the Investment
Banking Division, and Financial Analyst and Assteim the Equities Division. Prior to joining Gol@m, Sachs & Co., Mr. Sakellis gained
experience in the banking sector by working asrealyst for Lehman Brothers in London from 1999 @8@. Mr. Sakellis is a graduate of
Imperial College London with a Master of Scienc&inance and a Master of Engineering in Mecharicgjineering. He also holds a Master
of Business Administration from INSEAD.

B. COMPENSATION
Senior Management

Members of our senior management receive compemnstti the services they provide. The aggregath campensation paid to all
members of senior management as a group was apptety $4.4 million for the fiscal year ended Debem31, 2014. In addition, under the
Pacific Drilling S.A. 2011 Omnibus Stock IncentiRéan (the “2011 Stock Plan,” as described in metaitlunder “—Equity Compensation
Plans” below), we granted in 2014 an aggregatedbfrllion options to purchase our common sharaaémbers of our senior management
team at an exercise price of $10.80 per share &whillion restricted share units with a grant deatue of $10.80 per share.

The cash compensation for each member of senioageanent is principally comprised of base salaryl@ris. The compensation that
we pay to our senior management is evaluated @maunal basis considering the following primary éast individual performance during the
prior year, market rates and movements and theithdil’'s anticipated contribution to us and ourwgtte. Members of our senior management
team are also eligible to participate in our retiemt savings plans, described below under “—Beddihs and Programs.” In addition,
members of our senior management are eligible tiicfate in welfare benefit programs made avaéabl our U.S. workforce generally,
including medical, dental, life insurance and diigtbenefits. We believe that the compensatiormaied to our senior management is
consistent with that of our peers and similarlyaied companies in the industry in which we operate

Directors

During the year ended December 31, 2014, we paabgregate of approximately $0.4 million in dirgstdees to the independent
members of the Board of Directors. In addition, BtesAsher, Charney and Wolff each received andwh7,408 restricted stock units with a
grant date value of $10.88 per share, and Mesdantler and Schwed received awards of 8,792 a6 88tricted stock units, respectively,
with a grant date value of $10.88 per share. Metstander and Schwed also received 20,982 an®@®@ptions, respectively, to purchase ou
common shares at an exercise price of $10.88 peesh
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We have also paid an aggregate of approximate® B@lion in directors’ fees to the non-independer@mbers of the Board of Directors
affiliated with Quantum Pacific Group. We pay thégectors’fees directly to Quantum Pacific Group. Memberswf Board of Directors wr
are also our employees or employees of our subigidido not receive any additional compensatioritfeir service on our Board of Directors.
We believe that our director fee structure is cumstry and reasonable for companies of our kind andistent with that of our peers and
similarly situated companies in the industry in g¥hive operate. These fees may be increased froettirtime by a resolution of the general
meeting of shareholders.

Equity Compensation Plans

The 2011 Stock Plan provides for the granting oflstoptions, stock appreciation rights, restricthdres, restricted share units and o
equity-based or equity-related awards to direcwif;ers, employees and consultants. Subject jusément as provided, 15.9 million common
shares of Pacific Drilling S.A. are reserved anthatized for issuance pursuant to the terms o2l Stock Plan. The Compensation
Committee of our Board of Directors approves paréints and, subject to the provisions of the 20tbtISPlan, determines the terms and
conditions of awards under the 2011 Stock Plan.

Under the 2011 Stock Plan, a total of 5.0 millignions and 1.8 million restricted share units arstanding, of which 3.4 million
options and 0.5 million restricted share units wgnanted to members of senior management. Theisggrdce of the stock options range from
$9.58 to $10.80 per share. The options expiratadesirange from March 31, 2021 to March 31, 202 rEstricted share units were granted
a range of $9.58 to $10.80 per share. We also tyarged awards of 101,542 options and 90,035 céstiistock units under the 2011 Stock
Plan to certain independent members of our Boaiirgfctors. The exercise prices of the stock opti@nge from $10.12 to $10.88 per share.
The options expiration dates range from March 832220 March 31, 2024. The restricted share unéevgranted at a range of $8.54 to $1
per share. The options and restricted share uratsted generally vest 25% annually over four yéams the date of grant.

Benefit Plans and Programs

Pacific Drilling sponsors a defined contributiotimement plan covering substantially all U.S. enygles (the “U.S. Savings Plan”) and
an international savings plan (the “InternationaVigs Plan”). Under the U.S. Savings Plan, we ma@i0% of employee contributions up to
6% of eligible compensation per participant. Unither International Savings Plan, we contribute 6%axfe compensation (limited to a
contribution of $15,000 per participant). During thears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 201&talemployer contributions to both
plans amounted to $6.9 million, $4.5 million and#illion, respectively.

We have established an annual bonus plan for kejog@es whose decisions, activities and performaase a significant impact on
business results. Target bonus levels are detednoinen individual basis and take into accountviiddial performance, competitive pay
practices and external market conditions. Achiev@roébonus payment is based on the achievememirdinancial target and individual
goals.

C. BOARD PRACTICES
See Item 10, “Memorandum and Articles of AssociatioVoting Rights—Appointment and Removal of Dirastofor a detailed
description regarding the appointment and remofalio Board of Directors.

On May 13, 2014, at our annual general meetindhafeholders, each of our then current directorsreragppointed for an additional
one-year term through the 2015 annual general neét2015 AGM”).

There are no service contracts between us andfanyr directors providing for benefits upon terntioa of their service.

Committees of the Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors has an Audit Committee, anpensation Committee and a Nominating Committee,raay have such other
committees as the Board of Directors shall deteerfiiom time to time. Each of the standing commétefour Board of Directors has the
composition and responsibilities described below.

Audit Committee

The members of our Audit Committee are Messrs. AdBlearney, Schwed and Wolff, each of whom our BadrDirectors has
determined is financially literate. Mr. Charneythie Chairman of the Audit Committee. Our Board akbtors has determined that each of the
members of our Audit Committee is “independent” emnthe standards of the NYSE and SEC rules. Irtiaddiour Board of Directors has
determined that Mr. Charney is an Audit Commitiearicial expert.
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The Audit Committee’s primary responsibilities &meassist the Board of Directors’ oversight of: aacounting practices; the integrity
of our financial statements; our compliance witldleand regulatory requirements; the qualificatj@®dection, independence and performance
of our independent registered public accounting;fiand the internal audit function. We have adoptedudit Committee charter defining the
committee’s primary duties in a manner consistettt the rules of the SEC and the NYSE or marketddads.

Compensation Committee

The members of our Compensation Committee are lgleAsher, Charney and Moskovitz. Mr. Asher is th@i@nan of our
Compensation Committee. The purpose of this coremitt to oversee the discharge of the responabilif our Board of Directors relating to
compensation of our executive officers. Our Compgaa Committee also administers our incentive censation and benefit plans. We have
adopted a Compensation Committee charter defitiegommittee’s primary duties in a manner consistét the rules of the SEC and the
NYSE or market standarc

No member of our Compensation Committee has beanyatime an employee of ours. None of our exeeutificers serve on the boz
of directors or compensation committee of a comghayhas an executive officer that serves on mar® of Directors or Compensation
Committee. No member of our Board of Directorsrisaecutive officer of a company in which one of executive officers serves as a
member of the board of directors or compensatianroittee of that company.

Nominating Committee

Our Board of Directors has established a Nomina@iogimittee. The members of our Nominating CommisieeMessrs. Asher,
Iskander, Moskovitz and Sakellis. Mr. Moskovitzli® Chairman of our Nominating Committee.

The purpose of the Nominating Committee is to assesBoard of Directors in identifying individuadsialified to become members of
the Board of Directors and to provide advice toBloard of Directors regarding its composition anchmittees. The Committee plans to adop
a formal charter at its initial meeting.

Corporate Governance

Our Board of Directors is empowered to take anipaatecessary or desirable in view of carryingauwt corporate objective, except for
the powers specifically allocated to the generadting of shareholders by law and/or by our Articles

Our Articles provide that our day-to-day managenaatt the power to represent us in such mattershealelegated to one or more
directors, officers or other agents. The day-to-aa@nagement has been delegated to our Chief Exeddfficer, Christian J. Beckett, and Ron
Moskovitz, the Chairman of our Board of Directagach of whom are authorized to represent us indalig in this regard. However, certain
matters may not be delegated by our Board of Ddrscincluding approval of our accounts, appro¥aw annual budget, approval of our
policies and approval of recommendations made lgpycammittee of our Board of Directors.

Our Articles further provide that we are bound todgathird parties in all matters by the joint sitgma of a majority of our Board of
Directors. In addition, we are also bound towahiigltparties by the joint or single signature oy @erson to whom special signatory powers
have been delegated pursuant to our Articles.

All decisions to be taken by our Board of Directars subject to a quorum and vote of a majoritthefdirectors. A Chairman of the
Board is elected from the members of the Board.Jha&irman has a casting vote in the event of edie. Our Chairman of the Board is Ron
Moskovitz, who was re-elected at our Annual Meetih@hareholders in 2014 for a subsequent onetgearexpiring at the 2015 AGM.

The Board must make all decisions in our best @stisrand each director must notify the Board off@ossible conflicts between his/her
personal interests and ours. A director must nefitaim participating in any deliberation or decisiavolving such a conflict. A special report
on the relevant conflict of interest transactiotl & submitted to the shareholders at the nexegdmeeting before any shareholder vote on
the matter.

As a foreign private issuer we are exempt fromatentequirements of the NYSE that are applicabld.®. listed companies. For a
listing and further discussion of how our corporgd®ernance practices differ from those required & companies on the NYSE, see
Item 16G or visit the corporate governance seatioour website at www.pacificdrilling.com.
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D. EMPLOYEES
Employees
As of December 31, 2014, we and our subsidiaridsahiatal of 1,193 employees and 413 subcontracitisse employees consisted of:

« 36 employees and subcontractors in constructioragemen
« 1326 employees and subcontractors in engineeridgpearations; ar

e 244 employees and subcontractors in financategty and business development, sales and markatthgther administrative
functions.

As of December 31, 2014, approximately 565 of aupleyees and our subcontractors were located ibtiieed States, 186 were
located in South Korea, 616 were located in Nigexmal 222 were located in Brazil. The remaindeswfemployees were in various other
locations around the world.

As of December 31, 2013, we and our subsidiaridsahiatal of 942 employees and 359 subcontractérsse employees consisted of:

e 137 employees and subcontractors in constructiaragemen
* 942 employees and subcontractors in engineeringpparhtions; ar

« 222 employees and subcontractors in financategty and business development, sales and marlkatthgther administrative
functions.

As of December 31, 2013, approximately 333 of aupleyees and our subcontractors were located itthied States, 118 were
located in South Korea, 578 were located in Nigand 208 were located in Brazil. The remainderwfemployees were in various other
locations around the world.

As of December 31, 2012, we and our subsidiaridsahatal of 603 employees and 403 subcontracitrsse employees consisted of:
* 92 employees and subcontractors in constructioragemen

« 809 employees and subcontractors in engineeringpperhtions; ar

e 105 employees and subcontractors in financategty and business development, sales and markatthgther administrative
functions.

As of December 31, 2012, approximately 291 of oupkeyees and our subcontractors were located iitieed States, 91 were located
in South Korea, 393 were located in Nigeria and &&6€e located in Brazil. The remainder of our ergpks were in various other locations
around the world.

During 2012, we completed the manning of Bezific Mistraland thePacific Santa Anand commenced manning of tRacific
Khamsinand thePacific Sharav.

During 2013, we completed the manning of Braeific Khamsin continued manning of tHeacific Sharavand commenced manning of
the Pacific Meltem

During 2014, we completed the manning of Bezific Sharay continued manning of tHeacific Meltemand commenced manning of
the Pacific Zonda

We believe that our relations with employees amdgdhe employees of one of our manpower provigtleMigeria are currently
represented by unions and covered by a collecvgaining agreement. Our employees in Brazil areeatly represented by unions and
covered by a collective bargaining agreement.
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E. SHARE OWNERSHIP

The table below shows the number of common sharesfizially owned and the percentage owned of atstanding common shares
for our directors, officers and key employees aBeffruary 23, 2015, and the percentage held abthecommon shares in issue. Also shown
are their interests in share options awarded tm thheder the 2011 Stock Plan. See Item 6, “CompeEmsatEquity Compensation Plans” for a
description of the 2011 Stock Plan.

Beneficial Interest in
Common Shares

Number of
shares

Director or Key Employee (in thousands) Percentage
Christian J. Beckett @ 2
Paul T. Reese * *
Cees Van Diemen * *
Michael D. Acuff * *
Kinga E. Doris * *
Richard E. Tatum * *
Ron Moskovitz — —
Laurence N. Charney * *
Jeremy Asher * *
Sami Iskander * *
Robert Schwed * *
Paul Wolff * *
Cyril Ducau — —
Elias Sakellis — —
All officers and directors as a groftp 3,06¢ 1.4%
* Owned less than 1% based on the total number sfamding common shares as of February 23, .

(@ Includes 2.5 million of common shares issualplen exercise of options that are exercisableim@b days of the date of this filing and
0.5 million restricted share units outstanding Hstdur senior management and directors as of Bep@8, 2015.
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ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
A. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

The following table sets forth information as obReary 23, 2015 for each shareholder whom we krolbeneficially own more than
five percent of our outstanding common shares:

Common Shares Held

Number of
Shares
Identity of Person or Group (in thousands) Percentage
Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limite®d® 150,00( 70.2%
Adage Capital Partners, L.P. 11,777 © 5.5%

(1) Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited is a Gilkaat company and wholly-owned subsidiary of Quan®acific International Limited, the
indirect ultimate owner of which is a trust in whitdan Ofer and certain members of his family aeegrimary beneficiaries. The
address of Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited /863 Line Wall Road, Gibraltar.

(2) Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited has agreedlexige a total of 85.7 million common shares heldt lag security for a margin lo¢

(3) Based solely on a Schedule 13G/A filed with 8ecurities and Exchange Commission on FebruarQ15s. Adage Capital Partners,
L.P. has shared voting power and shared dispogitiveer over 11,777,191 shares of our common stock.

Prior to our issuance of 60.0 million common shadoegrivate investors in the 2011 Private Placem®@oiantum Pacific Group owned
100% of our common shares. Immediately after cotigrleof the 2011 Private Placement, Quantum PaGificup owned approximately 71.<
of our common shares. Following the completionwf initial public offering and the exercise of thederwriter over-allotment option,
Quantum Pacific Group owned approximately 69.2%wfcommon shares. Our major shareholders do net different voting rights than o
other shareholders.

Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited has entereaiatmargin loan arrangement with a financial in§itih pursuant to which it has
agreed to pledge 85.7 million common shares aatendll. In the event of a decline in the valuewfghares, a margin call may be triggered.
Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited'’s failure togmptly meet any margin calls or default under tHfesmcing arrangements could result in
the sale or other disposition of some or all ofgleriged shares, which could result in one or mpersons other than Quantum Pacific
(Gibraltar) Limited acquiring a significant votinigterest in the Company.

We issued 15.9 million common shares reservedsirance under our Pacific Drilling S.A. 2011 Omail@tock Incentive Plan
(“Reserve Option Shares”) to one of our wholly-odrsebsidiaries. These Reserve Option Shares atedras issued but not outstanding and
are held internally for purposes of administering Bacific Drilling S.A. 2011 Omnibus Stock IncemiPlan. The Reserve Option Shares will
be issued when and if the respective option holslelsnit a valid and proper exercise of their laga#isted options. Prior to issuance to any
such option holders, the Reserve Option Share®tlbave voting rights and do not participate inehenings of the Company.

As of February 23, 2015, we had only one sharehafleecord in the United States, Cede & Co. (naainf The Depository Trust
Company) in whose name all shareholdings in théddrStates are recorded. This single shareholdercofd in the United States represented
approximately 30.5% of the total outstanding comrsbares. The number of beneficial owners of ourmmomshares in the United States is
significantly larger than the number of record feoklof our common shares in the United States.

B. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Not applicable.

C. INTERESTS OF EXPERTS AND COUNSEL
Not applicable.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFO RMATION

See Item 18, “Financial Statements” within this @alreport.
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Legal Proceedings

It is to be expected that we and our subsidiariéde routinely involved in litigation and dispgarising in the ordinary course of our
business. On April 16, 2013, Transocean filed aglamt against us in the United States District @éaor the Southern District of Texas
alleging infringement of their dual activity patentransocean seeks relief in the form of a permiainginction, compensatory damages,
enhanced damages, court costs and fees. We deliiebthat ultimate liability, if any, resultingoim any such pending litigation will have a
material adverse effect on our financial positi@sults of operations or cash flows.

Distribution Policy

In February 2014, our Board of Directors resol@decommend to our shareholders at the 2014 aigenairal meeting of shareholde
distribution to shareholders of up to $152.0 milliin the aggregate, to be paid in 2015. On May2034 at the annual general meeting of
shareholders, the proposal was approved by thelsbiglers with the form and timing of the distrilmtipayments to be determined at the
discretion of the Board of Directors. In Februa®i 2, due to current market conditions, our BoarBioéctors resolved to defer the declaratior
of any distribution until the Board has more chaonh market conditions and the contracting of uti@arted rigs, and as a result, we will not
make a distribution to shareholders in the firsintger of 2015 and there can be no certainty ash&nvor if the Board will approve a
distribution.

Our decision to pay dividends or make distributiendependent upon numerous factors, includingibtitimited to, committed and
projected capital expenditures, targeted growthmerébrmance metrics, and restrictions imposed uadeexisting debt agreements and any
future debt financing agreements. Additionally, pragment of future dividends, if any, will be deténed by us in light of conditions then
existing, including our earnings, financial pogiti@apital requirements, restrictions in existimgl &uture financing agreements, business
conditions and other factors. The declaration gfd@imidend payment or distribution is at the disicne of our Board of Directors and subject to
shareholder approval as well as additional requér@sof Luxembourg law. Dividends may be lawfulgcthred and paid if our net profits and
distributable reserves are sufficient under Luxeangdaw. Under Luxembourg law, at least 5% of oetr profits per year must be allocated to
the creation of a legal reserve until such reshagreached an amount equal to 10% of our issw@ shpital. If the legal reserve subsequ
falls below the 10% threshold, at least 5% of mefifs again must be allocated toward the resestbd extent the legal reserve is below the
10% threshold. The legal reserve is not availabalfstribution. In the event that we do not hawfisient net profits and distributable resen
Luxembourg law may nevertheless permit us to masteifslitions of share capital or share premiumadtulérs of our common shares. There
can be no assurance that we will make dividend jeaysnor distributions in the amount or within thexipd forecasted.

Under the terms of the 2017 Senior Secured Ndie2@20 Senior Secured Notes and the Senior Se€eredLoan B, subject to
certain exceptions, we are limited in our abiltypaly dividends or make distributions, purchaseedeem our capital stock or make other
restricted payments. The terms of the 2013 Revgldredit Facility and 2014 Revolving Credit Fagilgermit us to pay dividends or make
distributions so long as there is no default thedem and we are in pro forma compliance with ouximam leverage and minimum liquidity
tests thereunder after giving effect to such dinitler distribution payment. The terms of the SS{itmathe payment of dividends or
distributions to our shareholders under certairdd@ans more fully set forth therein, whereby weynalistribute up to 50% of our net income
per year, to be paid no later than the end of tHeviing year. Please refer to Note 4 to the Comygpm&onsolidated Financial Statements in
annual report for a more detailed description eftdérms of our debt financings.

Share Repurchase Program

On November 24, 2014, our shareholders approvédr@ sepurchase program for the repurchase of 8@tmillion shares of our
common stock through May 20, 2016. Based on thisazization, the Board of Directors authorized toenmencement of the program on
December 1, 2014 and the expenditure of up to $3@l@n for repurchases under the program.

The Company may purchase shares through finamteinediaries in one or several transactions oopes market. Subject to having
sufficient available free reserves in the Compasirare premium account, we anticipate that repseshduring 2015 will be primarily funded
with cash on hand. See Note 6 to the Company’s @iofaged Financial Statements.

B. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES

On February 23, 2015, we repaid the remaining antshg aggregate principal in the amount of $286ilBon and accrued interest of
the 2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds as of the stataatitgadate. We funded this transaction by existiagh balances and drawing on $180.0
million of the 2014 Revolving Credit Facility.
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ITEM 9. THE OFFER AND LISTING
A. OFFER AND LISTING DETAILS

Our common shares have traded on the Norwegian I03tGince April 5, 2011 under the symbol “PDSA.UGcommon shares
commenced trading on the NYSE on November 11, 20iier the symbol “PACD.” The NYSE listing is intestto be our primary listing and
the Norwegian OTC listing is intended to be ourosetary listing.

On February 23, 2015, the closing price of our cammshares on the NYSE was $3.74 per share.

The following table sets forth, for each full fir@al year, high and low intraday sale prices of cammon shares:

Price Per Common Share

NYSE NOTC
High Low High Low
(USS$) (USS$) (NOK) (NOK)

Fiscal Year Ended December 31,

2014 11.51 4.2¢ 66.5( 59.5(

2013 12.2¢ 8.8¢ 67.6( 49.0C

2012 11.47 7.71 63.0( 46.0(C

The following table sets forth, for each full fir@al quarter for the two most recent fiscal yeaigh and low intraday sale prices of our
common shares:

Price Per Common Share

NYSE NOTC
High Low High Low
(US$) (US$) (NOK) (NOK)
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2014
Fourth quarter 8.217 4.2: n/e n/e
Third quarter 10.3¢ 8.2¢4 n/e n/e
Second quarter 10.9¢ 9.27 61.0( 61.0(
First quarter 11.51 9.5¢ 66.5( 59.5(
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2013
Fourth quarter 12.2¢ 10.6¢ 67.6( 66.7¢
Third quarter 11.2¢ 9.2(C 60.0( 54.0(
Second quarter 10.2: 8.8¢ 54.0( 54.0(
First quarter 10.71 9.17 52.7¢ 49.0(

The following table sets forth, for the six mosteat months, high and low intraday sale pricesusfammmon shares:

Price Per Common Share

NYSE NOTC ®

High Low High Low

(US$) (US$) (NOK) (NOK)
February 2015 (a) 4.0¢€ 3.12 n/a n/a
January 2015 4.71 3.14 n/a n/a
December 2014 6.1¢€ 4.2 n/a n/a
November 2014 7.5C 5.9t n/a n/a
October 2014 8.217 6.1t n/a n/a
September 2014 9.9¢ 8.24 n/a n/a

(@) February 1, 2015 through February 23, 2
(b) No trading occurred on the NOTC for the six moserg month:
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B. PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION
Not applicable.

C. MARKETS
Our common shares currently trade on the NYSE had\brwegian OTC under the symbols “PACD” and “PDSAspectively.

D. SELLING SHAREHOLDERS
Not applicable.

E. DILUTION
Not applicable.

F. EXPENSES OF THE ISSUE
Not applicable.

ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
A. SHARE CAPITAL
Not applicable.

B. MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

Our Amended and Restated Articles of Associatioreviiied as Exhibit 3.2 to our Registration Statetnen Form F-1 (Registration
No. 33:-177774), which was filed with the Securities anatltange Commission on November 7, 2011, and aebliéncorporated by
reference into this Annual Report.

Description of Share Capital

The following is a summary of our share capital #mrights of the holders of our common sharesdt@material to an investment in
our common shares. These rights are set forthril\dicles or are provided by applicable Luxembolagy, and these rights may differ from
those typically provided to shareholders of U.Snpanies under the corporation laws of the varidates of the United States. This summary
does not contain all information that may be imanttto readers.

Our share capital is comprised of common sharesf A&&bruary 23, 2015, an aggregate of 213.3 miiommon shares, accounting
value $0.01 per share and without nominal valueewssued and outstanding. Each of our outstancbingmon shares entitles its holder to one
vote at any general meeting of shareholders.

Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited has enterediatmargin loan arrangement with a financial in§ith pursuant to which it has
agreed to pledge 85.7 million common shares aatendll. In the event of a decline in the valuewfghares, a margin call may be triggered.
Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited’s failure togmptly meet any margin calls or default under tHegencing arrangements could result in
the sale or other disposition of some or all ofgleziged shares, which could result in one or rpersons other than Quantum Pacific
(Gibraltar) Limited acquiring a significant votinigterest in the Company.

To our knowledge, as of February 23, 2015, thenewe additional shareholders’ arrangements oreageats the implementation or
performance of which could, at a later date, resudt change in the control of us in favor of adtperson other than the current controlling
shareholder, an entity controlled by the QuantuwifieaGroup.

Our common shares are governed by Luxembourg lawanArticles. More information concerning shareleos’ rights can be found
in the Luxembourg law on commercial companies dategust 10, 1915, as amended from time to time,candArticles.

General

We are a Luxembourgpciété anonymg@ joint stock company). Our legal name is “Padbidling S.A.” We were incorporated on
March 11, 2011.
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Pacific Drilling S.A. is registered with the Luxelrg Registry of Trade and Companies under the eafh59658. Our registered
office is located at 8-10, Avenue de la Gare, LA &lUxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.

Our corporate object, as stated in Article 3 (Coap® object) of our Articles, is the following: T®mpany’s object is the acquisition of
participations, in Luxembourg or abroad, in any pamy or enterprise in any form whatsoever, andrtheagement of those patrticipations.
Company may in particular acquire, by subscriptifmrchase and exchange or in any other manneistanl, shares and other participation
securities, bonds, debentures, certificates of siepad other debt instruments and, more geneatly securities and financial instruments
issued by any public or private entity. It may fApte in the creation, development, managemethcantrol of any company or enterprise.
Further, it may invest in the acquisition and mamagnt of a portfolio of patents or other intellettproperty rights of any nature or origin.

Under our Articles, we may borrow in any form. Wayrissue notes, bonds and any kind of debt andyesggurities. We may lend
funds, including, without limitation, the proceeafsany borrowings, to our subsidiaries, affiliammpanies and any other companies. We me
also give guarantees and pledge, transfer, encuonttherwise create and grant security over sanad of our assets to guarantee our own
obligations and those of any other company, andeigdly, for our own benefit and that of any othempany or person. We may not, howe
carry out any regulated financial sector activitihout having obtained the requisite authorizatio

We may use techniques, legal means and instrurteenianage our investment efficiently and to protesselves against credit risks,
currency exchange exposure, interest rate risko#ret risks.

We may carry out any commercial, financial or indias operation and any transaction with respecttd estate or movable property,
which directly or indirectly, favors or relatesdar corporate object.

Share Capital

As of February 23, 2015, our issued share capitalented to $2.2 million represented by 232.8 millcmmmon shares and
213.3 million common shares issued and outstangiagyalue $0.01 per share and without nominalezalie are authorized to issue $50.0
million of share capital (such amount including therently issued share capital of $2.2 millionjlame authorized to issue up to 5.0 billion
common shares, having an accounting par value .6fl$ier share and without nominal value (such nurabshares including the
232.8 million common shares already issued), osuch authorized share capital.

Under Article 5 of our Articles, our share capitas set on incorporation at $50,000, representeégD300 shares in registered form
without nominal value. On March 30, 2011, the st#lareholder, Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limitedicha general meeting to approve
amending our Articles to authorize the Board ofeiors, for a period of five years, to issue uf36.0 million of share capital (inclusive of
current share capital of the Company). On March28a,1, our Board of Directors resolved to split thistanding 50,000 common shares into
5.0 million common shares, without nominal valuee3e common shares are held by Quantum Pacificd&l Limited. In addition, on
March 30, 2011, our Board of Directors resolved@arantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited to become théirect sole shareholder of all issued
common shares of our Predecessor in exchangedasshance of 145.0 million of our common sharesofMarch 31, 2011, our common
shares consisted of 150.0 million issued and oudatg common shares, having an accounting par \&Iu&L per share, all of which are held
by an entity controlled by Quantum Pacific (GibagjtLimited. In connection with the 2011 Privata¢dment, we issued 60.0 million common
shares to international and U.S. investors forgmseceeds of $600.0 million. Following completmfrthe 2011 Private Placement, our share
capital consisted of 210.0 million common sharsseésl and outstanding.

In November 2011, we completed an initial publifedhg of 6.0 million common shares. In Decembet Bahe underwriters purchased
an additional 0.9 million common shares pursuarthéofull exercise of an over-allotment option. Thitial public offering resulted in net
proceeds of approximately $50.3 million. In Decem®@l1 and March 2014, we also issued 7.2 millioch & 7 million common shares,
respectively, to one of our wholly-owned subsidiariwhich represents 3.3% and 4.0% of our outstgmzimmon shares. These common
shares are held in treasury for purposes of adtaimg our Pacific Drilling S.A. 2011 Omnibus Stadcicentive Plan.

As of December 31, 2014, our share capital cordsist®.0 billion common shares authorized and 21b%ilBon common shares issued
and outstanding of which approximately 69.5% wdd bg Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limited.

Form and Transfer of Shares

Our shares are issued in registered form only amdreely transferable, subject to any restrictitha may be provided for in our
Articles or in any agreement entered into betwdemeholders. Luxembourg law does not impose angdiimns on the rights of Luxembourg
or non-Luxembourg residents to hold or vote ourasha
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Issuance of Shares

Pursuant to Luxembourg law, the issuance of oumesomshares requires the approval by the generdimgesf shareholders at the
guorum and vote requirements provided for the ammemd of our Articles. The general meeting of shaléérs may, however, approve an
authorized unissued share capital and authorizBadlaed of Directors to issue shares up to the masirmamount of such authorized unissued
share capital for a maximum period of five yeaosrfrthe date of publication in the Luxembourg offlgjazette of the minutes of the relevant
general meeting. The general meeting may amendywen extend such authorized share capital anddaétion to the Board of Directors to
issue shares.

Pursuant to Article 5.3 of our Articles, our BoarfdDirectors is authorized, for a period of fiveaye from the publication of our
incorporation deed on March 11, 2011, to increbsectirrent share capital once or more up to $5@l@mby the issue of new shares having
the same rights as the existing shares, or withpytsuch issue. Accordingly, our Board of Directmiay issue up to 4.8 billion common share:
until March 11, 2016 against contributions in cagimtributions in kind or by way of incorporatiohavailable reserves at such times and on
such terms and conditions, including the issuespias our Board of Directors or its delegates maisior their discretion resolve while
waiving, suppressing or limiting any pre-emptivéseription rights of shareholders provided for &y lto the extent it deems such waiver,
suppression or limitation advisable for any issugssues of shares within the authorized shardalapi

Under Luxembourg law, our Board of Directors, atuy appointed representative of our Board of Oie; is required to go before a
Luxembourg notary within one month following anriease of our share capital by our Board of Directorecord the share capital increas
notarial deed.

Under Luxembourg law, shareholders isaziété anonymieave a preferential right to subscribe for shasesad on the occasion of a
share capital increase, where such shares arestabiseribed for in cash. Article 5.3 of our Artliimits this right in relation to our
shareholders by granting our Board of Directordaxization to increase the current share capitahbyissue of new shares having the same
rights as the common shares, and to limit or wakdthe shareholders’ preferential subscriptiontagin such increase. This authorization is
valid for a period of five years from the publieatiof our incorporation deed on March 11, 2011; &esv, such authorization may be renewed
by a resolution passed at an extraordinary gensgating of the shareholders. The general meetisparfeholders also has the power to limit
or withdraw the shareholders’ preferential subsmprights under certain circumstances as set fander Luxembourg law.

Our Articles provide that no fractional shares rbayissued.
Our common shares have no conversion rights, areé tire no redemption or sinking fund provisiongliapble to our common shares.

We cannot subscribe for our own shares.

Capital Reduction

Our Articles provide that the issued share capitay be reduced, subject to the approval by thergemeeeting of shareholders and the
guorum and vote requirements provided for the ammemd of our Articles.

General Meeting of Shareholders

In accordance with Luxembourg law and our Articksy regularly constituted general meeting of dhaiders represents the entire b
of shareholders of the Company. The general meatisgull power to adopt and ratify all acts aneragions that are consistent with our
corporate object.

The annual general meeting of shareholders isdtel®:00 a.m. (Luxembourg time) on the second MgrudaMay of each year in
Luxembourg. If that day is a legal or banking halidthe meeting will be held on the immediatelydwing business day. Other general
meetings of shareholders may be convened at amy tim

Each of our common shares entitles the holderaafroethereof to attend our general meeting of stwders, either in person or by
proxy, to address the general meeting of sharergldad to exercise voting rights, subject to ttevisions of our Articles. Each share entitles
the holder to one vote at a general meeting ofedtedders. There is no minimum shareholding requiodake able to attend or vote at a general
meeting of shareholders.

Luxembourg law provides that our Board of Directarsbligated to convene a general meeting of $lwdders if shareholders
representing, in the aggregate, 10% of the issharbscapital so require in writing with an indicattiof the agenda. In such case, the general
meeting of shareholders must be held within onetmofthe request. If the requested general meetisthareholders is not held within one
month, shareholders representing, in the aggret)e®é,of the issued
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share capital may petition the competent presidétite district court in Luxembourg to have a cappointee convene the meeting.
Luxembourg law provides that shareholders reprasgnn the aggregate, 10% of the issued shardatapay request that additional items be
added to the agenda of a general meeting of shHderkoThat request must be made by registeredseailto our registered office at least five
days before the holding of the general meetinghafesholders.

Voting Rights
Each common share entitles the holder thereof ¢ovote at a general meeting of shareholders.

Luxembourg law distinguishes between “ordinary” gigh meetings of shareholders and “extraordinagriegal meetings of
shareholders.

Extraordinary general meetings of shareholdersaneened to resolve in particular upon an amendtoendir Articles and certain other
limited matters described below and are subjettteéaquorum and vote requirements described beldvather general meetings of
shareholders are ordinary general meetings of khkters.

Ordinary General Meetings of Shareholdek$.an ordinary general meeting of shareholdersgtlieno quorum requirement, and
resolutions are adopted by a simple majority ofubies validly cast, irrespective of the numbesludires present or represented. Abstentions
are not considered “votes.”

Extraordinary General Meetings of Shareholdea.extraordinary general meeting of shareholdersrened for the purpose of (a) an
increase or decrease of the authorized or issua@ slapital, (b) a limitation or exclusion of prg#ive rights, (c) approving a legal merger or
de-merger of the Company, (d) dissolution of thenpany or (e) except as described immediately bedsmamendment of our Articles must
have a quorum of at least 50% of our issued stegritat, except in limited circumstances providedbg Luxembourg law. If such quorum is
not reached, the extraordinary general meetingpafeholders may be reconvened, pursuant to appteprotification procedures, at a later
date with no quorum requirement applying.

Irrespective of whether the proposed actions desdrin the preceding paragraph will be subjectyota at the first or a subsequent
extraordinary general meeting of shareholders, swtibns are subject to the approval of at leastttvirds of the votes validly cast at such
extraordinary general meeting of shareholders (@xodimited circumstances provided for by Luxembgplaw). Abstentions are not
considered “votes.”

Appointment and Removal of Directokéembers of our Board of Directors may be electedibyple majority of the votes validly cast at
any general meeting of shareholders. Under oucl&sj all directors can be elected for a periodmfo six years with such possible extension
as provided therein, provided that currently edoboctor is serving a one-year term set to expiglay 2015. Any director may be removed
with or without cause by a simple majority voteaay general meeting of shareholders. If the offita director becomes vacant, our Articles
provide that the other directors, acting by a sanmphjority, may fill the vacancy on a provisionakks until a new director is appointed at the
next general meeting of shareholders.

Neither Luxembourg law nor our Articles contain aagtrictions as to the voting of our common shégeson-Luxembourg residents.

Amendment to Our Articles of Association

Luxembourg law requires an extraordinary generadting of shareholders to resolve upon an amendtoenir Articles. The agenda of
the extraordinary general meeting of shareholderstiindicate the proposed amendments to our Asticle

An extraordinary general meeting of shareholdersvened for the purpose of amending our Articlestrhase a quorum of at least 50%
of our issued share capital. If such quorum isreathed, the extraordinary general meeting of sladders may be reconvened at a later date
with no quorum according to the appropriate nadificn procedures. Irrespective of whether the psegamendment will be subject to a vote
at the first or a subsequent extraordinary genmagadting of shareholders, the amendment is suljebetapproval of at least two-thirds of the
votes cast at such extraordinary general meetisthafeholders.

Any resolutions to amend our Articles must be talkefore a Luxembourg notary and such amendmentsheysublished in accordance
with Luxembourg law.

Merger and Division
A merger by absorption whereby a Luxembourg compafigr its dissolution without liquidation, traps$ to another company all of its
assets and liabilities in exchange for the issuamtlee shareholders of the company being acquifed
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shares in the acquiring company, or a merger eftely transfer of assets to a newly incorporatedpamy, must, in principle, be approved by
an extraordinary general meeting of shareholdetseof uxembourg company to be held before a no&iryilarly, the de-merger of a
Luxembourg company is generally subject to the apgdrby an extraordinary general meeting of shddhe.

Liquidation

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or wing-up, the assets remaining after allowing fer playment of all liabilities will be paid
out to the shareholders pro rata to their respeaareholdings. The decision to voluntarily ligual dissolve or wind-up require the approval
by an extraordinary general meeting of shareholttebe held before a notary.

No Appraisal Rights
Neither Luxembourg law nor our Articles provide oty appraisal rights of dissenting shareholders.

Distributions

Subject to Luxembourg law, each share is entitbggltrticipate equally in distributions if and wha#clared by the general meeting of
shareholders out of funds legally available forhsparposes. Pursuant to our Articles, the geneegtimg of shareholders approves
distributions and our Board of Directors may deglaterim distributions, to the extent permittedllmxembourg law.

Declared and unpaid distributions held by us ferabcount of the shareholders shall not bear isitetander Luxembourg law, claims
unpaid distributions will lapse in our favor fivears after the date such distribution has beeradt|

Annual Accounts

Each year our Board of Directors must prepare dramedunts of Pacific Drilling S.A., that is, arvantory of our assets and liabilities,
together with a balance sheet and a profit anddoseunt. Our Board of Directors must also prepacensolidated management report each
year on the consolidated financial statements@fdbmpany. The annual accounts, the consolidateddial statements of the Company,
consolidated management report and the auditgoarte must be available for inspection by sharedrsiét our registered office at least 15
calendar days prior to the date of the annual gémeeeting of shareholders.

The annual accounts, after approval by the anrermé il meeting of shareholders, will need to keslfivith the Luxembourg registry of
trade and companies within seven months of theeadshe financial year.

Information Rights

Luxembourg law gives shareholders limited rightengpect certain corporate records 15 calendar plagsto the date of the annual
general meeting of shareholders, including the ahaccounts, the consolidated financial statemeintise Company, a list of directors and
independent auditors, a list of shareholders wisbsges are not fully paid-up, the management cilaet! report and the auditor’s reports.

The annual accounts, the consolidated financiédistents of the Company, the consolidated managempait and the auditor’s reports
are sent to registered shareholders at the sameasrthe convening notice for the annual generatimgeof shareholders. In addition, any
registered shareholder is entitled to receive  afphese documents free of charge 15 calendas plagr to the date of the annual general
meeting of shareholders upon request.

Under Luxembourg law, it is generally accepted thahareholder has the right to receive respoonsgsestions concerning items on the
agenda for a general meeting of shareholders if segponses are necessary or useful for a shasgholthake an informed decision
concerning such agenda item, unless a responsehasiestions could be detrimental to our interests

Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our commomneshia American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC

Equity Instruments and Other Arrangements Affectirigquity

Our Predecessor adopted the 2009 Stock Plan, whistided for the granting of stock options, stopki@ciation rights, restricted
shares, restricted share units and other equitgebasequity-related awards to directors, officeraployees and consultants. In March 2011,
we substituted all outstanding awards under th® Z0ck Plan with new awards of options
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to purchase common shares under the 2011 StockAlaptions under the 2011 Stock Plan expirelwn earliest of (i) ten years after the date
of grant, (ii) 90 days after the employee ceasgsdwide services to us or one of our affiliategiiy 6 months following the employee’s death.
Concurrent with the Substitution, we terminated2B89 Stock Plan and no new awards will be madewtiét plan. See Item 6,
“Compensation—Equity Compensation Plans” for addil information regarding the 2011 Stock Plan.

C. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

We have no material contracts other than thoseeghiato in the ordinary course of business andédtaescribed in our description of
indebtedness. See Item 5, “Liquidity and Capitaeddteces—Description of Indebtedness” and NotetheadCompanys Consolidated Financi
Statements in this annual report for a more detalkescription of the terms of our debt financings.

D. EXCHANGE CONTROLS

There are no legislative or other legal provisiongently in force in Luxembourg or arising under éwrticles that restrict the payment
of dividends or distributions to holders of Pacifidlling S.A. shares not resident in Luxembourgcept for regulations restricting the
remittance of dividends, distributions and otheyrpants in compliance with United Nations and Eussp&nion sanctions. There are no
limitations, either under the laws of Luxembourgroour Articles, on the right of non-Luxembourgioaals to hold or vote Pacific Drilling
S.A. shares.

E. TAXATION
Material Luxembourg Tax Considerations for U.S. Hollers of Common Shares

The following is a summary discussion of certairdrabourg tax considerations that may be applicabld.S. Holders as a result of
owning or disposing of our common shares. This da¢purport to be a comprehensive descriptionliodfethe tax considerations that may be
relevant to any of our common shares, and doepugtort to include tax considerations that ariserfr rules of general application or that ¢
generally assumed to be known to holders. Thisudson is not a complete analysis or listing ofadithe possible tax consequences of ¢
transactions and does not address all tax consiitama that might be relevant to particular holdéndight of their personal circumstances or
to persons that are subject to special tax rules.

It is not intended to be, nor should it be constrie be, legal or tax advice. The summary is nbastive and we strongly encourage
shareholders to consult their own tax advisorsathe Luxembourg tax consequences of the owneasliglisposition of our common shares.
The summary applies only to U.S. shareholders wih@wn our common shares as capital assets and ot apply to other categories of
shareholders, such as dealers in securities, tasstmsurance companies, collective investmentiseband shareholders who have, or who
are deemed to have, acquired their common shardeeicapital of our common shares by virtue of Hit® or employment.

This discussion is based on the laws of the Grandhp of Luxembourg, including the Income Tax A®@@&tember 4, 1967, as
amended, the Municipal Business Tax Act of DecehbE®36, as amended, and the Net Wealth Tax Agtber 16, 1934, as amended, to
which we jointly refer to as the laws of the Grabddehy of Luxembourg, including the regulations putgated thereunder, and published
judicial decisions and administrative pronouncensegfich as in effect on the date of this annuabteqr with a known future effective dz
and is subject to any change in law or regulationghanges in interpretation or application theréahd which may possibly have a
retroactive effect). However, there can be no amsce that the Luxembourg tax authorities will neakkenge any of the Luxembourg tax
considerations described below; in particular, chas in law and/or administrative practice, as vasllchanges in relevant facts and
circumstances, may alter the tax considerationgidesd below. Prospective investors are encouragetbnsult their own professional
advisors as to the effects of state, local or fymdaws and regulations, including Luxembourg @ bnd regulations, to which they may be
subject.

For purposes of this summary, a “U.S. Holder” meamy investor in our common shares who is a Urtdes resident within the
meaning of Article 4 of the double tax treaty @@il 1996 concluded between Luxembourg and théddrbtates (the “Treaty”) and entitled
to all the benefits of the Treaty pursuant to Aeti2z4 of the Treaty.

Tax Regime Applicable to Realized Capital Gains

U.S. Holders

U.S. Holders will be subject to the following Luxbourg tax treatment in relation to capital gainghie cases described below (among
others):
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e Anindividual who is a U.S. Holder of common eb&(and who does not have a permanent establishanpermanent
representative or a fixed place of business in mb®urg to which the common shares are attributabiléhot be subject to
Luxembourg taxation on capital gains arising upmpasal of such common shares pursuant to Artitlé5) of the Treaty.

e A corporate U.S. Holder, which has a permanstétdishment, a permanent representative or a fikeck of business in
Luxembourg to which our common shares are attrifdatawill be required to recognize capital gainsl@sses as the case may be)
on the sale of such common shares, which will iigesti to Luxembourg corporate income tax and mpaidbusiness tax. Howev
gains realized on the sale of the common sharesomiagfit from the exemption provided for by Artidlé6 of the Luxembourg
Income Tax and the Grand-Ducal Decree of Decembe2@)1 (as amended) provided that at the timbefitsposal of the
common shares (a) the corporate U.S. Holder (attirgugh its permanent representative or fixedelafcbusiness in Luxembourg)
of common shares holds a stake representing atll6gs of our total share capital or a cost pricatdeast 6,000,000 Euros (“€”)
and (b) such qualifying shareholding has been fegldn uninterrupted period of at least 12 monththe corporate U.S. Holder
(acting through its permanent representative @diglace of business in Luxembourg) undertakesdirtue to own such qualifyit
shareholding until such time as the corporate H@der (acting through its permanent representativiéxed place of business in
Luxembourg) has held our common shares for an emirited period of at least 12 months. In certaitumstances, the exemption
may not apply in part or in full; for example; tbapital gains exemption (for gains arising on aenaltion of the common shares)
does not apply to the amount of previously tax déetliexpenses and write-offs related to these canshares.

e A corporate U.S. Holder, which has no permamstdblishment in Luxembourg to which the commoneshare attributable, will
not be subject to Luxembourg taxation on capitagarising upon disposal of such common sharesupnt to Article 14 (5) of the
Treaty.

Tax Regime Applicable to Distributions
Luxembourg Withholding Tax

A Luxembourg withholding tax of 15% (17.65% if tHvidend tax is not withheld from the shareholderjue on dividends and similar
distributions to our holders (subject to the eximey# discussed under “—Exemption from Luxembourghblding Tax” below). Absent an
exception, we will be required to withhold at suate from distributions to the shareholder and fuagh withheld amounts to the Luxembourg
tax authorities.

Exemption from Luxembourg Withholding Tax

Dividends and similar distributions paid to U.S.lthers may be exempt from Luxembourg dividend witthng tax if: (1) the U.S.
Holder is a qualifying corporate entity holdingtake representing at least 10% of our total shapéal or which acquired the common shares
for at least £,200,000 (or its equivalent amount in a foreigrrency); and (2) the U.S. Holder has either heisl gualifying stake in our capit
for an uninterrupted period of at least 12 monttitha time of the payment of the dividend or unakes to continue to own such qualifying
shareholding until such time as it has held thermomshares for an uninterrupted period of at I#2snhonths. Based on the above, the U.S.
Holder will be a qualifying corporate entity foretlexemption if it is fully subject to a tax in thimited States that corresponds to Luxembourg
corporate income tax.

Under current Luxembourg tax law, payments to di@ders in relation to a reduction of share camitahare premium are not subject
to Luxembourg dividend withholding tax if certaiarlitions are met, including, for example, the dtod that we do not have distributable
reserves or profits. If we have, at the time of ghgment to shareholders with respect to their comshares, distributable reserves or profits,
distribution of share capital or share premium Wélrecharacterized for Luxembourg tax purposesdistribution of such reserves or earnings
subject to withholding tax. Based on this treatmerder Luxembourg law, if certain conditions are,ntecan be expected that a substantial
amount of potential future payments to be madesmay not be subject to Luxembourg withholding tax.

Reduction of Luxembourg Withholding Tax

U.S. corporate Holders may claim application ofduced Luxembourg dividend withholding tax at & 1@t5% under the conditions
provided for by Article 10 (2) (a) (i) of the Treai.e., shareholding of at least 10% of the vositack of the distributing company without
minimum holding period in relation to these shares.

Net Wealth Tax
U.S. Holders

72




Table of Contents

Luxembourg net wealth tax will not be levied on &lHolder with respect to the common shares utfesssommon shares are
attributable to an enterprise or part thereof ihatrried on through a permanent establishmeined place of business or a permanent
representative in Luxembourg, in which case an gtiam may apply based on Paragraph 60 of the La@atbber 16, 1934 on the valuatior
assets (Bewertungsgesetz),

Registration Tax/Stamp Duty

No registration tax or stamp duty will be payabyeab.S. Holder of common shares in Luxembourglgalpon the disposal of comm
shares by sale or exchange.

Estate and Gift Taxes

No estate or inheritance tax is levied on the fiexnsf common shares upon the death of a U.S. Hafleommon shares in cases where
the deceased was not a resident of Luxembourgf@ritance tax purposes, and no gift tax is levigdn a gift of common shares if the gift is
not passed before a Luxembourg notary or recondleddieed registered in Luxembourg.

THE LUXEMBOURG TAX CONSIDERATIONS SUMMARIZED ABOVE ARE FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY. EACH
PACIFIC DRILLING S.A. SHAREHOLDER IS ENCOURAGED TO CONSULT HIS OR HER TAX ADVISOR AS TO THE
PARTICULAR CONSEQUENCES THAT MAY APPLY TO SUCH SHAR EHOLDER.

Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations foHolders of Common Shares

The following is a discussion of the material Ufe&leral income tax considerations relating to theepase, ownership and dispositior
our common shares. This discussion is based ugoprtvisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 188@mended (the “Code”), existing and
proposed Treasury Regulations thereunder, juckeitiiority and administrative interpretations, athefdate hereof, all of which are subject to
change, possibly with retroactive effect, or argjsct to different interpretations. There can beassurance that the Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS”) will take a similar view of such conseque&s¢ and we have not obtained, nor do we intenthtaim a ruling from the IRS with respect
to the U.S. federal income tax consequences ghuhehase, ownership and disposition of the comnhamnes. This discussion is limited to
beneficial owners that hold our common shares apital assets” (generally, property held for inuesst).

This discussion does not address all U.S. fedecalnne tax considerations that may be relevantp@rticular holder based on its
particular circumstances, and you are encouragedrtsult your own independent tax advisor regargimg specific tax situation. For
example, the discussion does not address the tesidayations that may be relevant to U.S. Holdespicial tax situations, such as:

» dealers in securities or currenc

e insurance companie

* regulated investment companies and real estatstimeat trust:

e taxexempt organizatior

» brokers or dealers in securities or currenciesteaders in securities that elect to mark to ma
» certain financial institution

e partnerships or other pagsough entities and holders of interests the

< holders whose functional currency for U.S. federabme tax purposes is not the U.S. dc

e U.S. expatriate

* individual retirement accounts and other tax deféaccount:

< holders that acquired our common shares in compaysaansaction:

* holders that hold our common shares as part otlgdhestraddle or conversion or other integratemastation; ¢

* holders that own, directly, indirectly, or constiuely, 10% or more of the total combined votingygw of the Compan

This discussion does not address the alternatinemaim tax consequences of holding common sharesed¥er, this discussion does
not address the state, local or non-U.S. tax caresemps of holding our common shares, or any agi&tiS. federal tax law other than U.S.



federal income taxation.
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You are a “U.S. Holder” if you are a beneficial avrmof our common shares and you are, for U.S. #decome tax purposes:

* anindividual who is a citizen or resident of theiidd State:

e acorporation, or any other entity taxable asmoration, created or organized in or under &leslof the United States or any State
thereof, including the District of Columbia;

* an estate, the income of which is subject to UeBefal income taxation regardless of its sourc

e atrust (a) if a court within the United Staiegble to exercise primary supervision over itenistration and one or more United
States persons (as defined in the Code) have theréty to control all of its substantial decisioms(b) that has a valid election in
effect under applicable Treasury Regulations ttréated as a U.S. person.

You are a “Non-U.S. Holder” for purposes of thisalission if you are a beneficial owner of our comrsloares that is an individual,
corporation, estate or trust that is not a U.Sdenl

If a partnership (or an entity or arrangement geats a partnership for U.S. federal income tapgaes) holds our common shares, the
tax treatment of a partner will generally dependruthe status of the partner and upon the actviifehe partnership. A partner of a
partnership considering the purchase of our comshanes is encouraged to consult its own indeperider@dvisor.

You are encouraged to consult your own indepen@eradvisor regarding the U.S. federal, state,lland non-U.S. income and other
tax consequences of purchasing, owning and dispadiour common shares in your particular circumets.

U.S. Holders
Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules

A U.S. Holder generally will be subject to a spécaverse tax regime that would differ in certegapects from the tax treatment
described below if we are, at any time during th8.Wolder’s holding period with respect to our enam shares, a passive foreign investmen
company (“PFIC”) for U.S. federal income tax purgesA U.S. Holder of a PFIC is also subject to seeporting requirements.

In general, we will be a PFIC for any taxable yiéaither (i) at least 75% of our gross incometfog taxable year is “passive income” or
(ii) at least 50% of the average value of all cgseds (determined on the basis of a quarterly geg¢m@oduce or are held for the production of
passive income. For this purpose, passive incomerg#ly includes, among other things, dividendtenest, certain rents and royalties,
annuities and gains from assets that produce passome. If a foreign corporation owns at lea$to2%y value of the stock of another
corporation, the foreign corporation is treateddorposes of the PFIC tests as owning its propmat® share of the assets of the other
corporation, and as receiving directly its propmitite share of the other corporatmiricome. Based on our operations described hexréior, a
substantial portion of our income from offshore traat drilling services should be treated as ses/iacome and not as passive income, and
thus all or a substantial portion of the assetswheaown and operate in connection with the prodaodf that income should not constitute
passive assets, for purposes of determining whetberre a PFIC. However, this involves a facts@raimstances analysis and it is possible
that the IRS would not agree with this conclusion.

We believe that we will not be a PFIC in the cuttaxable year and that we will not become a PRI&ny future taxable year. The
determination of whether a corporation is a PFI@&le annually and thus may be subject to charggrelore, we can give investors no
assurance as to our PFIC status. U.S. Holdersnameaged to consult their own independent taxsadsiabout the PFIC rules, including the
availability of certain elections and reporting uggments. The remainder of this discussion assulhatsve will not be a PFIC for the current
taxable year or for any future taxable year.

Taxation of Dividends

Any distributions made with respect to our commbarss (including amounts withheld on account oéifgm taxes) will, to the extent
made from current or accumulated earnings andtpra$ determined under U.S. federal income taxciplies, constitute dividends for U.S.
federal income tax purposes. To the extent thatdéstyibution exceeds the amount of our currentaccimulated earnings and profits, it will
be treated as a non-taxable return of capitalécettient of the U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basthéncommon shares, and thereafter as capital
gain. Such dividends generally would be treatefibgesgn-source income for U.S. foreign tax creditpgoses.

Dividends (including amounts withheld on accountarkign taxes) paid with respect to our commornreshgenerally will be includible
in the gross income of a U.S. Holder as ordinacpine on the day on which the dividends are recdyed
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the U.S. Holder. A non-corporate U.S. Holder wabédentitled to a preferential rate of U.S. fed@rabme taxation (with the applicable rate
based on the income and filing status of the U@deét) with respect to any dividends paid on ounomn shares only if we are a “qualified
foreign corporation.” We will be treated as a dfiedi foreign corporation if the common shares aiaily tradable on an established securities
market or if we are eligible for the benefits af@nprehensive income tax treaty with the UnitedeStaAs our common shares are traded on ¢
established securities market, we are a qualifiegign corporation and therefore non-corporate bH@ders will be eligible for a preferential
tax rate if the holders meet certain holding peaad other requirements. A preferential tax ratémneit apply to amounts that the U.S. Holder
takes into account as “investment incometiich may be offset by investment expense. Dividemid our common shares will not be eligible
the dividends-received deduction generally allowed.S. corporations under the Code. You are eragmd to consult your independent tax
advisor regarding qualification for a preferentite on dividend income and the rules relatedtestment income.

Subject to limitations under U.S. federal incomeltav concerning credits or deductions for forefgres, a Luxembourg withholding
tax imposed on dividends described above under “tehitd Luxembourg Tax Considerations for U.S. Hoddef Common Shares—Tax
Regime Applicable to Distributions—Luxembourg Withting Tax” generally would be treated as a fordiggome tax eligible for credit
against a U.S. Holder’'s U.S. federal income takhiliiy (or at a U.S. Holdes election, may be deducted in computing taxatderire if the U.<
Holder has elected to deduct all foreign incomesafor the taxable year). The rules with respe@bieign tax credits are complex and U.S.
Holders are encouraged to consult their indepertdgrdadvisors regarding the availability of theefign tax credit under their particular
circumstances.

Taxation of Capital Gains

Gain or loss realized by a U.S. Holder on the satehange or other taxable disposition of commameshwill be subject to U.S. federal
income taxation as capital gain or loss in an arheqgoal to the difference between the amount redl{including the gross amount of the
proceeds before the deduction of any foreign taxthe sale, exchange or other taxable dispositiginsach U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis in
the common shares. The capital gains of a U.S.é#akht is an individual, estate or trust curremtlly be subject to a reduced rate of U.S.
federal income tax (with the applicable rate bamethe income and filing status of the U.S. Holdethe holder’s holding period for the
common shares exceeded one year as of the tirhe digposition. The deductibility of capital los$@subject to certain limitations. Capital
gain or loss, if any, realized by a U.S. Holdettlom sale, exchange or other taxable dispositiazonfmon shares generally will be treated as
U.S. source income or loss for U.S. foreign taxditrpurposes. Consequently, in the case of a dispo®f shares that is subject to
Luxembourg or other foreign income tax imposedhengdain, the U.S. Holder may not be able to befreiih the foreign tax credit for that
foreign income tax (i.e., because gain on the disiom would be U.S. source). Alternatively, theSUHolder may take a deduction for the
foreign income tax if such holder does not takeedlit for any foreign income tax during the taxayéar.

Reporting Requirements Regarding Foreign FinanciAtcounts

Certain U.S. Holders who are individuals and whillepecified foreign financial assetsig defined in section 6038D of the Code) "
values in excess of certain dollar thresholds rasguibed by applicable U.S. Treasury Regulatiansrequired to report such assets on IRS
Form 8938 with their U.S. federal income tax retur@pecified foreign financial assets include stoick non-U.S. corporation (such as our
common shares) that is not held in an account miaied by a “financial institution” (as defined iection 1471(d)(5) of the Code). An
individual who fails to timely furnish the requiréaformation may be subject to a penalty. Additibnan the event a U.S. Holder does not file
the required information, the statute of limitaamay not close until three years after such infdion is filed. Under certain circumstances, al
entity may be treated as an individual for purpasfate foregoing rules. Investors are urged tosodirtheir tax advisor regarding these
reporting requirements and any other reportingirequents that may be applicable to their particaleoumstances.

Additional Medicare Tax on Net Investment Income

An additional 3.8% Medicare tax is imposed on thet‘investment income” of certain United Stateeits and resident aliens and on
the undistributed “net investment income” of cartastates and trusts. Among other items, “net invesst income” generally includes
dividends and certain net gain from the dispositibproperty, less certain deductions. Investoesegnrcouraged to consult their independent te
advisors with respect to this additional tax.

Non-U.S. Holders
Dividends

A Non-U.S. Holder generally will not be subjectddS. federal income tax on dividends received ancommon shares, unless the
dividends are effectively connected with the Holdeonduct of a trade or business in the UniteceStamd, if required by an applicable incc
tax treaty, the dividends are attributable to an@@rent establishment maintained by the
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Holder in the United States or unless the Holdsulsject to backup withholding, as discussed bexeept to the extent otherwise provided
under an applicable income tax treaty, a Non-U.&dét generally will be taxed in the same mannex BSS. Holder on dividends that are
effectively connected with the Holder’s conductdfade or business in the United States. Effegtis@nnected dividends received by a
corporate Non-U.S. Holder may also, under certagumstances, be subject to an additional “bramofitp tax” at a 30% rate (or, if
applicable, a lower treaty rate), subject to caréaljustments.

Taxation of Capital Gains

In general, a Non-U.S. Holder of common sharesmatlbe subject to U.S. federal income or withhajdiax with respect to any gain
recognized on a sale, exchange or other taxalp@siigon of such common shares unless:

« the gain is effectively connected with the NorSUHolders conduct of a trade or business in the UniteceSt@nd if required by ¢
applicable income tax treaty, is also attributdabla permanent establishment that the Non-U.S. éiatthintains in the United
States), in which case, the Non-U.S. Holder wiligrally be subject to regular graduated ratesaérstime manner as a U.S. Holder,
and if the Non-U.S. Holder is a corporation, mayshbject to a branch profits tax equal to 30% (mhdower rate provided by an
applicable income tax treaty) of its effectivelynoected earnings and profits for the taxable y&éject to certain adjustments;

e the Non-U.S. Holder is an individual who is mesin the United States for 183 or more days ént#txable year of the sale,
exchange or other taxable disposition and meetainasther requirements, in which case the gairegaly will be subject to a flat
30% tax that may be offset by U.S. source capisdes (even though the Non-U.S. Holder is not densd a resident of the United
States); or

« the NonU.S. Holder is subject to backup withholding, ascdssed belo

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

In general, dividends on common shares, and theeprds of a sale, exchange or other dispositioomihoon shares for cash, paid wit
the United States or through certain U.S. relaiteahicial intermediaries to a U.S. Holder or a Nois\Holder are subject to information
reporting to the IRS and may be subject to backitiphwlding unless the holder is an exempt recipiesnan exempt foreign person or, in the
case of backup withholding, provides an accuratpager identification number and certifies undenglty of perjury that the holder is a U.S.
person and is not subject to backup withholding.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Gefigra holder may obtain a refund of any amountthiaéld under the backup
withholding rules that exceed such holder’s U.8efal income tax liability by timely filing a refdnclaim with the IRS. The amount of any
backup withholding withheld from a payment to adsslwill be allowed as a credit against the hokl&l’S. federal income tax liability,
provided that the required information is timelyrfished to the IRS. Holders are encouraged to dbtimir independent tax advisors regarding
the application of information reporting and backvifhholding in their particular situations, theadlability of exemptions and the procedures
for obtaining exemptions.

You are encouraged to consult with your own indepedent tax advisor regarding the application of the US. federal income tax
laws to your particular circumstances, as well asrgy additional tax consequences resulting from an westment in our common shares,
including the applicability and effect of the tax hws of any state, local or non-U.S. jurisdiction nicluding estate, gift and inheritance tax
laws.

F. DIVIDENDS AND PAYING AGENTS
Not applicable.
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G. STATEMENT BY EXPERTS
Not applicable.

H. DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY

We are required to file annual and special repamts other information with the SEC. You may read eopy any documents filed by 1
Company at the SEC’s public reference room at 18@€&et, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 2054ad# call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330 for further information on the public referemoom. The SEC also maintains a website at wwvgegcwhich contains reports and other
information regarding registrants that file eleoioally with the SEC.

|. SUBSIDIARY INFORMATION
Not applicable.

J. ENFORCEABILITY OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

We are a public limited liability company incorpted under the laws of Luxembourg, and as a resufiay be difficult for investors to
effect service of process within the United Stafesn us or to enforce both in the United Statesatside the United States judgments again:
us obtained in U.S. courts in any action, includittjons predicated upon the civil liability prowiss of the federal securities laws of the
United States. In addition, a majority of our dimgs are residents of jurisdictions other thaninéed States, and all or a substantial portion o
the assets of those persons are or may be locatsid® the United States. As a result, it may figcdlt for investors to effect service of
process within the United States on certain ofdigctors or to enforce against them judgmentsiodthin U.S. courts, including judgments
predicated upon the civil liability provisions dfet federal securities laws of the United States.

There is uncertainty as to whether the courts ofelmbourg would (i) enforce judgments of U.S. cootitained against us predicated
upon the civil liability provisions of the federsdcurities laws of the United States or (ii) emt@roriginal actions brought in Luxembourg
courts against us predicated upon the federal siesuaws of the United States.

We have been advised by our Luxembourg counsethldtnited States and Luxembourg are not currdrgiynd by a treaty providing
for reciprocal recognition and enforcement of juémts, other than arbitral awards rendered in aiwdl commercial matters. According to suct
counsel, an enforceable judgment for the paymeniafies rendered by any U.S. federal or state dias#d on civil liability, whether or not
predicated solely upon the U.S. securities lawsjldvaot directly be enforceable in Luxembourg. Heer a party who received such favor:
judgment in a U.S. court may initiate enforcemeawicpedings in Luxembourg (exequatur) by requestinfigrcement of the U.S. judgment
the District Court (Tribunal d’Arrondissement) puasit to Section 678 of the New Luxembourg Codeiefl €rocedure. The District Court
will authorize the enforcement in Luxembourg of th&. judgment if it is satisfied that all of th@lbwing conditions are met:

« the U.S. judgment is enforceable in the Unitede3

« the U.S. court awarding the judgment has jucisoln to adjudicate the respective matter undetiegige U.S. federal or state
jurisdictions rules, and that jurisdiction is reoamed by Luxembourg private international and Ideal;

* the U.S. court has applied to the dispute the sukige law that would have been applied by Luxemga@ourts
« the principles of natural justice have been contphh;

« the U.S. judgment does not contravene internatipublic policy or order as understood underies of Luxembourg or has not
been given in proceedings of a criminal nature;

e the U.S. court has acted in accordance with its precedural laws; ai

- the U.S. judgment was granted following procegdiwhere the counterparty had the opportunityfear, and if it appeared, to
present a defense.

In practice, Luxembourg courts now tend not to@ewvthe merits of a foreign judgment, although theneo clear statutory prohibition
of such review.

ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

We are exposed to certain market risks arising fitoenuse of financial instruments in the ordinasyrse of business. These risks arise
primarily as a result of potential changes in thie fharket value of financial instruments that wbrésult
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from adverse fluctuations in interest rates andifpr currency exchange rates as discussed belovhaweentered, and in the future may er
into derivative financial instrument transactionsrtanage or reduce market risk, but we do not émteiderivative financial instrument
transactions for speculative or trading purposes.

Interest Rate Risk We are exposed to changes in interest ratesghrour variable rate long-term debt. We use inteae swaps to
manage our exposure to interest rate risks. Irttegitss swaps are used to convert floating rate deligations to a fixed rate in order to achieve
an overall desired position of fixed and floatirger debt. As of December 31, 201dur net exposure to floating interest rate flatimans on ou
outstanding debt was $335.4 million, based onifigatate debt of $1.4 billion less the $1.1 billiootional principal of our floating to fixed
interest rate swaps. Our net exposure to floatibgrést rate fluctuations excludes the 2013 Rerngl@redit Facility and the 2014 Revolving
Credit Facility, as no amounts were borrowed urterfacilities subject to floating interest ratesoh December 31, 2014 . A 1% increase or
decrease to the overall variable interest rategethto us would thus increase or decrease ouesttekpense by approximately $3.4 million or
an annual basis as of December 31, 2014 . As ofi@ber 31, 2013, our net exposure to floating @derate fluctuations on our outstanding
debt was $173.8 million, based on floating ratet dél$886.3 million less the $712.5 million notidomaincipal of our floating to fixed interest
rate swaps. Our net exposure to floating integst ftuctuations excludes the 2013 Revolving CrEdlitility, as no amounts were borrowed
under the facility subject to floating interestastas of December 31, 2013 . A 1% increase or dseft® the overall variable interest rate
charged to us would thus increase or decreasentarest expense by approximately $1.7 million omamnual basis as of December 31, 2013 .

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate RiskWe use the U.S. Dollar as our functional currelnegause the substantial majority of our
revenues and expenses are denominated in U.Sr&dNecordingly, our reporting currency is also U®llars. However, there is a risk that
currency fluctuations could have an adverse effaais as we do earn revenue and incur expensdisanaurrencies. We utilize the payment
structure of client contracts to selectively redaooe exposure to exchange rate fluctuations in eotion with monetary assets, liabilities and
cash flows denominated in certain foreign currendi®e to various factors, including client accapa local banking laws, other statutory
requirements, local currency convertibility and ilmpact of inflation on local costs, actual locatrency needs may vary from those anticip
in the client contracts, resulting in partial exp@sto foreign exchange risk. Fluctuations in fgnecurrencies have not had a material impax
our overall operating results or financial position
ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURIT IES
A. DEBT SECURITIES

Not applicable.

B. WARRANTS AND RIGHTS
Not applicable.

C. OTHER SECURITIES
Not applicable.

D. AMERICAN DEPOSITORY SHARES
Not applicable.

PART Il

ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES
None.

ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HO LDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS
None.

78




Table of Contents

ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

In accordance with Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 and1B our management, with the participation of Ghief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveme$our disclosure controls and procedures aBeoéhd of the period covered by this report.
Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive @ffeend Chief Financial Officer concluded that oiscthsure controls and procedures as
end of the period covered by this report have lissigned and are effective at the reasonable assulavel so that the information requires
be disclosed by us in our periodic SEC filingsaésarded, processed, summarized and reported withitime periods specified in the SEC’s
rules, regulations and forms and have been acctedutand communicated to our management, includiegugive and financial officers, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardinguieed disclosures.

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Controtsver Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting for the Company as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) undeBgwmurities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal aorgystem was designed to provide
reasonable assurance to our management and BoRickofors regarding the reliability of financia@porting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancelWvih generally accepted accounting principles.

Internal control over financial reporting includée controls themselves, monitoring (including inté auditing practices), and actions
taken to correct deficiencies as identified.

There are inherent limitations to the effectivenafsisiternal control over financial reporting, hovee well designed, including the
possibility of human error and the possible circemtion or overriding of controls. The design ofiaternal control system is also based in |
upon assumptions and judgments made by managebautttae likelihood of future events, and there lbamo assurance that an internal
control will be effective under all potential fueuconditions. As a result, even an effective systémternal controls can provide no more than
reasonable assurance with respect to the fair piagEn of financial statements and the procesedsmuwhich they were prepared.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our @htawntrol over financial reporting as of DecemB&y 2014. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria for &teontrol over financial reporting describedmternal Control - Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omgiuns of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ”). Mamaget's assessment included an
evaluation of the design of our internal controépfinancial reporting and testing of the operatifigctiveness of its internal control over
financial reporting.

Management reviewed the results of its assessnitintive Audit Committee of our Board of DirectoBased on this assessment,
management has concluded that, as of Decembef24, @ur internal control over financial reportings effective.

Our independent auditors, KPMG LLP, a registeredlipaccounting firm, are appointed by the Auditn@uittee of our Board of
Directors. KPMG LLP has audited and reported onctiresolidated financial statements of Pacific DnglS.A. and subsidiaries, and our
internal control over financial reporting. The regsoof the independent auditors are containedigahnual report.

(c) Attestation Report of the Registered Public Aoating Firm
The Report of KPMG LLP included in Item 18, “FinaacStatements” of this annual report is incorpeddherein by reference.

(d) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repting

There were no changes in these internal contraisglthe period covered by this annual report teate materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our interantrols over financial reporting.
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ITEM 16. RESERVED

ITEM 16A.  AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. @bgr Chairman of the Audit Committee, is an indejgm Director and is an Audit
Committee Financial Expert. See Item 6, “Directansl Senior Management” for a description of Mr. @ley’s listing of relevant experience.

ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsEdpplicable to our employees, directors and effithat meets the standards of
the NYSE. In addition, our Board of Directors hdspted a Financial Code of Ethics for our Chief &xeve Officer, Chief Financial Officer,
Controller and other senior financial officers. Atlyanges to, or waiver from, the Financial Cod&tbics will be made only by the Board of
Directors, or a committee thereof, and appropugelosure will be made promptly in accordance lith rules and regulations of the SEC an
the NYSE.

We have posted a copy of our Financial Code ofdstbn our website at www.pacificdrilling.com.

ITEM 16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The following table sets forth the aggregate feesdiegories specified below in connection withtaierprofessional services rendered
by KPMG LLP, an independent registered accountimy &nd our principal external auditors, for theipds indicated.

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013
(In thousands)
Audit fees® $ 1,671 $ 1,60(
Audit-related fee&® — —
Tax fees? — —
All other fees® — —
Total $ 1,671 $ 1,60(

(a) Audit fees represent professional services rendereitthe audit of our annual consolidated finanstatements and services provided by
principal accountant in connection with statutong aegulatory filings or engagements.

(b) Audit-related fees consist of assurance alade@ services rendered by the principal accoumtdated to the performance of the audit or
review of our consolidated financial statementsicivihave not been reported under audit fees above.

(c) Tax fees represent fees for professional servimedared by the principal accountant for tax conmgkia tax advice and tax planni

(d) All other fees include services other thanibfeds, auditrelated fees and tax fees set forth ak

Audit Committee’s Pre-Approval Policies and Proceds

The Audit Committee’s primary responsibilities émeassist the Board of Directors’ oversight of: aacounting practices; the integrity
of our financial statements; our compliance witlaleand regulatory requirements; the qualificatj@®dection, independence and performance
of our independent auditors; and the internal audittion. The Audit Committee has adopted in ftarter a policy of prepproval of audit an
permissible non-audit services provided by its patelent auditors.

Under the policy, the Audit Committee pre-approaksudit services to be provided to the Compartgtiver provided by the principal
auditors or other firms, and all other servicesig®, attest and non-audit) to be provided to teenfany by the independent auditors;
provided, however, that de minimis nandit services may instead be approved in accoedaitb applicable rules and regulations. All seeg
provided by the principal external auditors for ylears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012apereved by the Audit Committee
pursuant to the pre-approval policy.

ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COM MITTEES
Not applicable.
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ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

Total number of shares Maximum number of

purchased as part of shares that may yet be
Month in the year ended December Total number of shares Average price paid per publicly announced  purchased under the
31, 2014 purchased® share ($)@ plans or programs®  plans or programs®

January — —
February — —
March — —
April — —
May — —
June — —
July — —
August — —
September — —
October — —
November — —
December 1,669,31. $ 4.92 1,669,31. 6,330,68!
Total 1,669,31. $ 4.92 1,669,31 6,330,68!

(a) In 2014, all shares purchased were made by-pket transactions in the NYSE.

(b) On November 24, 2014, our shareholders apprav@thre repurchase program for the repurchase tof 8.0 million shares of our common
stock through May 20, 2016. Based on this authtiomathe Board of Directors authorized the comneanent of the program on
December 1, 2014 and the expenditure of up to $3@l@n for repurchases under the program.

ITEM 16F. CHANGE IN REGISTRANT’'S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT
Not applicable.

ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We are a “foreign private issuer” under the semgitaws of the United States and the rules oNW&E. Under the NYSE rules, a
“foreign private issuer” is subject to less stringgeorporate governance requirements than a daisstier. Subject to certain exceptions, the
rules of the NYSE permit a “foreign private issuter'follow its home country practice in lieu of th&ting requirements of the NYSE. In
addition, we have a shareholder that controls @ritgjof our outstanding common shares. As a resudtare considered a “controlled
company” within the meaning of the NYSE corporabegynance standards.

Based on the foregoing we may elect not to comjily eertain NYSE corporate governance requiremeantfyding (1) the requirement
that a majority of the board of directors consisndependent directors, (2) the requirement tHahdependent directors meet in executive
session at least once a year, (3) the requirerhanttie nominating/corporate governance commitéeedmposed entirely of independent
directors and have a written charter addressingdh@mittee’s purpose and responsibilities, (4)régpiirement that the compensation
committee be composed entirely of independent tlire@nd have a written charter addressing the dtieeis purpose and responsibilities anc
(5) the requirement of an annual performance etialuaf the nominating and corporate governancecampensation committees. As
permitted by these exemptions, as well as by olaws/and the laws of Luxembourg, we currently hawempensation committee with one or
more non-independent directors serving as commite@bers.

ITEM 16H. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not Applicable.
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PART IlI

ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See Item 18 below.

ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following financial statements listed below &led as part of this annual report on Form 20-F:

Pacific Drilling S.A.

Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfinm
Consolidated Statements of Income

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ITEM 19.

Exhibit
Number

EXHIBITS

Description

11

1.2

21

2.2

2.3

2.4

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

Articles of Association of Pacific Drilling S.A.r{torporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Bigtion Statement on
Form F-1, File No. 333-177774).

Form of Amended and Restated Articles of AssoamtibPacific Drilling S.A. (incorporated by refemnto Exhibit 3.2 to
our Registration Statement on Form F-1, File N&®-337774).

Registration Rights Agreement between Pacific DigliS.A. and Quantum Pacific (Gibraltar) Limite@dteld November 16,
2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2(aj¢lpur Annual Report on Form 20-F filed March 2@12, File No. 001-
35345).

Bond Agreement, dated February 23, 2012, betweeifié®Brilling S.A. and Norsk Tillitsmann ASA (inaporated by
reference to Exhibit 2(b)(1) to our Annual Repartform 20-F filed March 27, 2012, File No. 001-3584

Indenture, dated as of November 28, 2012, amonii®Beilling V Limited, Pacific Drilling S.A. andeach subsidiary
guarantor from time to time party thereto, as gotnas, and Deutsche Bank Trust Company America$rastee and
Collateral Agent (incorporated by reference to Bit99.1 to our Report on Form 6-K, filed Decembef012, File No. 001-
35345).

Form of Note (incorporated by reference to ExHii8it2 to our Report on Form 6-K, filed December®12, File No. 001-
35345).

Amendment and Restatement Agreement in Respekbed?rioject Facilities Agreement and the Intercoedigreement,
dated March 30, 2011, among Pacific Bora Ltd., fRablistral Ltd., Pacific Scirocco Ltd. and Pacifganta Ana Ltd., as
Borrowers, Pacific Drilling Limited, as Guarantand the arrangers, lenders and agents named tlierednporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Registration Steat on Form F-1, File No. 333-177774).

Second Amendment and Restatement Agreement in Besfithe Project Facilities Agreement and thererieditor
Agreement, dated March 30, 2012, among Pacific Btig Pacific Mistral Ltd., Pacific Scirocco Ltdas the Borrowers,
Pacific Santa Ana Ltd., as the Resigning Borrowagific Drilling Limited, as Guarantor, Pacific SarAna S.ar.l., as the
Acceding Borrower and the arrangers, lenders ardtagnamed therein (incorporated by reference tobid.1 to our
Report on Form 6-K, filed May 31, 2012, File N01685345).

Third Amendment and Restatement Agreement in Reéghelce Project Facilities Agreement and the Ioiteditor
Agreement, dated April 19, 2012, among Pacific Bdrdh, Pacific Mistral Ltd., Pacific Scirocco Ltcand Pacific Santa Ana
S.ar.l., as the Borrowers, Pacific Drilling Limdteas Guarantor, Pacific Bora Ltd., Pacific Scimttd., Pacific Drilling
Limited, Pacific International Drilling West Africeimited, Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) Limited, an&acific Drilling S.A., as
the Tl Bond Facility Obligors and the arrangeradiers and agents named therein (incorporated byersfe to Exhibit 4.2 to
our Report on Form 6-K, filed May 31, 2012, File.N\®1-35345).

Letter of Credit Facility and Guaranty Agreement $tandby Letter of Credit, dated as of April 1012, among Pacific
Scirocco Ltd., Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) LimitedPacific Drilling Limited and Pacific Drilling S.Aand the arrangers, lend
and agents named therein (incorporated by refereenEghibit 4.3 to our Report on Form 6-K, filed 381, 2012, File No.
001-35345).

Letter of Credit Facility and Guaranty Agreement $tandby Letter of Credit, dated as of April 1012, among Pacific Bora
Ltd., Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) Limited, Pacifi®rilling Limited and Pacific Drilling S.A. and tharrangers, lenders and
agents named therein (incorporated by referen&alMibit 4.4 to our Report on Form 6-K, filed May,2012, File No. 001-
35345).

Termination Agreement, dated as of April 19, 2Gdrapng Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) Limited, Pacifl@rilling S.A and
Citibank N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibib to our Report on Form 6-K, filed May 31, 20E#le No. 001-35345).

83




Table of Contents

Exhibit
Number

Description

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

411

4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

4.20

4.21

Termination Agreement, dated as of April 19, 2rBong Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) Limited, QuantuRacific Internatione
Limited and Citibank N.A (incorporated by referenoeExhibit 4.6 to our Report on Form 6-K, filed a1, 2012, File No.
001-35345).

Termination Agreement, dated as of April 24, 2(rpng Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) Limited and Stdard Chartered Bank
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to oup®¢ on Form 6-K, filed May 31, 2012, File No. 08%345).

Agreement for Standby Letter of Credit, dated adub§ 7, 2011, between Pacific Drilling (Gibralt&inited and Citibank,
N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.Dtor Registration Statement on Form F-1, File N&-337774).

Guaranty, dated as of July 7, 2011, by Quantumfiedoternational Limited, as guarantor, in favdrGitigroup Inc. and eac
subsidiary or affiliate thereof (incorporated bference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Registration Statetme Form F-1, File No.
333-177774).

Pledge Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2011, betRasific Drilling (Gibraltar) Limited, as pledgand Citibank, N.A.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to oegRtration Statement on Form F-1, File No. 3337I4j.

Pacific Drilling S.A. 2011 Omnibus Stock IncentiRéan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8u40 Registration
Statement on Form F-1, File No. 333-177774).

Agreement for Standby Letter of Credit, dated aNl@fember 29, 2011, between Pacific Drilling (Gltag Limited and
Citibank, N.A (incorporated by reference to Exhii to our Annual Report on Form 20-F filed Ma&#h 2012, File No.
001-35345).

Guaranty, dated as of November 29, 2011, by Pdaifiting S.A., as guarantor, in favor of Citigrodipc. and each
subsidiary or affiliate thereof (incorporated bference to Exhibit 4.7 to our Annual Report on F@@AF filed March 27,
2012, File No. 001-35345).

Pledge Agreement, dated as of November 29, 201keba Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) Limited, as plgdr, and Citibank,
N.A., as amended by that letter agreement datefl Recember 9, 2011 (incorporated by referencextuliit 4.8 to our
Annual Report on Form 20-F filed March 27, 2012¢ No. 001-35345).

Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement, datedf @ecember 6, 2011, between Pacific Internatidast Africa Limited
and Standard Chartered Bank (incorporated by neéeréo Exhibit 4.9 to our Annual Report on FormRfiled March 27,
2012, File No. 001-35345).

Assignment of Cash Collateral Account, dated d3axfember 6, 2011, between Pacific Drilling (GitagltLimited and
Standard Chartered Bank (incorporated by referemé&xhibit 4.10 to our Annual Report on Form 20ied March 27, 2012,
File No. 001-35345).

Second Amendment Agreement in Respect of the Rrbgalities Agreement, dated December 28, 201renPacific Bora
Ltd., Pacific Mistral Ltd., Pacific Scirocco Ltcand Pacific Santa Ana S.ar.l., as the Borrowaasifie Drilling Limited, as
Guarantor, Pacific International Drilling West Afa Limited, Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) Limited @hthe arrangers, lenders
and agents named therein (incorporated by referenEghibit 4.18 to our Annual Report on Form 2@it€d February 28,
2013, File No. 001-35345).

Senior Secured Credit Facility Agreement, datedfa&sebruary 19, 2013, among Pacific Sharav S.amd. Pacific Drilling
VII Limited, as Borrowers, Pacific Drilling S.A.sa&Guarantor, and the arrangers, lenders and agamisd therein
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to tlep®t on Form 6-K, filed February 25, 2013, File. §61-35345).

Indenture, dated as of June 3, 2013, among Pawifiling S.A., the guarantors party thereto and 8ehe Bank Trust
Company Americas, as Trustee (incorporated byeafar to Exhibit 99.1 to the Report on Form 6-kedillune 7, 2013, File
No. 001-35345).

Term Loan Agreement, dated as of June 3, 2013, grRaxific Drilling S.A., as Borrower, Various Lendeand Citibank,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, Citigroup Global Mats, Inc., Goldman Sachs Lending Partners LLC t&e Bank
Securities Inc. and Barclays Bank PLC, as Jointl&aangers, Joint Bookrunners and Joint Syndicafigents and ABN
AMRO Securities (USA) LLC, Credit Agricole Secueisi (USA) Inc., ING Financial Markets LLC, Nordear&&Danmark
A/S, Pareto Securities AS, RS Platou Markets Asti&capital (USA) Inc., Skandinaviska Enskilda Bam AB (Publ.),
Standard Chartered Bank and NIBC Bank N.V., as @otitnentation Agents and Co-Syndication Agents (ipaated by
reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Report on Form,6iléd June 7, 2013, File No. 001-35345).
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Exhibit

Number Description

4.22 Credit Agreement, dated as of June 3, 2013, amacii®Drilling S.A., as Borrower, Various Lendard Citibank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent and Issuing Lender, Citigra@fmbal Markets Inc., Goldman Sachs Bank USA andtfse Bank
Securities Inc., as Joint Lead Arrangers and Bawkrunners, Barclays Bank PLC, as Joint Bookrusiaed Citigroup
Global Markets Inc., as Syndication Agent (incogied by reference to Exhibit 99.4 to the ReporForm 6-K, filed June 7,
2013, File No. 001-35345).

4.23 Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of June 3, 2Bf¢&nd among Citibank, N.A., as Pari Passu Colaikgent for the Pari
Passu Secured Parties, Citibank, N.A., as admatiiatr agent for the Revolving Credit Agreement $eduwParties, Citibank,
N.A., as administrative agent for the Term LoanuBed Parties, the Trustee, as trustee under trentace, the Company and
each other Grantor and other party signatory tbesethat has executed a Joinder Consent Agreefimeotporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.5 to the Report on Form,@H€d June 7, 2013, File No. 001-35345).

4.24 Amendment No. 1 to Senior Secured Credit Faciligye®ment (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 8.the Report on
Form 6-K, filed November 7, 2013, File No. 001-3534

4.25 Amended and Restated Senior Secured Credit Fasifjtgement, dated as of September 13, 2013, amacifiSharav S.a
r.l. and Pacific Drilling VII Limited, as Borrower®acific Drilling S.A., as Guarantor, and the agers, lenders and agents
named therein (incorporated by reference to ExBi®iR to the Report on Form 6-K, filed Novembe2@13, File No. 001-
35345).

4.26 Amendment No. 1 to Senior Secured Revolving Creddility (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 9%3he Report on
Form 6-K, filed November 7, 2013, File No. 001-3534

8.1* Subsidiaries of Pacific Drilling S.A.

4.27 Amendment No. 2 to Senior Secured Credit Faciligye®ment (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 8.the Report on
Form 6-K, filed April 3, 2014, File No. 001-35345).

4.28 Amendment No. 2 to Senior Secured Revolving Creddility (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 9%2he Report on
Form 6-K, filed April 3, 2014, File No. 001-35345).

4.29 Amendment No. 3 to Senior Secured Revolving Creddility (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 9%lthe Report on
Form 6-K, filed July 31, 2014, File No. 001-35345).

4.30 Amendment No. 3 to Senior Secured Credit Faciligge®ement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 8 .the Report on
Form 6-K, filed August 15, 2014, File No. 001-35345

4.31 Credit Agreement, dated as of October 29, 2014 ngniRacific Drilling S.A., as Borrower, Various Leard and Citibank,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, Citigroup Global Mats Inc., Standard Chartered Bank, DNB Markets,, iand Nordea
Bank Finland Plc, London Branch, as Joint Lead Ageas, Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and Standandr@&red Bank, as
Joint Bookrunners and Citigroup Global Markets la€.Syndication Agent (incorporated by referendéxoibit 99.1 to the
Report on Form 6-K, filed November 4, 2014, File. 961-35345).

12.1* Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Princifaiecutive Officer.

12.2* Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principahancial Officer.

13.1% Certificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant3ection 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

13.2* Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant3ection 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

15.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.

101.INS* XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutne

101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen

101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenin

* Filed herewith.

*x Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets fithe requirements for filing on Form 20-F and thdtas duly caused and authorized the
undersigned to sign this annual report on its Behal

PACIFIC DRILLING S.A.

By: /sl CHRISTIAN J. BECKETT
Name: Christian J. Beckett
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 26, 2015

86




Table of Contents

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Pacific Drilling S.A.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Pacific Drilling S.A. and subsidiarffg®e Company) as of December
2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statsnoé income, comprehensive income, shareholagysity, and cash flows for each of
years in the thre-year period ended December 31, 2014. These coasadidinancial statements are the responsibilitithef Company
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these consolidated financial statementedasa our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightuBiogUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finastiééments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digi#g in the financial statements. An @
also includes assessing the accounting princigded and significant estimates made by managenmemtelhas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteaeferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the financial position of Pac
Drilling S.A. and subsidiaries as of December 3112and 2013, and the results of their operatiomistieir cash flows for each of the yeat
the threeyear period ended December 31, 2014, in conformitly U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@united States), the Company’
internal control over financial reporting as of [@ether 31, 2014, based on criteria establishelhternal Control -Integrated Framewol
(2013)issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiwinhe Treadway Commission (COSO), and our regatéd February 26, 20
expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectigsra the Company’s internal control over financégorting.

/sl KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 26, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Pacific Drilling S.A.:

We have audited Pacific Drilling S.A. and subsiiiar (the Company) internal control over financial repagtas of December 31, 2014, be
on criteria established iimternal Control - Integrated Framework013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omgitins of th
Treadway Commission (COSO). The Companyianagement is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial report
and for its assessment of the effectiveness ofriatecontrol over financial reporting, included timee accompanying ManagementfAnnua
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reportingtem 15b of Form 20-F. Our responsibility isdrpress an opinion on the Company’
internal control over financial reporting basedoam audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statglof the Public Company Accounting Oversight ld@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordgrar financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, and testing aatli@ing the design and operating effectivenedatefnal control based on the assessed
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestaWe believe that our audit provide
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeiregthe reliability of financi:
reporting and the preparation of financial stateisidor external purposes in accordance with gelyeealcepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclgdidose policies and procedures that (1) pertatheéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseottimpany; (2) provide reasonable assui
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accor@amdgth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withosizations of management :
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanaslsurance regarding prevention or timely deteatfounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgect to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, o
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all miaderespects, effective internal control over fig@l reporting as of December 31, 2(
based on criteria establishedlirternal Control - Integrated Framewor2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omgditins of th
Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the consolids
balance sheets of Pacific Drilling S.A. and sulzsids as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and thtedetonsolidated statements of incc
comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and fiaws for each of the years in the thrgsar period ended December 31, 2014, an
report dated February 26, 2015 expressed an ufigdadpinion on those consolidated financial staats.

/sl KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 26, 2015
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PACIFIC DRILLING S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Revenues
Contract drilling
Costs and expenses
Contract drilling
General and administrative expenses
Depreciation expense

Loss of hire insurance recovery
Operating income
Other income (expense)
Costs on interest rate swap termination
Interest expense
Total interest expense
Costs on extinguishment of debt
Other income (expense)
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income
Earnings per common share, basic (Note 8)

Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Weighted-average number of common shares, basic (i¢d8)

Earnings per common share, diluted (Note 8)

Weighted-average number of common shares, dilutedNpte 8)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.

F-3

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ 108579 $ 74557 $ 638,05(
(459,61 (337,27) (331,49))
(57,667) (48,619 (45,38¢)
(199,33) (149,461 (127,699
(716,61 (535,35() (504,57¢)
— — 23,67
369,17 210,21 157,14;
— (38,189 —
(130,13() (94,02 (104,681
(130,13 (132,21) (104,681
— (28,429 —
(5,17)) (1,554) 3,24¢
233,87 48,02 55,70:
(45,620) (22,529 (21,71
$ 18825 $ 2550. $  33,98¢
$ 087 $ 01z $ 0.1€
217,22 216,96 216,90
$ 087 $ 01z $ 0.1€
217,37 217,42 216,90;
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PACIFIC DRILLING S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Net income $ 18825 $ 2550: $  33,98¢
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrecognized gain (loss) on derivative instruments (19,38Y) 2,13¢ (22,55))
Reclassification adjustment for loss on derivatisruments realized in net income (Note
9) 7,737 47,72 24,41¢
Total other comprehensive income (loss) (11,649 49,85¢ 1,86¢
Total comprehensive income $ 176,60¢ $ 75,36 $ 35,857

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgtsients.
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PACIFIC DRILLING S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except par value)

December 31,

2014 2013
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 167,79 $ 204,12
Accounts receivable 231,02° 206,07¢
Materials and supplies 95,66( 65,70¢
Deferred financing costs, current 14,66" 14,857
Deferred costs, current 25,19¢ 48,20:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 17,05¢ 13,88¢
Total current assets 551,40: 552,85(
Property and equipment, net 5,431,82. 4,512,15.
Deferred financing costs 45,97¢ 53,30(
Other assets 48,09¢ 45,72¢
Total assets $ 6,077,30. $ 5,164,04
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity:
Accounts payable $ 40,577 $ 54,23t
Accrued expenses 45,96: 66,02¢
Long-term debt, current 369,00( 7,50(
Accrued interest 24,53« 21,98
Derivative liabilities, current 8,64t 4,98¢
Deferred revenue, current 84,10 96,65¢
Total current liabilities 572,82t 251,38
Long-term debt, net of current maturities 2,781,224 2,423,33
Deferred revenue 108,81. 88,46:
Other long-term liabilities 35,54¢ 927
Total long-term liabilities 2,925,60: 2,512,72!
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Common shares, $0.01 par value per share, 5,008(@¢0@s authorized, 232,770 and 224,100 share=is
and 215,784 and 217,035 shares outstanding asogiilzer 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013,
respectively 2,17¢ 2,17(C
Additional paid-in capital 2,369,43 2,358,85!
Treasury shares, at cost (8,240 —
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (20,205 (8,557
Retained earnings 235,71( 47,45
Total shareholders’ equity 2,578,87. 2,399,92.
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 6,077,30. $ 5,164,04

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.
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PACIFIC DRILLING S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity
(in thousands)

Accumulated Retained
Common Shares Treasury Shares Additional Other Earnings Total
Paid-In Comprehensive (Accumulated Shareholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Loss Deficit) Equity

Balance at January 1, 2012 216,90 $ 2,16¢ 7,20( — $ 2344221 % (60,284 $ (12,03) $ 2,274,07.
Shares issued under shia@sec

compensation plan 2 — 2 — — — — —

Share-based compensation — — — — 5,31¢ — — 5,31¢

Other comprehensive income — — — — — 1,86¢ — 1,86¢

Net income — — — — — — 33,98¢ 33,98¢

Balance at December 31, 2012 216,90: 2,16¢ 7,19¢ — 2,349,54. (58,41¢) 21,95 2,315,24:
Shares issued under shia@sec

compensation plan 13z 1 (139 — (D) — — —

Share-based compensation — — — — 9,31¢ — — 9,31¢

Other comprehensive income — — — — — 49,85¢ — 49,85¢

Net income — — — — — — 25,50z 25,50:

Balance at December 31, 2013 217,03! 2,17( 7,06¢ — 2,358,85! (8,55%) 47,45 2,399,92.
Shares issued under shéasec

compensation plan 41¢ 5 (41¢) — 9C — — 95
Issuance of common shares t

treasury — — 8,67( — — — — —

Shares repurchased (1,66¢) — 1,66¢ (8,240 — — — (8,240

Share-based compensation — — — — 10,48 — — 10,48

Other comprehensive loss — — — — — (11,649 — (11,649

Net income — — — — — — 188,25 188,25

Balance at December 31, 2014 215,78 $ 2,17t 16,98¢ $ (8,240 $ 2,369,433 % (20,20 $ 235, 71( $ 2,578,87.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financi&sients.
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PACIFIC DRILLING S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Cash flow from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activities:
Depreciation expense
Amortization of deferred revenue
Amortization of deferred costs
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Amortization of debt discount
Write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs
Costs on interest rate swap termination
Deferred income taxes
Share-based compensation expense
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Materials and supplies
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Decrease in restricted cash
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flow from financing activities:
Proceeds from shares issued under share-based nsetipa plan
Proceeds from long-term debt
Payments on long-term debt
Payments for costs on interest rate swap termimatio
Payments for financing costs
Purchases of treasury shares
Net cash provided by financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

See accompanying notes to consolidated financigsients.

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ 18825 $ 2550 $ 33,08
199,33° 149,46! 127,69
(109,209 (72,519 (95,75()
51,17 39,47¢ 70,66(
10,41¢ 10,10¢ 13,92¢
817 44x —
— 27,64 —
— 38,18« —
18,66: (3,119 (3,766)
10,48¢ 9,31¢ 5,31¢
(24,949 (53,779 (89,727)
(29,95:) (16,089 (6,640)
(56,49%) (30,840 (61,54%)
20,86¢ 12,30: 33,86¢
117,00 94,48: 156,96°
396,41 230,58 184,99
(1,136,20) (876,14)) (449,95
— 172,18 204,78
(1,136,20) (703,959) (245,16)
95 — —
760,000  1,656,25 797,41!
(41,83)  (1,480,00) (218,75()
— (41,999 —
(7,569) (62,689 (19,859
(7,227 — —
703,46 71,57 558,81
(36,329 (401,79 498,64
204,12 605,92: 107,27
$ 167,79¢ $ 204,12, $ 605,92
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PACIFIC DRILLING S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1—Nature of Business

Pacific Drilling S.A. and its subsidiaries (“Pacifdrilling,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our”) isan international offshore drilling
contractor committed to becoming the preferred igvof offshore drilling services to the oil anatuaral gas industry through the use of high-
specification floating rigs. Our primary businesdd contract our high-specification rigs, relagegiipment and work crews, primarily on a
dayrate basis, to drill wells for our clients. AsDiecember 31, 2014 , we had a fleet of eightghifls, including one under construction at
Samsung Heavy Industries (“SHI").

Pacific Drilling S.A. was formed on March 11, 205k, a Luxembourg company under the form sé@été anonymi® act as an indire
holding company for its predecessor, Pacific DrglLimited (our “Predecessor”), a company organizeder the laws of Liberia, and its
subsidiaries in connection with a corporate reoimgdion completed on March 30, 2011, referred tthas‘Restructuring.” In connection with
the Restructuring, our Predecessor was contriltotadvholly-owned subsidiary of the Company by bssdiary of Quantum Pacific
International Limited, a British Virgin Islands c@any and parent company of an investment holdingsg(the “Quantum Pacific Group”).
The Company did not engage in any business or atttasities prior to the Restructuring except imnection with its formation and the
Restructuring.

Note 2—Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements includeasit@ounts of Pacific Drilling S.A., entities that we
control by ownership of a majority voting interastd entities that meet the criteria for variabteiiest entities for which we are deemed to be
the primary beneficiary for accounting purposes. afiply the equity method of accounting for investtsen entities when we have the ability
to exercise significant influence over an entitgttioes not meet the variable entity criteria oets¢he variable interest entity criteria, but for
which we are not deemed to be the primary benejici&e eliminate all intercompany transactions bathnces in consolidation.

We currently are party to a Nigerian joint ventupacific International Drilling West Africa Limite(iPIDWAL”), with Derotech, a
privately-held Nigerian registered limited liabjlicompany. In December 2014, we increased PIDWAitarest in rig holding subsidiaries,
Pacific Bora Ltd. and Pacific Scirocco Ltd. to 5@¥d Derotech’s interest in PIDWAL to 51% . A haigicompany, Pacific Drillship Nigeria
Limited (“PDNL"), was formed under PIDWAL and ourhwlly owned subsidiary to hold PIDWAL's interestrig holding
subsidiaries. Derotech will not accrue the econdmeitefits of its interest in PIDWAL unless and Uittsatisfies certain outstanding obligatis
to us and a certain pledge is cancelled by us.wige PIDWAL will not accrue the economic benefitdte interest in PDNL unless and until it
satisfies certain outstanding obligations to usadrtain pledge is cancelled by us. We also ohittexd that as of December 31, 2014,
PIDWAL and PDNL were variable interest entities fdnich we were the primary beneficiary. Accordinghe consolidated all interest of
PIDWAL and PDNL and no portion of their operatirggults is allocated to the noncontrolling inter8ste Note 14—Variable Interest Entities.

In addition to the joint venture agreement, weaparty to marketing and logistic services agredgmeith Derotech and an affiliated
company of Derotech. During the years ended DeceBhe2014 , 2013 and 2012 , we incurred fees 6fGmillion , $9.4 million and $7.0
million under the marketing and logistic servicgseements, respectively.

Accounting Estimates—The preparation of consolidated financial stateimé@nconformity with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States (“GAAP”) requireamagement to make certain estimates and assumplioase estimates and assumptions
affect the reported amounts of assets and liaslithe disclosures of contingent assets anditiabiht the balance sheet date and the amount
of revenues and expenses recognized during thetiregpperiod. On an ongoing basis, we evaluateestimates and assumptions, including
those related to allowance for doubtful accouritsrfcial instruments, depreciation of property agdipment, impairment of long-lived assets
income taxes, share-based compensation and comtilege We base our estimates and assumptions toni¢és experience and on various
other factors we believe are reasonable underitbenecstances, the results of which form the bamisifaking judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not tgagtiparent from other sources. Actual results ¢dliffer from such estimates.

Revenues and Operating Expenses-Contract drilling revenues are recognized as ehinased on contractual dayrates. In connectiol
with drilling contracts, we may receive fees foeparation and mobilization of equipment and persbonfor capital improvements to rigs.
Fees and incremental costs incurred directly réladecontract preparation and mobilization alonthweimbursements received for capital
expenditures are deferred and amortized to reveneiethe primary term of the drilling contract. Téwst incurred for reimbursed capital
expenditures are depreciated over the estimatddluide of the asset. We may also receive feesnupampletion of a drilling contract that are
conditional based on the occurrence of an evenh as demobilization of a rig. These conditionaksfand related expenses are reported in
income upon completion of the drilling contractréteipt of such fees is not conditional, theyrammgnized as revenue over the
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primary term of the drilling contract. Amortizatiar deferred revenue and deferred mobilizationsast recorded on a straight-line basis ove
the primary drilling contract term, which is cortsist with the general pace of activity, level ofvéees being provided and dayrates being
earned over the life of the contract.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash equivalents are highly liquid investmentswitiginal maturities of three months or less trat
readily convertible to known amounts of cash.

Accounts Receivable—We record trade accounts receivable at the ameeantvoice our clients. We provide an allowancedoubtful
accounts, as necessary, based on a review of nditstpreceivables, historical collection informatiand existing economic conditions. We do
not generally require collateral or other secuigtyreceivables. As of December 31, 2014 and 20&3had no allowance for doubtful accoul

Materials and Supplies—Materials and supplies held for consumption arei@a at average cost, net of allowances for exoess
obsolete materials and supplies of $4.0 million &hd million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013peetively.

Property and Equipment —High-specification drillships are recorded at cost afstaiction, including any major capital improvensg
less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Qitagrerty and equipment is recorded at cost andistsnof purchased software systems,
furniture, fixtures and other equipment. Ongoingntenance, routine repairs and minor replacemeawstexpensed as incurred.

Interest is capitalized based on the costs of mawotvings attributable to qualifying new constroctior at the weighted-average cost of
debt outstanding during the period of constructitie. capitalize interest costs for qualifying newnstuction from the point borrowing costs
are incurred for the qualifying new constructior @ease when substantially all the activities nemgsto prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use are complete.

Property and equipment are depreciated to its galvalue on a straight-line basis over the estichaseful lives of each class of assets.
Our estimated useful lives of property and equipinaee as follows:

Years
Drillships and related equipment 15-35
Other property and equipment 2-7

We review property and equipment for impairment wheents or changes in circumstances indicatehbatarrying amounts of our
assets held and used may not be recoverable. Rbiergairment indicators include steep declinesammodity prices and related market
conditions, actual or expected declines in rigzdtion, increases in idle time, cancellations aftcacts or credit concerns of clients. We asses
impairment using estimated undiscounted cash flowthe property and equipment being evaluateddpjyéng assumptions regarding future
operations, market conditions, dayrates, utilizatod idle time. An impairment loss is recordethia period if the carrying amount of the as
is not recoverable. During 2014 , 2013 and 20h2re were no long-lived asset impairments.

Deferred Financing Costs—Deferred financing costs associated with long-tdeht are carried at cost and are amortized toeste
expense using the effective interest rate methed the term of the applicable long-term debt.

Foreign Currency Transactions—The consolidated financial statements are statédl$. dollars. We have designated the U.S. dollar
as the functional currency for our foreign subgid®in international locations because we contrditt clients, purchase equipment and
finance capital using the U.S. dollar. Transactionsther currencies have been translated into tb8ars at the rate of exchange on the
transaction date. Any gain or loss arising fronhange in exchange rates subsequent to the tramsaetie is included as an exchange gain or
loss. Monetary assets and liabilities denominatezlirrencies other than U.S. dollars are reportélearates of exchange prevailing at the end
of the reporting period. During 2014 , 2013 and20fiotal foreign exchange gains and (losses) W€5e3) million , $(2.1) million and $2.4
million , respectively, and recorded in other in@(axpense) within our consolidated statementaafme.

Earnings per Share—Basic earnings per common share (“EPS”) is contpbtedividing the net income by the weighted-averag
number of common shares outstanding for the peBadic and diluted EPS are retrospectively adjufsiethe effects of stock dividends or
stock splits. Diluted EPS reflects the potentisitihin from securities that could share in the eaga of the Company. Anti-dilutive securities
are excluded from diluted EPS.
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Fair Value Measurements—We estimate fair value at the price that woulddmeived to sell an asset or paid to transferaliliain an
orderly transaction between market participanth@principal market for the asset or liability. Quluation techniques require inputs that are
categorized using a three-level hierarchy as fdtoid) unadjusted quoted prices for identical assetiabilities in active markets (“Level 17),
(2) direct or indirect observable inputs, includopgpted prices or other market data, for similaeg&sor liabilities in active markets or identical
assets or liabilities in less active markets (“Le® and (3) unobservable inputs that require Bigant judgment for which there is little or no
market data (“Level 3"). When multiple input levelge required for a valuation, we categorize theefair value measurement according to
the lowest level input that is significant to theasurement even though we may have also utilizgdfisiant inputs that are more readily
observable.

Share-Based Compensatior—The grant date fair value of share-based awamsted to employees is recognized as an employee
compensation expense over the requisite serviéedoen a straight-line basis. The amount of compgos expense recognized is adjusted to
reflect the number of awards for which the relatesting conditions are expected to be met. The ataiucompensation expense ultimately
recognized is based on the number of awards thated the vesting conditions at the vesting date.

Derivatives—We apply cash flow hedge accounting to interest svaps that are designated as hedges of thdwi@yiaf future cash
flows. The derivative financial instruments areareted in our consolidated balance sheet at fairevab either assets or liabilities. Changes in
the fair value of derivatives designated as caslv fledges, to the extent the hedge is effectiwerenognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income until the hedged item is meizegl in earnings.

Hedge effectiveness is measured on an ongoing tmasissure the validity of the hedges based omefa¢give cumulative changes in fair
value between the derivative contract and the hebitgen over time. Any change in fair value resgtirom ineffectiveness is recognized
immediately in earnings. Hedge accounting is difoord prospectively if it is determined that trexidative is no longer effective in offsettil
changes in the cash flows of the hedged item.

For interest rate hedges related to interest diggithin the construction of fixed assets, othanpeehensive income is released to
earnings as the asset is depreciated over itslugefuror all other interest rate hedges, oth@mprehensive income is released to earnings as
interest expense is accrued on the underlying debt.

Contingencies—We record liabilities for estimated loss contingesavhen we believe a loss is probable and the atrafuhe probabl
loss can be reasonably estimated. Once establiglgealdjust the estimated contingency loss accasaitfanges in facts and circumstances thea
alter our previous assumptions with respect tdikatihood or amount of loss.

We recognize loss of hire insurance recovery oaatzed or contingencies related to the realizghilf the amount earned are resolved.

Income Taxes—Income taxes are provided based upon the tax lad/sades in the countries in which our subsidiasiesregistered al
where their operations are conducted and income=gpenses are earned and incurred, respectivelye@dgnize deferred tax assets and
liabilities for the anticipated future tax effectstemporary differences between the financialestegnt basis and the tax basis of our assets an
liabilities using the applicable enacted tax ratesffect the year in which the asset is realizethe liability is settled. A valuation allowance
for deferred tax assets is established when iigertikely than not that some portion or all of teferred tax assets will not be realized.

We recognize tax benefits from an uncertain taxtjpomsonly if it is more likely than not that thegition will be sustained upon
examination by taxing authorities based on thertieth merits of the position. The amount recognizethe largest benefit that we believe has
greater than a 50% likelihood of being realizedrupettlement. Actual income taxes paid may vargnfestimates depending upon changes in
income tax laws, actual results of operations aedinal audit of tax returns by taxing authoritiéée recognize interest and penalties relate
uncertain tax positions in income tax expense.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Revenue Recognition—On May 28, 2014, the Financial Accounting Standddard (“FASB”) issued ASU No. 2014-0Revenue frol
Contracts with Customerswvhich requires an entity to recognize the amadimevenue to which it expects to be entitled far transfer of
promised goods or services to customers. The ASUeplace most existing revenue recognition gu@aim U.S. GAAP when it becomes
effective for the Company on January 1, 2017. Eaplglication is not permitted. The standard perihisuse of either the retrospective or
cumulative effect transition method. We are evahgathe effect that this new standard will haveoon consolidated financial statements and
related disclosures. We have not yet selectednaitian method, nor have we determined the effétt® standard on our ongoing financial
reporting.
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Note 3—Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31,

2014 2013
(in thousands)
Drillships and related equipment $ 4,892,740 $ 4,020,79;
Assets under construction 1,014,48I 769,13:
Other property and equipment 10,35 10,26(
Property and equipment, cost 5,917,57! 4,800,18
Accumulated depreciation (485,756 (288,029
Property and equipment, net $ 5431820 $ 4,512,15

On January 25, 2013, we entered into a contradhfconstruction of theacific Zonda The SHI contract for thBacific Zonda
provides for a purchase price of approximately $5illion for the acquisition of the vessel, palgin installments during the construction
process, of which we have made payments of appairi;n$181.1 million through December 31, 2014 aedanticipate making payments of
approximately $336.4 million in 2015 .

During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2012@b# , we capitalized interest costs of $62.1iomll $78.5 million and $33.2
million , respectively, on assets under construnctio

Note 4—Debt
Debt consisted of the following:

December 31,

2014 2013
(in thousands)

Due within one year:

2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds $ 286,500 % —
Senior Secured Credit Facility 75,00( —
2018 Senior Secured Term Loan B 7,50( 7,50(
Total current debt 369,00( 7,50(

Long-term debt:
2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds $ — $ 300,00(
2017 Senior Secured Bonds 498,36 497,89:
2018 Senior Secured Term Loan B 728,70¢ 735,44!
Senior Secured Credit Facility 804,16 140,00(
2020 Senior Secured Notes 750,00( 750,00(
Total long-term debt 2,781,24. 2,423,33
Total debt $ 3,150,24: $ 2,430,83

2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds

In February 2012, we completed a private placerae$i800.0 million in aggregate principal amounB8d25% senior unsecured U.S.
dollar denominated bonds due 2015 (the “2015 Sdnnsecured Bonds”). The bonds bore interest at¥8.26d were repaid on February 23,
2015 .

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , we rbpsed and canceled an aggregate principal amo$di305 million of our 2015
Senior Unsecured Bonds at an aggregate cost o $iilion , including accrued interest. See Note-1Subsequent Event.

2017 Senior Secured Notes

In November 2012, Pacific Drilling V Limited (“PDV; an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of the Canp, and the Company, as
guarantor, completed a private placement of $560l@®n in aggregate principal amount of 7.25% sersecured
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notes due 2017 (the “2017 Senior Secured Note$.2017 Senior Secured Notes were sold at 99.48304roThe 2017 Senior Secured
Notes bear interest 7.25% per annum, payable semiannually on Junel Dacember 1, commencing on June 1, 2013, and enatur
December 1, 2017 .

The 2017 Senior Secured Notes are secured byt-gfisity security interest (subject to certairceptions) in théacific Khamsin and
substantially all of the other assets of PDV, idafig an assignment of earnings and insurance psaetated to thPacific Khamsin

As of December 31, 2014, PDV had no subsidiarieg. #dture subsidiary of PDV that holds or will hatte Pacific Khamsiror certain
related assets, or is or becomes party to a dyiliontract in respect of tlgacific Khamsin will guarantee the notes on a senior securedbasi
No other subsidiary of the Company will be guaresitaf the 2017 Senior Secured Notes. The 2017 68eicured Notes and the ni
guarantees will be PDV's and each guarantor sudogidi senior obligation, respectively, will rankuzdj in right of payment to all existing and
future senior indebtedness of PDV and such guaraanal will rank senior in right of payment to altisting and future subordinated
indebtedness of PDV and such guarantor.

On or after December 1, 2015 , PDV has the optiaedeem the 2017 Senior Secured Notes, in whdlemart, at one time or from
time to time, at the redemption prices plus acciarmsdi unpaid interests and additional amounts,if apecified in the indenture for the Notes.
Prior to December 1, 2015, PDV may redeem all grortion of the 2017 Senior Secured Notes at amgadion price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the outstanding notes plus@grand unpaid interest and additional amoungs)yf to the redemption date, plus a “make-
whole” premium. In addition, prior to December 018, PDV may, at its option, on one or more ocgasie@deem up to 35% of the aggregate
original principal amount of the 2017 Senior Seduxmtes with the net cash proceeds from certaiityeqtferings of the Company at a
redemption price of 107.25% the principal amount of the outstanding notes @ccrued and unpaid interest and additional atapifimny, tc
the redemption date. PDV may also, prior to Decerib2015, redeem up to 10% of the original aggeegancipal amount of the 2017 Senior
Secured Notes in any 12 month period at a redemptice equal to 103% of the aggregate principal@amhthereof plus accrued and unpaid
interest and additional amounts, if any, to theeregtion date.

The 2017 Senior Secured Notes contain provisioaslitnit, with certain exceptions, the ability odétfic Drilling S.A., PDV and Pacifi
Drilling S.A.’s other restricted subsidiaries tp giay dividends, make distributions, purchase deeen Pacific Drilling S.A.’s capital stock or
subordinated indebtedness of PDV or any guaramtorake other restricted payments, provided thalpisg as there is no default under the
indenture for the Notes and the Company meets ®2.M consolidated interest coverage ratio thastCompany may pay dividends and make
other restricted payments in a cumulative amouaitdibes not exceed 50% of the Company’s consotidegeincome for the period beginning
October 1, 2012 and ending on last day of the Coryipanost recently ended fiscal quarter for whisteinal financial statements are available
at the time of such dividend or distribution (subj® certain adjustments), (ii) incur or guararddeitional indebtedness or issue preferred
stock, (iii) create or incur liens, (iv) create astricted subsidiaries, (v) enter into transactioiib affiliates, (vi) enter into new lines of
business, (vii) transfer or sell tRacific Khamsirand other related assets and (viii) merge or deedrigese covenants are subject to
exceptions and qualifications set forth in the intdee for the Notes, including the ability to inaertain amounts of secured indebtedness to
finance the construction of additional drillships.

As of December 31, 2014 , we were in compliancéwait 2017 Senior Secured Notes covenants.

Senior Secured Credit Facility Agreement

On February 19, 2013, Pacific Sharav S.a r.l. aaxifie Drilling VII Limited (collectively, the “SSE Borrowers”) and the Company, as
guarantor, entered into a senior secured credlitfeggreement, as amended and restated (the “§S@Finance the construction, operation
and other costs associated with Bezific Sharavand thePacific Meltem(the “SSCF Vessels”). The SSCF consists of twogiuad tranches:

(i) a Commercial Tranche of $500.0 million provideyla syndicate of commercial banks and (ii) a Gra- Instituttet for Eksportkreditt
(“GIEK”) Tranche of $500.0 million guaranteed byEX, comprised of two sub-tranches: (x) an Ekspedkt Norge AS (“EKN") sub-tranche
of $250.0 million and (y) a bank sub-tranche of @®5million . The SSCF is primarily secured onratfpriority basis by liens on the SSCF
Vessels, and by an assignment of earnings andainseproceeds relating thereto.

Borrowings under the SSCF are available upon thisfaetion of customary conditions precedent, idahg, without limitation, a
maximum amount borrowed under the SSCF relatitke@mount contributed by the Company for each S%€¥sel. Initially, the maximum
debt threshold is set at 65% of total project edsth will increase to 72% on the first date thabathe following conditions shall have been
satisfied: (i) thePacific Sharavhas been delivered, (ii) a drilling contract has
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been entered into for tHacific Meltemsuch that, when combined with the contract forRheific Sharav, there is an aggregate original
duration of at least 6 years with a minimum avenage of at least $500,000 per day and (iii) thgregate principal amount under the SSCF,
the 2020 Senior Secured Notes and the Senior SETeren Loan B does not exceed 65% of the value@ISCF Vessels and the Shared
Collateral Vessels (as defined below). Undrawn caments will terminate if not drawn before May 2@15.

Borrowings under the Commercial Tranche bear isteatLIBOR plus a margin of 3.5% . Borrowings untiee EKN sub-tranche bear
interest, at the Company’s option, at (i) LIBORgimargin of 1.25% (which margin may be reset @y BIL, 2019 ) or (ii) at a Commercial
Interest Reference Rate of 2.37% . Borrowings utttebank sub-tranche bear interest at LIBOR plosggin of 1.25% . Borrowings under
both sub-tranches will also be subject to a guamfae of 2% per annum. Undrawn commitments uthdeESCF bear a fee equal to (i) in the
case of the Commercial Tranche, 40% of the mawistich tranche and (ii) in the case of the GIEKnEhe, 40% of the applicable margin for
such tranche. In addition, the GIEK Tranche bearsramitment fee equal to 40% of the guaranteelfeerest is payable quarterly.

The Commercial Tranche will mature on May 31, 2018ans made with respect to each vessel unddsiEE Tranche mature twelve
years following the delivery of the applicable vws3he GIEK Tranche contains a put option exebides# the Commercial Tranche is r
refinanced or renewed on or before February 2892@1he GIEK Tranche put option is exercised,lre&SCF Borrower must prepay, in full,
the portion of all outstanding loans that relatéh® GIEK Tranche, on or before May 31, 2019, withany premium, penalty or fees of any
kind. Amortization payments under the SSCF areutaled on a 12 year repayment schedule and mustbe every six months following the
delivery of the relevant vessel.

Borrowings under the SSCF may be prepaid in whpola part at any time, without any premium or p&nather than LIBOR or CIRR
breakage payments, as applicable.

The SSCF requires compliance with certain affiree@tind negative covenants that are customary tr fisancings. These include, but
are not limited to, restrictions on (i) the abildafthe Company to pay dividends or make distriimsito its shareholders or transact with
affiliates (except for certain specified exceptioasd (ii) the ability of the SSCF Borrowers toun@additional indebtedness or liens, sell asset:
make investments or transact with affiliates (exdéepcertain specified exceptions). The termshef 8SCF allow the payment of dividends or
distributions to our shareholders under certairdd@ans more fully set forth therein, whereby weynalistribute up to 50% of our net income
per year, to be paid no later than the end ofdHewing year.

The SSCF also requires maintenance by the Comgalijyao$1.0 billion consolidated tangible net whr(ii) a net debt to EBITDA (as
defined in the SSCF) ratio no greater than 4.50@0 on the last day of any fiscal quarter durtmg period from March 31, 2015 through
December 31, 2015 and 4.00 to 1.00 on the lasbtlapy fiscal quarter thereafter, (iii) a projectiabt service coverage ratio for the next
twelve months of at least 1.5x on March 31, 201d @amthe last day of any fiscal quarter thereaftey,a total debt to total capitalization ratio
of 3.0 to 5.0, (v) minimum liquidity for the Compgaand its subsidiaries of $50.0 million and (vileguired level of collateral maintenance
whereby the aggregate appraised collateral valus nmat be less than a certain percentage of taédatstanding balances under the SSCF
debt (as defined in the SSCF) excludes (i) temyanaportation bond indebtedness and (i) prior ep@mber 30, 2015, SSCF indebtedness.

The SSCF contains events of default that are wdhtustomary for a financing of this type, sizd parpose. Upon the occurrence of
an event of default, borrowings under the SSCFabgect to acceleration.

As of December 31, 2014 , we were in compliancé it SSCF covenants.

Project Facilities Agreement Refinancing Transactias

On September 9, 2010, certain of our subsidiarésred into a project facilities agreement to ficeathe costs associated with the
Pacific Bora, thePacific Mistral, thePacific Sciroccand thePacific Santa Andthe “PFA”).

On June 3, 2013, we completed three related btihcliginancing transactions totaling $2.0 billiolhe transactions included (i) a
$750.0 million private placement of 5.375% sen@rwged notes due 2020 (the “2020 Senior SecureesNotii) a $750.0 million senior
secured institutional term loan with a 2018 mayuftihe “Senior Secured Term Loan B”) and (iii) 2083 million senior secured revolving
credit facility maturing in 2018, as amended (tB613 Revolving Credit Facility”). A portion of theet proceeds from the 2020 Senior Secure
Notes and the Senior Secured Term Loan B were tosiedly repay
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the outstanding borrowings under the PFA, aftercivithe PFA was terminated and all related collhtetaased (the “PFA Refinancing”).

2020 Senior Secured Notes

The 2020 Senior Secured Notes were sold at par202e Senior Secured Notes bear interest at 5.3@6#@nnum, payable
semiannually on June 1 and December 1, and matuderce 1, 2020.

The 2020 Senior Secured Notes are guaranteed hyseasidiary of the Company that owns Bexific Bora, thePacific Mistral, the
Pacific Scirocccor thePacific Santa Andthe “Shared Collateral Vessels”), each subsidiaay owns equity in a Shared Collateral Vessel-
owning subsidiary, certain other subsidiaries #ratparties to charters in respect of the Shardldt€@l Vessels and in the future will be
guaranteed by certain other future subsidiaries.ifitienture for the 2020 Senior Secured Notes alfowthe issuance of up to $100.0 million
of additional notes provided no default is contiquand the Company is otherwise in compliance ®alitapplicable covenants.

The 2020 Senior Secured Notes are secured, onuah &g ratable, first priority basis, with theightions under the Senior Secured
Term Loan B, the 2013 Revolving Credit Facility arattain future obligations (together with the 2@hior Secured Notes, the “Pari Passu
Obligations”), subject to payment priorities in ¢aof lenders under the 2013 Revolving Credit Fgaiursuant to the terms of an intercreditor
agreement (the “Intercreditor Agreement”), by liemsthe Shared Collateral Vessels, a pledge oédjuity of the entities that own the Shared
Collateral Vessels, assignments of earnings andanse proceeds with respect to the Shared Cdla¥essels, and certain other assets of the
subsidiary guarantors (collectively, the “Sharedl&@eral”).

On or after June 1, 2016 , the Company has thempi redeem the 2020 Senior Secured Notes, ineadrah part, at one time or from
time to time, at the redemption prices (expressageacentages of principal amount) set forth bgdtwg accrued and unpaid interests and
additional amounts, if any, on the notes redeeiifieedeemed during the twelve-month period begigron June 1 of the years indicated
below:

Year

2016 104.03%
2017 102.68%%
2018 101.34%%
2019 and thereafter 100%

Prior to June 1, 2016, the Company may redeent alhy portion of the notes at a redemption priagaétp 100% of the principal
amount of the outstanding notes plus accrued apdidrnterest and additional amounts, if any, ®rdemption date, plus a “make-whole”
premium.

In addition, prior to June 1, 2016, the Company naayts option, on one or more occasions redeeto 35% of the aggregate original
principal amount of the notes (including any addiéil notes) with the net cash proceeds from ceeirity offerings at a redemption price of
105.375% of the principal amount of the outstandintes plus accrued and unpaid interest and addltamounts, if any, to the redemption
date.

The Company may also, prior to June 1, 2016, redgeto 10% of the original aggregate principal antaf the notes in any 12-month
period at a redemption price equal to 108Bthe aggregate principal amount thereof pluswetiand unpaid interest and additional amoun
any, to the redemption date.

The Company may from time to time issue additioredks under the indenture for the 2020 Senior $elcNbtes in an aggregate
amount not to exceed $100.0 millipwhich additional notes will have identical teremed conditions as the original notes, other thanaslate
issue price and, in certain circumstances, the fdate which interest will accrue.

The indenture for the 2020 Senior Secured Notesa@micovenants that, among other things, limiégsGompany’s and its restricted
subsidiaries’ ability to (i) pay dividends, makstdibutions, purchase or redeem the Company’salegiitck or its or its subsidiary guarantors’
subordinated indebtedness or make other resthgohents, provided that, so long as there is naultefinder the indenture and the Company
meets a 2.0 to 1.0 consolidated interest coveragetest, the Company may pay dividends and méher oestricted payments in a cumulative
amount that does not exceed 50% of the Companyisatiolated
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net income for the period beginning October 1, 28i@ ending on the last day of the Company’s mexstntly ended fiscal quarter for which
internal financial statements are available atithe of such dividend or distribution (subject &rtain adjustments more fully described in the
indenture), (ii) incur or guarantee additional ibtiglness or issue preferred stock, (iii) creataair liens, (iv) create unrestricted subsidiaries,
(v) enter into transactions with affiliates, (vi)ter into new lines of business and (vii) transfesell assets or enter into mergers.

These covenants are subject to exceptions andiqattins set forth in the indenture for the 202hidr Secured Notes, including the
ability to incur certain amounts of secured inddhgss to finance the construction of additiondlaifips. Many of these covenants will cease
to apply to the 2020 Senior Secured Notes durirygoaniod that the Notes have investment gradegatirom both Moody's Investors Service,
Inc. and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group, Inc. andiefault has occurred and is continuing undeirttienture.

The indenture for the 2020 Senior Secured Notesaamievents of default that are usual and custpfeam financing of this type, size
and purpose. Upon the occurrence of an event aluttethe 2020 Senior Secured Notes are subjestdeleration.

As of December 31, 2014 , we were in compliancé ait 2020 Senior Secured Notes covenants.

2018 Senior Secured Institutional Term LoanTerm Loan B

The Senior Secured Term Loan B was issued at 96584 face value and bears interest, at the Cowigaglection, at either (1) LIBOI
which will not be less than a floor of 1% plus argia of 3.5% per annum, or (2) a rate of intepstannum equal to the highest of (i) the
prime rate for such day, (ii) the sum of the fetirads rate plus 0.5% and (iii) 1% per annumwabithe one-month LIBOR, in each case plus
a margin of 2.5% per annum. Interest is payabetguy. The Senior Secured Term Loan B requiresteuy amortization payments of $1.9
million and matures on June 3, 2018 .

The Senior Secured Term Loan B has an accordidarfethat would permit additional loans to be egthso long as the Company’s
total outstanding obligations in connection witle ®enior Secured Term Loan B and the 2020 Senmur&e Notes do not exceed $1.7 billion

The Senior Secured Term Loan B is secured by theeShCollateral and subject to the terms and piansof the Intercreditor
Agreement. Borrowings under the Senior Secured Teram B may be prepaid without any premium or pgmal

The Senior Secured Term Loan B requires complianttecertain affirmative and negative covenantg #itra customary for such
financings. These include, but are not limitedréstrictions on the Company’s and its restrictdubgliaries’ ability to (i) pay dividends, make
distributions, purchase or redeem the Company’galagiock or its or its subsidiary guarantors’ sudinated indebtedness or make other
restricted payments, provided that, so long asttseno default under the Senior Secured Term [Band the Company meets a 2.0to 1.0
consolidated interest coverage ratio test, the Gompnay pay dividends and make other restrictedngays in a cumulative amount that does
not exceed 50% of the Company’s consolidated roetnie for the period beginning October 1, 2012 arding on the last day of the
Company’s most recently ended fiscal quarter foictviinternal financial statements are availablthattime of such dividend or distribution
(subject to certain adjustments), (ii) incur or guee additional indebtedness or issue prefetoat s(iii) create or incur liens, (iv) create
unrestricted subsidiaries, (v) enter into transatiwith affiliates, (vi) enter into new lines aisiness and (vii) transfer or sell assets or enter
into mergers. These covenants are subject to impexceptions and qualifications set forth in$emior Secured Term Loan B, including the
ability to incur certain amounts of secured inddhtss to finance the construction of additiondlsthips.

The Senior Secured Term Loan B contains eventgfafult that are usual and customary for a finanoihidpis type, size and purpose.
Upon the occurrence of an event of default, bomgwiunder the Senior Secured Term Loan B are dutbj@cceleration.

As of December 31, 2014 , we were in compliancé ait Senior Secured Term Loan B covenants.

2013 Revolving Credit Facility

Borrowings under the 2013 Revolving Credit Facibigar interest, at the Company’s option, at ei(bhet IBOR plus a margin ranging
from 2.5% to 3.25% based on the Company’s leveratye, or (2) a rate of interest per annum equdah#highest of (i) the prime rate for such
day, (ii) the sum of the federal funds rate pliE#®and (iii) 1% per annum above the one-
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month LIBOR, in each case plus a margin rangingfo5% to 2.25% based on the Company'’s leverage tamdrawn commitments accrue a
fee ranging from 0.7% to 1% per annum based o€trapany’s leverage ratio. Interest is payable tguigr

The 2013 Revolving Credit Facility, as amendedpnpesloans to be extended up to a maximum subbf®300.0 million and permits
letters of credit to be issued up to a maximumisuibbf $300.0 million , subject to a $500.0 mili@verall facility limit. Outstanding but
undrawn letters of credit accrue a fee at a rabaltg the margin on LIBOR loans minus 1% . The2B&volving Credit Facility has a
maturity date of June 3, 2018 .

The 2013 Revolving Credit Facility is secured by 8hared Collateral and subject to the provisidriseintercreditor Agreement.

As of December 31, 2014 , no amounts were outstgnaiader the 2013 Revolving Credit Facility andragpmately $100.7 million of
letters of credit were issued under the 2013 ReénglCredit Facility as credit support for temporanport bonds issued in favor of the
Government of Nigeria Customs Service.

Borrowings under the 2013 Revolving Credit Facititgy be prepaid, and commitments under the 2018IRag Credit Facility may b
reduced, in whole or in part at any time, withooy @remium or penalty other than LIBOR breakagenpawts.

The 2013 Revolving Credit Facility requires comptia with certain affirmative and negative covendinét are customary for such
financings. These include, but are not limitedréstrictions on (i) the Company'’s ability to payidends or make distributions to its
shareholders (except for certain specified excaptimcluding that the Company may pay dividendsiake distributions so long as there is nc
default under the 2013 Revolving Credit Facilitddahe Company is in pro forma compliance with #nekage ratio and minimum liquidity
tests described below after giving effect to suiefddnd or distribution) and (ii) the Company’s atelsubsidiaries’ ability to incur additional
indebtedness or liens, sell assets, make investnogm@ngage in transactions with affiliates (exdeptertain specified exceptions, including
the ability to incur certain amounts of secureckintig@dness to finance the construction of additidndships).

The 2013 Revolving Credit Facility also requires @ompany to maintain (i) a leverage ratio (adplistet debt (excluding SSCF
indebtedness prior to September 30, 2015) to atjusBITDA) not greater than 4.75 to 1.00, on tte tiy of any fiscal quarter during the
period from March 31, 2015 through December 3152@hd 4.25 to 1.00, on the last day of any figcarter thereafter; and (ii) minimum
liquidity of $100.0 million (including undrawn cagity for loans under the 2013 Revolving Credit figoi provided that, if at any time
following the repayment in full of the SSCF enteneitb by subsidiaries of the Company to financedbmestruction, operation and other costs
associated with thRacific Sharavand thePacific Meltermo non-U.S. dollar denominated letters of credt@utstanding, then such amount
will be reduced to $50.0 million .

The 2013 Revolving Credit Facility contains evenftslefault that are usual and customary for a fiivag of this type, size and purpose.
Upon the occurrence of an event of default, (i) sotments and letters of credit under the 2013 ReénglCredit Facility will be subject to
termination, (ii) borrowings under the 2013 RevnlyiCredit Facility will be subject to acceleratiamd (iii) outstanding letters of credit will |
subject to cash collateralization.

As of December 31, 2014 , we were in compliancéwait 2013 Revolving Credit Facility covenants.

2014 Revolving Credit Facility

On October 29, 2014, we entered into a new revglenedit facility with an aggregate principal ambohup to $500.0 million (the
“2014 Revolving Credit Facility”), for pre-delivergelivery and post-delivery financing of tRacific Zondaand other general corporate
purposes.

The 2014 Revolving Credit Facility provides for thsaup to a maximum of $500.0 million ; howeverfsan excess of $350.0 million
are subject to the delivery of tRacific Zondaand the Company's entry into a satisfactory dglidontract with respect to ttiacific Zonda A
satisfactory drilling contract must provide foriaftial duration of at least one year and a minimdayrate of $425,000 or must be otherwise
acceptable to the lenders.

As of December 31, 2014 , no amounts were drawete 2014 Revolving Credit Facility. See Note 1Subsequent Event.
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Prior to delivery of théacific Zonda the 2014 Revolving Credit Facility is primarilgaired on a first priority basis by liens on the
construction contract and refund guarantee foPtheific Zondaand a pledge of the equity of one of the subsidigigrantors. Upon delivery
the Pacific Zonda, the 2014 Revolving Credit Facility will be prinilgrsecured on a first priority basis by liens twe Pacific Zondaand by
assignments of earnings and insurances relateetther

The 2014 Revolving Credit Facility has a maturisitedof five years after the delivery date of Bezific Zonda Borrowings under the
2014 Revolving Credit Facility bear interest, & tbompany’s option, at either (1) LIBOR plus a nirargnging from 1.75% to 2.5% based on
the Company'’s leverage ratio, or (2) a rate ofrggeper annum equal to the highest of (i) the eniate for such day, (ii) the sum of the federa
funds rate plus 0.5% and (iii) 1% per annum abbaeeltmonth LIBOR, in each case plus a margin rapffiom 0.75% to 1.5% based on the
Company’s leverage ratio. Undrawn commitments aceréee ranging from 0.5% to 0.8% per annum basdtl@Company’s leverage ratio.
Interest is payable quarterly.

Mandatory commitment reductions under the 2014 Ravg Credit Facility are calculated on a 12 yesofile and begin six months
after the delivery date of theacific Zonda

The 2014 Revolving Credit Facility requires comptia with certain affirmative and negative covendinét are customary for such
financings. These include, but are not limitedréstrictions on (i) the Company'’s ability to payidiends to its shareholders (except for certair
specified exceptions, including that the Company pey dividends (as more fully described in the2&evolving Credit Facility) so long as
there is no default under the 2014 Revolving CrEdliility and the Company is in pro forma compliamdgth the leverage ratio and minimum
liquidity tests described below after giving efféatsuch dividend) and (ii) the Company’s and itessdiaries’ ability to incur additional
indebtedness or liens, sell assets, make investnegm@ngage in transactions with affiliates (exdeptertain specified exceptions, including
the ability to incur certain amounts of secureckintig@dness to finance the construction of additidnships).

The 2014 Revolving Credit Facility requires the Quamy to maintain (i) a leverage ratio (adjusteddsddt (excluding SSCF
indebtedness prior to September 30, 2015) to atjusBITDA) not greater than 4.75 to 1.00, on tte tiy of any fiscal quarter during the
period from March 31, 2015 through December 3152@hd 4.25 to 1.00, on the last day of any fiscarter thereafter; and (ii) minimum
liquidity of $100.0 million (including undrawn cagity for loans under the 2013 Revolving Credit Figdi provided that such amount shall be
reduced to U.S. $50.0 million following the repayrhim full of the senior secured credit facilityragment entered into by subsidiaries of the
Company to finance the construction, operationathdr costs associated with the drillshipsPagific Sharavand thePacific Meltem

The 2014 Revolving Credit Facility contains evenftslefault that are usual and customary for a fiivag of this type, size and purpose.
Upon the occurrence of an event of default, (i) sotments under the revolving credit facility agremsrhwill be subject to termination and (ii)
borrowings under the revolving credit facility wile subject to acceleration.

As of December 31, 2014 , we were in compliancé it 2014 Revolving Credit Facility covenants.

Maturities of Long-Term Debt
As of December 31, 2014 , the aggregate matunfiesir debt, including net unamortized discount$4f million , was as follows:

(in thousands)
Years ending December 31,

2015 $ 369,00(
2016 82,50(
2017 582,50(
2018 791,25(
2019 579,16°
Thereafter 750,00(

Total $ 3,154,471
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Note 5—Income Taxes

Pacific Drilling S.A., a holding company and Luxeouing resident, is subject to Luxembourg corponateiine tax and municipal
business tax at a combined rate of 29.2% that caroeteJanuary 1, 2013. For the year ended Decemb@032, the combined Luxembourg
corporate income tax and municipal business taxwais 28.8% . Qualifying dividend income and cagjtans on the sale of qualifying
investments in subsidiaries are exempt from Luxamipaorporate income tax and municipal business@Gaxsequently, Pacific Drilling S.A.
expects dividends from its subsidiaries and cap##s from sales of investments in its subsidéatoebe exempt from Luxembourg corporate
income tax and municipal business tax.

Income taxes have been provided based on the lagveates in effect in the countries in which ouegtions are conducted or in which
our subsidiaries are considered residents for irctam purposes. Our income tax expense or bemfigsafrom our mix of pretax earnings or
losses, respectively, in the international taxgdiGtions in which we operate. Because the coumimnievhich we operate have different statutor
tax rates and tax regimes with respect to one angthere is no expected relationship between theigion for income taxes and our income
loss before income taxes.

Income / (loss) before income taxes consisted efdlowing:

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Luxembourg $ 36,78 $ 55904 $ (24,45)
United States 3,631 20¢€ (444)
Other Jurisdictions 193,46: (8,08%) 80,59°
Total $ 23387 $ 48,028 $  55,70:

The components of income tax (provision) / beraditsisted of the following:

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Current income tax expense:

Luxembourg $ 979 $ (81¢) $ (53%)
United States (6,030 (1,88%) (4,409
Other Foreign (19,95() (22,94)) (20,540
Total current $ (26,959 $ (25,64) $ (25,479
Deferred tax benefit (expense):

Luxembourg $ 1) $ (32 $ 32
United States 4,281 2,052 4,64¢
Other Foreign (22,94)) 1,09¢ (912
Total deferred $ (18,66) % 3,11¢ % 3,76¢€

Income tax expense $ (45620 $ (22,52) $ (21,71)
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A reconciliation between the Luxembourg statutate rof 29.2% for the years ended December 31, 20842013 (and 28.8% for the
year ende012 ) and our effective tax rate is as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Statutory rate 29.2% 29.2% 28.8%
Effect of tax rates different than the Luxembouafigtory tax rate (17.5% 27.1% 6.6%
Change in valuation allowance 10.2 % (9.0% 3.4%
Adjustments related to prior years (2.9% (0.9% —%
Effective tax rate 19.5% 46.€ % 39.(%

The components of deferred tax assets and liasiltonsisted of the following:

December 31,

2014 2013
(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 33537 $ 26,40
Depreciation and amortization 54,81t —
Accrued payroll expenses 9,08¢ 7,04¢
Deferred revenue 19,10% 6,184
Other 1,18 13
Deferred tax assets 117,73: 39,64%
Less: valuation allowance (78,329 (14,999
Total deferred tax assets $ 3940 $ @ 24,64¢
Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation and amortization $ — (95¢)
Deferred expenses (21,93Y) (12,309
Other (1,220 (32
Total deferred tax liabilities $ (23,15) $ (13,299
Net deferred tax assets $ 16,247 $ 11,34¢

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company hassgleferred tax assets of $33.5 million and $&86lkbn , respectively, related
to loss carry forwards in various worldwide taxigdictions. The majority of the loss carry forwatds/e no expiration.

A valuation allowance for deferred tax assets taldshed when it is more likely than not that sqmoetion or all of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized. As of December 314281d 2013, the valuation allowance for deferredatsets was $78.3 million and $15.0
million , respectively. The increase in our valoatallowance partially resulted from losses incdiireBrazil and Luxembourg, for which we
believe it is more likely than not that a tax béefll not be realized. Additionally, we believeis more likely than not that a tax benefit will
not be realized from the excess of tax basis owekIbasis for certain of our drillships.

We consider the earnings of certain of our subs&hao be indefinitely reinvested. Accordingly, Wave not provided for taxes on these
unremitted earnings. Should we make distributisomfthe unremitted earnings of these subsidiaviesyould be subject to taxes payable to
various jurisdictions. At December 31, 2014, theoant of indefinitely reinvested earnings was apprately $32.9 million . If all of these
indefinitely reinvested earnings were distributed,would be subject to estimated taxes of approtam&1.6 million as of December 31,
2014.
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We recognize tax benefits from an uncertain taxtjpomsonly if it is more likely than not that thegition will be sustained upon
examination by taxing authorities based on therteeth merits of the position. The amount recognizetthe largest benefit that we believe has
greater than a 50% likelihood of being realizedrupettlement. As of December 31, 2014, we had $28IBn of unrecognized tax benefits
which was included in other long-term liabilities our consolidated balance sheet, of which $23IBomivould impact our consolidated
effective tax rate if realized. For the year enBedember 31, 2014, we recognized interest and fienaf $1.0 million related to uncertain tax
positions in income tax expense. A reconciliatibthe beginning and ending amount of unrecogniagdenefits for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013 is as follows:

December 31,

2014 2013
(in thousands)
Balance, beginning of year $ 73€ $ =
Increases in unrecognized tax benefits as a rektadk positions taken during prior years 3,47: 73€
Increases in unrecognized tax benefits as a rebtdk positions taken during current year 19,03¢ —
Balance, end of year $ 23,24¢  $ 73€

The Company is subject to taxation in various U@eign, and state jurisdictions in which it cootiubusiness. Tax years as early as
2010 remain subject to examination. As of Decen®iei2014 , the Company has ongoing tax audits geh&, the United States, and Brazil.

Note 6—Shareholders’ Equity

On November 24, 2014, the Company’s shareholdgmoapd a share repurchase program for the repieafagy to 8.0 million shares
through May 20, 2016. Based on this authorizatilba,Board of Directors authorized the commenceroktite program on December 1, 2014
and repurchases of up to $30.0 million under thogy@m.

Shares under our share repurchase program arehaged at market price on the trade date. Repwdlsimres of our common stock
are held as treasury shares until they are reissusstired. Amounts paid to reacquire these shamreshown separately as a deduction from
equity on the balance sheet.

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , we répsed 1.7 milliorshares under our share repurchase program at eegadg cost ¢
$8.2 million .

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company’s shareaagmnsisted of 5.0 billion common shares authdri$®.01 par value per share,
232.8 million common shares issued and 215.8 mikiommon shares outstanding of which approxima&el$% is held by Quantum Pacific
(Gibraltar) Limited.
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Note 7—Share-Based Compensation

We recorded share-based compensation expenselatediriax benefit within our consolidated statersaitincome as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Contract drilling costs $ 3,131 % 2,087 $ =
General and administrative expenses 7,35: 7,22¢ 5,31¢
Share-based compensation expense 10,48 9,31¢ 5,31¢
Tax benefit @ (2,159 (2,119 (1,360
Total $ 8,33 $ 7,20z $ 3,95¢

(@) The effects of tax benefits from shé@esed compensation expense are included withinmiadax expense in our consolidated staten
of income.

Stock Options

On March 31, 2011, the Board approved the creatighe Pacific Drilling S.A. 2011 Omnibus Stock émtive Plan (the “2011 Stock
Plan™), which provides for issuance of common stopkons, as well as share appreciation rightsrictsd shares, restricted share units and
other equity based or equity related awards tactbirs, officers, employees and consultants. Thedako resolved that 7.2 million common
shares of Pacific Drilling S.A. be reserved anchatized for issuance pursuant to the terms of il Stock Plan. On March 4, 2014, the
Board approved an amendment to the 2011 StockiRtapasing the number of common shares reservedaildble for issuance from 7.2
million to 15.9 million .

The fair value of each option award is estimatedhendate of grant using the Black-Scholes optiaination model utilizing the
assumptions noted in the table below. Given theffitient historical data available regarding thaatility of the Company’s traded share
price, expected volatility of the Company’s shariegdoes not solely provide a reasonable basisdtimating volatility. Instead, the expected
volatility utilized in our Black-Scholes valuationodel is based on the volatility of the Companyésled share price for the period available
following the initial public offering of our sharemd the implied volatilities from the expectedatdity of a representative group of our
publicly listed industry peer group for prior ped® Additionally, given the lack of historical dateailable, the expected terms of the options i
calculated using the simplified method becauséisierical option exercise experience of the Corgpdomes not provide a reasonable basis fo
estimating expected term. Options granted genevally 25% annually over four years , have a 10r-geatractual term and will be settled in
shares of our stock. The risk free interest rateslatermined using the implied yield currentlyitlde for zero-coupon U.S. government
issues with a remaining term equal to the expdddf the options.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2012@b# , the fair value of the options granted walsudated using the following
weighted-average assumptions:

2014 2013 2012
Stock Options Stock Options Stock Options
Expected volatility 46.2% 47.2% 48.5%
Expected term (in years) 6.2 6.2t 6.25
Expected dividends — — —
Risk-free interest rate 1.€% 1.2% 1.4%
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A summary of option activity under the 2011 Sto¢krPas of and for the year ended December 31, 044 follows:

Weighted-Average Aggregate
Number of Shares Weighted-Average Remaining Intrinsic
Under Option Exercise Price Contractual Term Value
(in thousands) (per share) (in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding — January 1, 2014 524¢ % 9.91
Granted 49z 10.81
Exercised (84) 10.01
Cancelled or forfeited (629 9.8¢
Outstanding — December 31, 2014 502¢ $ 10.0C 74 $ —
Exercisable — December 31, 2014 2,902 % 9.97 6.0 $ —

The weighted-average grant date fair value of ostigranted during the years ended December 31,,22043 and 2012 was $5.10 ,
$4.46 and $4.85 , respectively.

There were 0.1 million options exercised duringytbar ended December 31, 2014 , and no optiongisgdrduring the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 . The total intrinsiaevaf options exercised during the year ended Bee 31, 2014 was $0.1 million . As of
December 31, 2014 , total compensation costs tktataonvested option awards not yet recognized$®@z million and was expected to be
recognized over 2.1 years.

Restricted Stock Units

Pursuant to the 2011 Stock Plan, the Company leagegt restricted stock units to certain membermuoBoard of Directors, executives
and employees. Restricted stock units granted @ ttimpany will be settled in shares of our stoak generally vest over a period of two to
four years. The fair value of restricted stock simtdetermined using the market value of our shanethe date of grant.

A summary of restricted stock units activity untlee 2011 Stock Plan as of and for the year endegiber 31, 2014 was as follows:

Number of Weighted-Average
Restricted Stock Grant-Date Fair
Units Value
(in thousands) (per share)

Nonvested—January 1, 2014 1,028 % 9.9:
Granted 1,252 10.0¢
Vested (412) 10.0z
Cancelled or forfeited (98) 10.1¢
Nonvested—December 31, 2014 1,767 g 9.9¢

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of idstt stock units granted was $9.93 and $10.13Ipare for the years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectivelytdthl grant-date fair value of the restrictecktonits vested was $4.1 million , $1.7
million and $0 for the years ended December 3142@013 and 2012 , respectively.

As of December 31, 2014 , total compensation ae$dsed to nonvested restricted stock units notgeagnized was $11.0 million an d
is expected to be recognized over a weighted-aeguagod of 2.4 years.
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Note 8—Earnings per Share

The following reflects the income and the shara dsed in the basic and diluted EPS computations:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Numerator:

Net income, basic and diluted $ 18825 $ 2550 $  33,98¢
Denominator:

Weighted-average number of common shares outstgnioirsic 217,22: 216,96 216,90:
Effect of share-based compensation awards 15% 457 2
Weighted-average number of common shares outstgndilnted 217,37t 217,42: 216,90:
Earnings per share:

Basic $ 087 $ 01z $ 0.1¢€
Diluted $ 0.87 $ 0.1z $ 0.1¢€

The following table presents the share effecthafes-based compensation awards excluded from ooputations of diluted EPS as
their effect would have been anti-dilutive for {heriods presented:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)
Share-based compensation awards 6,19¢ 5,811 4,26:

Note 9—Derivatives

We are currently exposed to market risk from changeénterest rates and foreign exchange ratesn Firoe to time, we may enter into a
variety of derivative financial instruments in caation with the management of our exposure to dlaibns in interest rates and foreign
exchange rates. We do not enter into derivativestretions for speculative purposes; however, fooaating purposes, certain transactions
not meet the criteria for hedge accounting.

On May 30, 2013, we entered into an interest rapsas a cash flow hedge against future fluctuatini IBOR rates with an effective
date of June 3, 2013. The interest rate swap hati@nal value of $712.5 million , does not amartand matures on December 3, 2017 . On &
quarterly basis, we pay a fixed rate of 1.56% aweive the greater of 1% or three-month LIBOR.

On June 10, 2013, we entered into an interessadp as a cash flow hedge against future fluctostio LIBOR rates with an effective
date of July 1, 2014. The interest rate swap hastianal value of $400.0 million , does not amagtand matures on July 1, 2018 . On a
quarterly basis, we pay a fixed rate of 1.66% auive three-month LIBOR.

On December 17, 2014, we entered into a seriesrefgn currency forward contracts with a bank aash flow hedge against future
exchange rate fluctuations in Euro. We used thedad contracts to hedge Euro payments for foredasdpital expenditures. The forward
contracts have an aggregate notional value of &hlion with settlement dates of December 15, 2QERuary 15, 2016 and December 15,
2016. Upon each settlement, we pay US Dollars aceive Euros at forward rates ranging from $1.251t@7 .
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The following table summarizes the fair values efidhtives that are designated as hedge instruments

December 31,

Derivatives Designated as

Hedging Instruments Balance Sheet Location 2014 2013
(in thousands)
Long-term—Interest rate swaps Other assets $ 5,601 $ 9,72¢
Short-term—Interest rate swaps Derivative liabilities, current (8,38)) (4,989
Short-term—Foreign currency forward contracts Derivative liabilities, current (267) —
Long-term—~Foreign currency forward contracts Other long-term liabilities (296) —
Total $ (3,347 % 4,74

We have elected to not offset the fair value ofwdgives subject to master netting agreementstdpdgrt them gross on our consolidated
balance sheets.

The following table summarizes the cash flow hegagias and losses:

Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income

Gain (Loss) Recognized Loss Reclassified (Ineffective Portion and Amount
in Other Comprehensive Income ("OCI") from Accumulated OCI into Excluded from Effectiveness
for the Years Ended Income for the Years Ended Testing) for the Years ended
— . December 31, December 31, December 31,
Derivatives in Cash Flow
Hedging Relationships 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Interest rate swaps $ (11,087 $ 49.85¢ $ 186¢ $ 7,731 $ 47,72( $ 24,41¢ $ — 3 — % —
Foreign currency forward
contracts $ (563 $ — % — 8 — 8 — % — % — 3 — 3 —

During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 20126h# , we reclassified $7.0 million , $47.1 mitliand $23.9 million to interest
expense and $0.8 million , $0.6 million and $0.8ion to depreciation from accumulated other corhgrresive income, respectively.

As of December 31, 2014 , the estimated amounéblfosses associated with derivative instrumeraswiould be reclassified from
accumulated comprehensive loss to earnings dunmgéxt twelve months was $9.2 million .

Note 10—Fair Value Measurements
We estimated fair value by using appropriate véadmatiethodologies and information available to ntggmaent as of December 2014
and 2013 . Considerable judgment was requiredeldping these estimates, and accordingly, estithedties may differ from actual results.

The estimated fair value of accounts receivableg@aicts payable and accrued expenses approximatigaddnrying value due to their
short-term nature. The estimated fair value of ®BCF debt approximated carrying value becausedatiablerates approximate current mar
rates. The following table presents the carryinge@and estimated fair value of our other long-teleht instruments:

December 31,

2014 2013
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Value Fair Value Value Fair Value
(in thousands)

2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds $ 286500 $ 284,35 $ 300,000 $ 313,50(
2017 Senior Secured Bonds 498,36 447,501 497,89 540,00(
2020 Senior Secured Notes 750,00( 600,00( 750,00( 756,56
2018 Senior Secured Term Loan B 736,20t 614,55: 742,94! 758,91(

We estimate the fair values of our variable-ratg faxed-rate debts using quoted market prices ¢oetktent available and significant
other observable inputs, which represent Levelrd/&ue measurements.
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The following table presents the carrying value astimated fair value of our financial instrumergsognized at fair value on a
recurring basis:

December 31, 2014

Fair Value Measurements Using

Carrying Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in thousands)
Assets:
Interest rate swaps $ 5,601 —  $ 5,601 —
Liabilities:
Interest rate swaps $ (8,38)) —  $ (8,38)) —
Foreign currency forward contracts $ (569) — % (56%) —
December 31, 2013
Fair Value Measurements Using
Carrying Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in thousands)
Assets:
Interest rate swaps $ 9,72¢ — 9,72¢ —
Liabilities:
Interest rate swaps $ (4,989 — (4,989 —

We used an income approach to value assets aiilitibalfor outstanding interest rate swaps aneifgm currency forward contracts.
These contracts are valued using a discountedfloagimodel that calculates the present value afreicash flows under the terms of the
contracts using market information as of the rapgrtlate, such as prevailing interest rates anddmt rates. The determination of the fair
values above incorporated various factors, inclydie impact of the counterparty’s non-performarisie with respect to the Company’s
financial assets and the Company’s non-performaskevith respect to the Company’s financial litigks.

Refer to Note 9 for further discussion of the Comps use of derivative instruments and their failues.

Note 11—Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases—The Company leases office space in countries ichvitioperates. As of December 31, 2014 , the éutainimum
lease payments under the non-cancelable operatisgs with lease terms in excess of one year wal@ss:

(In thousands)
Years Ending December 31,

2015 $ 2,38¢
2016 2,29¢
2017 2,21z
2018 2,127
2019 2,08:
Thereafter 10,22
Total future minimum lease payments $ 21,32¢

During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2012@h@ , rent expense was $4.5 million , $2.0 millamd $1.7 million , respectively.

Commitments —As of December 31, 2014 , and 2013, Pacific Dgllhad no material commitments other than the -sjgdcification
drillship construction purchase commitments disedsas Note 3.
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Our liquidity fluctuates depending on a numberaxtbrs, including, among others, our revenue efficy and the timing of collecting
accounts receivable as well as amounts paid faratipg costs. We believe that our cash on handcast flows generated from operating
activities and existing credit facilities will prae sufficient liquidity over the next twelve mostto fund our working capital needs, scheduled
payments on our long-term debt and capital experett

Letters of Credit —As of December 31, 2014 , we were contingentlpléaunder certain performance, bid and custom banddetters
of credit totaling approximately $258.1 million agtd to letters of credit issued as security imitienal course of our business.

Contingencies—It is to be expected that we and our subsidiariise routinely involved in litigation and dispeg arising in the
ordinary course of our business. On April 16, 20lrdnsocean filed a complaint against us in theaddnStates District Court for the Southern
District of Texas alleging infringement of theiralwactivity patents. Transocean subsequently iled\mended Complaint against us on May
13, 2013. In its Amended Complaint, Transoceansedief in the form of a permanent injunction, gensatory damages, enhanced damage
court costs and fees. On May 31, 2013, we filedAnswer to the Amended Complaint and our Countendaeeking Declaratory Judgments
that we do not infringe the asserted Transoceanpaand that such patents are invalid and unezdbte. On April 15, 2014, the Court held a
claim construction hearing, and the parties ardtawahe Court’s claim construction order. The ening case deadlines are calculated as a
number of weeks after the Court’s issuance of thiencconstruction order. We do not believe thatuhienate liability, if any, resulting from
any such pending litigation will have a materiavase effect on our financial position, result®pérations or cash flows.

We maintain loss of hire insurance that becomesctffe 45 days after an accident or major equiprfaghitre covered by hull and
machinery insurance, resulting in a downtime et extends for 180 days . TRacific Sciroccainderwent repairs and upgrades to ensure
engine reliability, which was a covered event uraarloss of hire policy that resulted in the $2@&iiflion of loss of hire insurance recovery
recognized during the year ended December 31, 2D12ing the years ended December 31, 2014 andrite=e31, 2013 , there was loss o
hire insurance recovery.

Note 12—Concentrations of Credit and Market Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject@@mmpany to credit risk are primarily cash equivideand accounts receivable. At times,
cash equivalents may be in excess of FDIC insurtimits. With regards to accounts receivable, weehan exposure from our concentratio
clients within the oil and natural gas industryisTimdustry concentration has the potential to iotfmaur exposure to credit and market risks as
our clients could be affected by similar changesaanomic, industry or other conditions. Howeveg, lvelieve that the credit risk posed by this
industry concentration is largely offset by thedit@orthiness of our client base. During the yeanded December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012,
the percentage of revenues earned from our cheassas follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Chevron 67.4% 55.6% 45.(%
Total 17.2% 22.% 32.%
Petrobras 15.2% 21.£% 22.1%

Note 13—Segments and Geographic Areas

Pacific Drilling is an international offshore diilh contractor providing drilling services to thié¢and natural gas industry through the
use of high-specification rigs. Our primary busgesto contract our ultra-deepwater rigs, relaedipment and work crews, primarily on a
dayrate basis, to drill wells for our clients.

Our drillships are part of a single, global markagtcontract drilling services and can be redeptbgtbally due to changing demands.
We consider the operations of each of our drillshigpbe an operating segment. We evaluate thedialgmerformance of each of our drillships
and our overall fleet based on several factorduding revenues from clients and operating prdfite consolidation of our operating segments
into one reportable segment is attributable to h@amanage our fleet, including the nature of ouvises provided, type of clients we serve
and the ability of our drillships to operate iniagde, global market. The accounting policies of operating segments are the same as those
described in the summary of significant accounpoticies (Note 2).
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As of December 31, 2014 , tRacific Bora, thePacific Sciroccaand thePacific Khamsinwere located offshore Nigeria, tRacific
Mistral was located offshore Brazil and tRacific Santa Anand thePacific Sharawvere located offshore the United States. As of
December 31, 2014 , tiacific Meltemwas mobilizing and thPacific Zondavas located in South Korea, where it is under cantbn by
SHI.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2012@b# , the percentage of revenues earned by gaugrarea, based on drilling
location, is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Nigeria 60.2% 52.1% 63.6%
Gulf of Mexico 24.5% 26.1% 14.2%
Brazil 15.2% 21.8% 22.1%

Note 14—Variable Interest Entities

The carrying amounts associated with our consa@itiabriable interest entities, after eliminating #ffect of intercompany transactic
were as follows:

December 31,

2014
(in thousands)
Assets $ 18,34¢
Liabilities (10,559
Net carrying amount $ 7,79(

PIDWAL is a joint venture formed to provide ultdeepwater drilling services in Nigeria and to hetpliity investment in PDNL. PDM
is a company owned by us and PIDWAL, formed to hedplity investment in certain of our rigwning entities operating in Nigeria. \
determined that each of these companies met theriariof a variable interest entity for accountimgrposes because its equity at risk
insufficient to permit it to carry on its activievithout additional subordinated financial supdostm us. We also determined that we were
primary beneficiary for accounting purposes sir@ef¢r PIDWAL, we had the power to direct the dayday management and operation
the entity, and for PDNL we had the power to seeure direct all its equity investment, which are #ctivities that most significantly imp.
each entitys economic performance, and (b) we had the obtigat absorb losses or the right to receive a ritgjof the benefits that could
potentially significant to the variable interestiges. As a result, we consolidated PIDWAL and RDN our consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended December 31, 201de provided financial support to PIDWAL to enaliido operate as a going concerr
funding its working capital via intercompany loaarsd payables. We also issued corporate guaramtdlee amount of $157.3 millioim letter:
of credits issued as credit support for temporanydrt bonds issued in favor of PIDWAL as of Decenii, 2014 .

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , we peovithancial support to PDNL to fund its equity @stment in our riggwning
entities operating in Nigeria via intercompany IlpaBoth the equity investment and intercompany doah PDNL are eliminated up
consolidation.

Note 15—Retirement Plans

Pacific Drilling sponsors a defined contributiotimement plan covering substantially all U.S. enygles (the “U.S. Savings Plan”) and
an international savings plan (the “InternationaVigs Plan”). Under the U.S. Savings Plan, the Gamg matches 100% of employee
contributions up to 6% of eligible compensation participant. Under the International Savings Plaa contribute 6% of base compensation
(limited to a contribution of $15,000 per partiaipa During the years ended December 31, 20143 2081 2012 , our total employer
contributions to both plans amounted to $6.9 millji$4.5 million and $3.7 million , respectively.
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Note 16—Supplemental Cash Flow Information

During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 20126h@ , we paid $135.4 million , $87.7 million ad0.9 million of interest, net of
amounts capitalized, respectively. During the yemded December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , weipzndhe taxes of $31.7 million , $22.0
million , and $19.3 million , respectively.

Within our consolidated statements of cash floagital expenditures represent expenditures for wbash payments were made during
the period. These amounts exclude accrued cappeinglitures, which are capital expenditures thatveecrued but unpaid. During the years
ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , changesiued capital expenditures were $(23.9) milji$a7.3 million and $(4.0) million ,
respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2012@h# , non-cash amortization of deferred financogts and accretion of debt
discount totaling $5.1 million , $7.1 million an8.$ million were capitalized to property and equg respectively. Accordingly, these
amounts are excluded from capital expendituresiirconsolidated statements of cash flows for theryended December 31, 2014 , 2013 ant
2012.

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , shangghbdut not yet settled under our share repurcphesgram totaling $1.0 million
was included in the treasury shares. Accordingjlig, amount is excluded from the purchases of trgashares in our consolidated statemen
cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2014 .

Note 17—Subsequent Event

On February 23, 2015, we repaid the remaining antshg aggregate principal in the amount of $286ilBon and accrued interest of
the 2015 Senior Unsecured Bonds as of the statéatitgadate. We funded this transaction by existtagh balances and drawing on $180.0
million of the 2014 Revolving Credit Facility.
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Subsidiaries

Entity

Exhibit 8.1

Jurisdiction of Formation

Pacific Drilling do Brasil Investimentos Ltda.
Pacific Drilling do Brasil Servicos de Perfuracéola.
Pacific Drilling Services Pte. Ltd.

Pacific International Drilling West Africa Limited
Pacific Drilling Netherlands Codperatief U.A.
Pacific Drilling N.V.

Pacific Drilling Administrator Limited

Pacific Deepwater Construction Limited
Pacific Drilling International Ltd

Pacific Drilling Manpower Ltd

Pacific Drilling Operations Limited

Pacific Drilling South America 1 Limited
Pacific Drilling South America 2 Limited
Pacific Drilling V Limited

Pacific Drilling VII Limited

Pacific Drilling VIII Limited

Pacific Drillship Nigeria Limited

Pacific Bora Ltd.

Pacific Mistral Ltd.

Pacific Scirocco Ltd.

Pacific Drilling Limited

Pacific Drilling, Inc.

Pacific Drilling International, LLC

Pacific Drilling Services, Inc.

Brazil

Brazil

Singapore

Nigeria

The Netherlands
Curacao

British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Liberia

Liberia

Liberia

Liberia

USA, Delaware
USA, Delaware

USA, Delaware



Pacific Drilling Manpower, Inc.

Pacific Drilling Operations, Inc.

Pacific Drillship S.a r.l.

Pacific Drilling Manpower S.ar.l.

Pacific Santa Ana S.ar.l.

Pacific Sharav S.ar.l.

Pacific Drilling (Gibraltar) Limited

Pacific Drillship (Gibraltar) Limited
Pacific Drilling Holding (Gibraltar) Limited

Pacific Santa Ana (Gibraltar) Limited

USA, Delaware
USA, Delaware
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Gibraltar
Gibraltar
Gibraltar

Gibraltar



Exhibit 12.1
CERTIFICATION
[, Christian J. Beckett, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 2ff-Pacific Drilling S.A.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the company as of, and for, the gsrigresented in this report;

4. The company other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanid procedures (as definec
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the company and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdorge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the company, including its consolidatetisidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metiin which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financggarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentédsineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the canys internal control over financial reporting tleecurred during the period covered
by the annual report that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, themgpany’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The company’s other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiortexhal control over financial reporting,
to the company’s auditors and the audit commitfee@company’s board of directors (or personsqrering the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céooirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the compamygity to record, process, summarize and repparfcial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a saniifiole in the company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 26, 2015

By: /sl Christian J. Beckett
Name: Christian J. Beckett
Title: Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 12.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Paul T. Reese, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 2ff-Pacific Drilling S.A.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the company as of, and for, the gsrigresented in this report;

4. The company other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanid procedures (as definec
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the company and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdorge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the company, including its consolidatetisidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metiin which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financggarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgading the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentédsineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the canys internal control over financial reporting tleecurred during the period covered
by the annual report that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, themgpany’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The company’s other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiortexhal control over financial reporting,
to the company’s auditors and the audit commitfee@company’s board of directors (or personsqrering the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céooirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the compamygity to record, process, summarize and repparfcial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a saniifiole in the company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 26, 2015

By: /sl Paul T. Reese
Name: Paul T. Reese
Title: Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 13.1
PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION

PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 135@pBdr 63 of Title 18, United States
Code), I, Christian J. Beckett, Chief Executivei@Hf, hereby certify, to my knowledge, that:

1. the Company’s annual report on Form 20-F foryteer ended December 31, 2014 (the “Report”) fadlynplies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financiadition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 26, 2015

By: /sl Christian J. Beckett
Name: Christian J. Beckett
Title: Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 13.2
PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION

PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 135@pBdr 63 of Title 18, United States
Code), I, Paul T. Reese, Chief Financial Officerdiy certify, to my knowledge, that:

1. the Company’s annual report on Form 20-F foryteer ended December 31, 2014 (the “Report”) fadlynplies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof1934; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financiadition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 26, 2015

By: /sl Paul T. Reese
Name: Paul T. Reese
Title: Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 15.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
Pacific Drilling S.A.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference irrdéiggstration statements (No. 333-180485, No. 338380) on Form S-8 of Pacific Drilling
S.A. of our reports dated February 26, 2015, wetipect to the consolidated balance sheets of &xuifling S.A. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related cdasetl statements of income, comprehensive incdmagelsolders’ equity, and cash flows
for each of the years in the three-year period émacember 31, 2014, and the effectiveness ofriat@ontrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, which reports appear in the Mbee 31, 2014 annual report on Form 20-F of Pabifiling S.A.

/sl KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 26, 2015



